The Physiological and Behavioural Response of *Mytilus* Mussels to Salinity in a Changing Ocean

Submitted by Louisa Jasmine Williams to the University of Exeter as a thesis for the degree of Masters by Research in Biological Sciences, September 2023



This thesis is available for Library use on the understanding that it is copyright material and that no quotation from the thesis/dissertation may be published without proper acknowledgement.

I certify that all material in this thesis which is not my own work has been identified and that any material that has previously been submitted and approved for the award of a degree by this or any other University has been acknowledged.

Abstract

Mytilus mussels are a widely distributed group which plays an important role in the structural development and maintenance of ecosystems, and represents an important aquaculture species. They live in both coastal and estuarine environments where they are exposed to wide ranging environmental conditions, particularly salinity fluctuations. They also form hybrid zones in the areas where species overlap, and in the Southwest of the UK there is a hybrid zone between Mytilus edulis and Mytilus galloprovincialis. Following an evaluation of current literature in chapter one, chapter two aimed to examine the physiological response of estuarine and coastal mussels from the Southwest hybrid zone to acute salinity changes, in addition to comparing the genetic differences between sites. Mussels exposed to salinity declines of 27 or 19 ppt had significantly lower metabolic rates than those exposed to 35 ppt, but there was no difference in metabolic rate between mussels collected from adjacent coastal and estuarine sites. Genetic analysis using a novel custom designed 60K mussel SNP array subsequently showed that all three sites had mainly *M. edulis* ancestry, although the upper estuarine site had a *M. galloprovincialis* frequency greater than that of the coastal site, contrary to previous analysis for this area. In chapter 3, valve movements of *M. edulis* were measured in response to different rates of salinity decline, using a custom-built hall sensor-based gape system. Mussels adducted their valves when external salinity reached 21 ppt in all rates of salinity change, but the salinity of retained pallial fluid was greater for faster rates, and was always higher than the salinity at which valves closed. Additionally, heart rate and metabolic rate were lower under declined salinities, with heart rate closely linked to gape, demonstrating periods of significantly reduced heart rate coinciding with periods of valve closure. This study is the first to simultaneously measure physiology and gaping behaviour of mussels in response to salinity changes, thus paving the way for future experiments on this subject. Climate change is predicted to cause an increase in flash flooding and ocean freshening, and therefore these results have significant implications for predicting the future ranges of Mytilus species.

Acknowledgements

I would firstly like to thank Rob Ellis for being an incredibly supportive supervisor throughout my masters, your continual optimism and belief in my abilities has enabled me to produce a piece of work I can be proud of. I would also like to thank Rod Wilson for his support and advice during lab meetings, and Ceri Lewis for her supervisory role. Thanks to all of the ARC staff, for maintaining an incredible research facility and providing the means for all of my experimental work to happen. Thank you to Charlie Ellis, Tom Jenkins and Jenny Nascimento-Schulze for assistance with genetic analysis, and Keith Harrison and Adam Burgess for help with genetics and statistics. Thanks to everyone who has been part of the Wilson-Ellis lab group over the course of my Masters - Alex B, Alex H, Francesca, Issie, Jack, James, Jen, Jenny, Kat, Michael, Mike, Trystan and Will – for covering mussel feeds, providing help and support, and all of the delicious baked goods at our weekly meetings.

Thank you to all of the lunch club gang for being an incredible support network this year, you have been a great relief from the stress of lab work, and I am very grateful to have met so many people who I am sure I will remain friends with for many years to come. Thanks to all my housemates for the meme compilation marathons, the sea monkey antics, and transforming the garden; I never thought a marrow could grow as big as that! I also want to thank my housemates from previous years for their continued friendship, especially Liv for always finding ways to be there for me, despite no longer being able to pop downstairs for a chat over a cup of tea. Thanks to my diving friends from EUSAC for coming with me on many adventures and a giving me a lifelong passion for diving! Finally, thanks to my family who have always supported and believed in me, and additionally have each uniquely assisted with this work; my mum with her proof reading skills, my dad with his knowledge of electronics and soldering, and my brother Alex with his understanding of the physics of magnetic fields.

Table of Contents

Abstract	2
Acknowledgements	
Table of Contents	4
List of Figures and Tables	7
Figures	7
Tables	
Mytilus Mussels in Variable Salinities: Hybrid Distribution, Pl	hysiological
Performance, and Aquaculture in a Changing Climate	11
Hybridisation within the <i>Mytilus</i> species complex	11
The effects of living in intertidal and coastal environments	
Salinity based differences in <i>Mytilus</i> distribution	
The effect of salinity changes on aquaculture	
Climate effects	
Combination effects of salinity, warming and acidification	
The effects of climate change on <i>Mytilus</i> distribution	
Conclusion	
Thesis overview	
The Metabolic Rate and Genetic Composition of Mytilus Me	ussels from
Coastal and Estuarine Sites Within a Hybrid Zone	35
Introduction	
Materials and methods	
Sample collection	
Experimental procedure	
Metabolic rate calculations	
Genetic analysis	
Statistical analysis	
Results	

Metabo	olic rate	
Geneti	c analysis	
Discussio	on	
Metabo	lic rate	
Geneti	c analysis	49
Implica	tions of genetic analysis on physiology	51
Limitati	ons and future research	51
Conclu	sions	
The Behav	ioural Response of Mussels to Declining Salinities	54
Introduct	on	
Materials	and methods	60
Sample	e collection	60
Experir	nental design	60
a)	Mussel gape behaviour	60
b)	Combined gaping, heart rate and oxygen consumption	
Data a	nalysis	64
a)	Mussel gape behaviour	64
b)	Combined gaping, heart rate and oxygen consumption	65
Results		
a)	Mussel gape behaviour	
Genera	al gape behaviour	
Salinity	at valve closure	
Salinity	of retained pallial fluid	
Compa	ring closure salinity and pallial fluid salinity	70
b)	Combined gaping, heart rate and oxygen consumption	72
Gape		73
Discussio	on	75
a)	Mussel gape behaviour	75

b) Combined gaping, heart rate and oxygen consumption	79
Future research	81
Conclusion	81
Overall Discussion	83
Current state of the research field, and aims of this thesis	83
General findings	84
Future research	87
References	91

List of Figures and Tables

Figures

Figure 1: Map showing the allele frequency of *M. edulis* (blue), *M.* galloprovincialis (pink) and M. trossulus (yellow) at various locations (see Table 2) around the European coastline. 16 Figure 2: Factors affecting salinity within estuaries. a) The rule of 12ths describes the change in water volume over a semi-diurnal tidal cycle, with the largest change in volume at the middle of the cycle. b) The cycle between spring tide, when there is the greatest difference in high and low tide height, and neap tide, where there is the smallest difference in tide height, controlled by the position of the moon relative to the sun, and their combined gravitational pull. c) The different types of estuary mixing: Highly stratified, partially mixed, vertically homogenous (shown as a cross-section of the estuary) with longitudinal Figure 3: a) A map of the Southwest UK with the hybrid zone between *M. edulis* and *M. galloprovincialis* (as defined by Hilbish et al. (2002)) highlighted in yellow, and the known *M. edulis* Budleigh site and known *M. galloprovincialis* Camel site marked. b) The sites of experimental mussel collection in Plymouth: Whitsand, an open coastal site; Cremyll, within the lower part of the Tamar Figure 4: a) Experimental tank containing open jars with mussels during the course of the salinity decline. b) Close-up of one jar, showing the air lift pump to circulate water and air. c) Experimental schedule showing how salinity was dropped for each of the three salinity experiments. Salinity drops follow the rule Figure 5: Box plots and density plots showing the metabolic rate of mussels in different salinity regimes ending in salinities: low (19 ppt), medium (27 ppt) and high (34 ppt). Different letters indicate significant differences between the Figure 6: Box plots and density plots showing the metabolic rate of mussels collected at different sites in and around the Tamar estuary: Saltash (high estuary), Cremyll (low estuary) and Whitsand (coastal). Shared letters indicate a

Figure 13: Boxplots and density plots showing the water salinity at the point at which mussels closed and remained below 20% in the different salinity drop regimes. Letters indicate a lack of significant difference between the regimes. 68 Figure 14: Boxplots and density plots showing the water salinity at the point at which mussels closed and remained below 20% in mussels collected from the coastal and estuarine Teignmouth sites, and coastal Exmouth site, when salinity was dropped from 34 ppt to 18 ppt. Different letters indicate a significant difference by pairwise comparison. 69 Figure 15: Boxplots and density plots showing the salinity of the pallial fluid retained by mussels in the different salinity regime time periods of declining sea water from 34 ppt to 18 ppt. Different letters indicate a significant difference by pairwise comparison......70 Figure 16: Boxplots and density plots showing the salinity of the pallial fluid retained by mussels collected from the coastal and estuarine Teignmouth sites when salinity was dropped from 34 ppt to 18 ppt. Different letters indicate a Figure 17: Boxplots and density plots showing the salinity at valve closure below 20% compared to the pallial fluid retained by mussels when salinity was dropped from 34 ppt to 18 ppt. Different letters indicate a significant difference by pairwise comparison......71 Figure 18: Boxplots and density plots showing the difference between the salinity of pallial fluid and the salinity of the external water at valve closure compared between the salinity regime time periods. Different letters indicate a significant difference between groups.72 Figure 19: Boxplots and density plots showing the difference between the salinity of pallial fluid and the salinity of the external water at valve closure compared between the two locations. Different letters indicate a significant difference between groups......72 Figure 20: Boxplots and density plots showing the overall mean gape of mussels exposed to 27 ppt and 35 ppt for 3 hours. Letters represent a lack of significant difference between salinities......73 Figure 21: Boxplots and density plots showing the overall mean heart rate of mussels exposed to 19 ppt, 27 ppt and 35 ppt for 3 hours. Different letters

Tables

 Table 1: A summary of some of the main global hybrid zones between *Mytilus*

 species and their key features. ME = *M. edulis*, MG = *M. galloprovincialis*, MT =

 M. trossulus.

 14

 Table 2: Allele frequency data for European *Mytilus* mussel populations taken

 from various studies. ME = *M. edulis*, MG = *M. galloprovincialis*, MT = *M. trossulus*.

 trossulus.

 ME = *M. edulis*, MG = *M. galloprovincialis*, MT = *M. trossulus*.

 See Figure 1 for map.

 16

 Table 3: The results when admixture was run for each K value 2-5, and the subsequent cross-validation errors. 2 K clusters resulted in the lowest cross-validation error.

Mytilus Mussels in Variable Salinities: Hybrid Distribution, Physiological Performance, and Aquaculture in a Changing Climate

Mussels are an incredibly significant organism, both in terms of their ecological value as well as their importance for food production. They are ecosystem engineers, building beds which have been found to increase species richness (Borthagaray & Carranza, 2007). They have a mean filtration rate of 50 ml of seawater a minute (Beyer et al., 2017) and therefore perform the ecosystem service of removing excess algae from suspension, which can help to prevent eutrophication (Bergström et al., 2015). However, this also means that toxic substances present in the water can bioaccumulate inside the mussel; as a result of this they are frequently used as sentinel species for monitoring water quality (Barile et al., 2016; Guterres et al., 2020). In addition, mussels are an important aquaculture species, with 1.1m tonnes of *Mytilid* mussels produced in 2020, and bivalve aquaculture valued at 4.3 billion US dollars (FAO, 2022).

Despite their importance, there are still several gaps in our knowledge surrounding the fundamental physiology and behaviour of this key species, particularly when it comes to the effects of salinity changes. With organisms increasingly facing the effects of a changing climate, it is more important than ever to have a comprehensive understanding of how various environmental factors affect their physiological performance and behaviour, in order to better predict how this might change in the future. In this review, I will examine the distribution and speciation of *Mytilus* mussels and their hybrids, discuss the effects of living in highly changeable estuarine environments, and assess how a changing climate will impact this species in terms of its physiology, distribution and aquaculture production.

Hybridisation within the *Mytilus* species complex

Hybridisation occurs when viable offspring are produced from two genetically distinct species (Barton & Hewitt, 1985). Commonly observed in plants, animal

hybridisation is also a relatively common occurrence, with one analysis estimating around 10% of animals hybridise (Mallet, 2005). Although the study by Mallet was restricted to terrestrial animals, hybridisation has also been observed in many aquatic species (Hare & Avise, 1996; E. E. Nielsen et al., 2004; Rolán-Alvarez et al., 1997). Moreover, with larvae able to disperse across wide distances within aquatic environments, particularly for species which reproduce via broadcast spawning and have a pelagic larval phase, there is greater potential for larger hybrid zones in aquatic systems than on land.

Hybridisation is frequent between species of the *Mytilus* species complex, commonly known as blue mussels, which is comprised of three species: Mytilus trossulus, Mytilus edulis, and Mytilus galloprovincialis. M. trossulus is the ancestral species to the complex, appearing approximately 3.5 million years ago (Lockwood & Somero, 2011). Following the isolation of two separate populations, this then led to the emergence of *M. edulis* in the North Atlantic, which subsequently diverged into *M. galloprovincialis* in the Mediterranean around 2 million years ago (Lockwood & Somero, 2011). Several other related Mytilus species have also been defined within the genus, although debate remains as to whether these are all distinct species and which is the ancestral form. М. chilensis is thought to be the species found on the Pacific coast of South America, with *M. platensis* found on the Atlantic Coast (Zbawicka et al., 2018). However, it has been argued that these may be the same species (Gaitán-Espitia et al., 2016), or that both may be subspecies of *M. edulis* (Borsa et al., 2012; J. E. Toro, 1998). On the west coast of North America, the species *M. californianus* is widely accepted to be a separate species to others in the genus (Addison et al., 2008), and is even suggested to have had the earliest divergence from the other Mytilus mussels (Kenchington et al., 1995). The Kerguelen islands, a highly isolated archipelago in the Southern Indian Ocean, have Mytilus mussels which have previously been described as the endemic species *M. desolationis*, however it has later been defined as a sub-population of *M. edulis* (Blot et al., 1988; Koehn, 1991). Mytilus mussels in Australia and New Zealand were once considered to be introduced *M. galloprovincialis*, based on their allelic similarity (McDonald et al., 1991). However, fossil records indicate evidence of *Mytilus* mussels during the Pleistocene in Australia and New Zealand (Fleming & Suggate, 1964; Hope et al., 1977), and so mussels in this area are generally considered to be an

endemic species known as *Mytilus planulatus* (Popovic et al., 2019). *Mytilus coruscus* is a species found in China, Japan and Korea (Ye et al., 2012).

Although the species within the *Mytilus* complex are morphologically similar, they possess some key physiological differences. Of the three species, *M. trossulus* is typically found in the coldest waters, with distributions mainly in the Northern Pacific and Baltic Sea (Sarver & Foltz, 1993). As a result, this species is unable to withstand higher temperatures, with a LC₅₀ (the temperature which results in 50% mortality) of 23.7 °C (Fly & Hilbish, 2013). In addition when scope for growth (SFG), a measure of physiological stress, was calculated, *M. trossulus* only had a positive SFG at temperatures lower than 17 °C (Fly & Hilbish, 2013). *M. edulis* is found at intermediate temperatures to *M. trossulus* and *M. galloprovincialis*, with a range which includes Eastern USA and Northern Europe (Sarver & Foltz, 1993). This species has a LC₅₀ of 25.1 °C, and a positive SFG up to 23 °C (Fly & Hilbish, 2013).

Conversely, *M. galloprovincialis* is better adapted for warmer waters and has been shown to perform better than *M. edulis* at higher water temperatures (Hilbish et al., 1994). Temperature driven mortality of *M. galloprovincialis* only occurs at greatly elevated temperatures, with a LC₅₀ of 28.7 °C, and a positive SFG at temperatures up to 30 °C (Fly & Hilbish, 2013). The distribution of M. galloprovincialis reflects this, with this species originating from the Mediterranean (Riginos & Cunningham, 2005). However, M. galloprovincialis has been classified as one of the world's 100 most invasive species (Lowe et al., 2000), and has since invaded North America, South Africa and East Asia via transport of larvae in ship ballast water (Han & Dong, 2020). This has had a particularly dramatic effect on the Californian coast, where it has largely replaced the native M. trossulus, which were found to be absent in size classes above 60 mm (Braby & Somero, 2006a). The higher thermal tolerance of *M. galloprovincialis* likely helps to explain its invasive ability (Schneider & Helmuth, 2007). The differences in physiological niche between these species are thus important to consider when understanding their distribution, and subsequently for predicting their response to climate change.

Table 1: A summary of some of the main global hybrid zones between *Mytilus* species and their key features. ME = M. *edulis*, MG = M. *galloprovincialis*, MT = M. *trossulus*.

Area	Species	Key features	References
Southwest	ME and MG	Cline from MF at Start Point	(Hilbish et al
UK		South Devon to MG in St Ives	2002)
ÖN		North Cornwall	2002)
		Higher proportion of ME alleles	(Gila & Hilbish
		in spat and small mussels	(Olig & Filibioli, 2003a)
		greater proportion of MG alleles	20000)
		in larger adults	
Ireland	ME and MG	Irish sea samples mostly ME	(Gosling et al
		Atlantic coast mostly MG or MG-	2008)
		ME hybrids	,
France	ME and MG	Mosaic structure likely caused by	(Bierne et al.,
		barriers to gene flow	2003)
California	MG and MT,	From mostly MG in the southern	(Dutton &
	also native	West Coast, to mostly MT north	Hofmann,
	Mytilus	of central California	2008)
	californianus	MG more frequently found in	(Wonham,
		larger size classes	2004)
		Mostly pure species or F1	(Saarman &
		hybrids with limited introgression	Pogson, 2015)
Canada	MT and ME	Hudson Bay in Canada to Maine	(Koehn et al.,
		USA	1984)
		Larger size classes	(Hayhurst &
		predominantly ME, smaller sizes	Rawson, 2009)
		predominantly MT	(Comesaña et
		Few F1 hybrids, but many pure	al., 1999)
		species and backcrosses	(J. Toro et al.,
			2004)
			(Comesana et
			al., 1999)
Hokkaido	MI and MG	South coast has cline from MG in	(Brannock et
Japan		the West to MT in the East,	al., 2009)
		many F1 mussels	
		North coast has mosaic pattern	
		of hybrids, few F1 mussels	
		Mainly MG on West coast	
Roltic Sec		Walling WIT OIT East Coast	(Stuckas at al
Dallic Sea		nybrid Swarm with rew pure	(Siuckas et al., 2017)
		Cline from ME in the West to MT	(T Kijowski ot
		in the Fast	1. NJEWSKI EL al 2010)
		l arge amounts of introgression	(T K Kiioweki
			et al 2006
			Stuckas et al
			2009)

Since their original divergence, the ranges of many of these species have expanded to overlap (Riginos & Cunningham, 2005), and where this has occurred

these organisms have the ability to form hybrids (Sarver & Foltz, 1993). This can result in introgression – the assimilation of alleles from one gene pool into that of another species (Harrison & Larson, 2014), a process which is being increasingly discovered in many species as genetic techniques become more sophisticated (Aguillon et al., 2022). In some areas, hybridisation of *Mytilus* species mainly occurs when two 'pure' species reproduce, creating a first-generation hybrid (known as an F₁ hybrid), but hybridisation over further generations is rare (Riginos & Cunningham, 2005). However, other areas have significant levels of hybridisation over multiple generations, resulting in a hybrid swarm in which the populations of mussels have high levels of introgression and backcrossing (Stuckas et al., 2017). Furthermore, hybrid zones may often involve a cline, defined as "a gradient or set of gradients in morphology or gene frequency, at one or more loci" (Barton & Hewitt, 1985), which may be as a result of environmental differences. These clines may also create a tension zone, where selection against hybrids and random dispersal result in the preservation of clines (Barton and Hewitt, 1989). Table 1 gives a summary of many of the Mytilus hybrid zones globally, and their key distinguishing features.

In the Southwest of England, *M. edulis* and *M. galloprovincialis* form a hybrid complex in which there are areas of hybrids, as well as areas which contain only one pure species (Skibinski et al., 1983; Gardner et al., 1993; Hilbish et al., 2002; Gilg and Hilbish, 2003). These areas frequently display a 'mosaic' structure, in which an area that contains only pure mussels of one species may be neighbouring another area which contains hybrid individuals (Bierne et al., 2002). In a study by Hilbish and colleagues (2002), mussels were collected from 33 sites around the coast of the Southwest, and genetically analysed using the Glu-5' genetic marker. They found that areas in South Devon tended to have mostly *M. edulis* alleles, whereas mussels in North Cornwall had mostly *M. galloprovincialis* alleles. Between these areas, there is a cline of hybrids along a stretch of around 180km, from more *edulis* like individuals from Start Point in Devon, to more *galloprovincialis* like individuals in St Ives, Cornwall (Hilbish et al., 2002). Figure 1 and Table 2 show the distribution of species around the Southwest, as well as some of the other areas in Europe.



Figure 1: Map showing the allele frequency of *M. edulis* (blue), *M. galloprovincialis* (pink) and *M. trossulus* (yellow) at various locations (see Table 2) around the European coastline.

In addition to the genetic cline around the coast, Hilbish *et al* also observed a distinct variation in genetic composition between size classes and ages. Smaller size classes had a greater proportion of *M. edulis* alleles, whereas larger size class had a far greater proportion of *M. galloprovincialis* alleles. For example, at Whitsand Bay within the hybrid zone, the 10-15 mm size class had 85% *M. edulis* alleles, which gradually decreased as size class increased, with the 40-45 mm size class having only 25% *M. edulis* alleles (Hilbish et al., 2002). In a further study by Gilg and Hilbish (2003), similar results were found when the genetic composition of spat from around the Southwest of England was analysed. A far higher frequency of *M. edulis* alleles were found in mussel spat than in adults, suggesting that there is a selective pressure which affects later life stages of mussels rather than larvae (Gilg & Hilbish, 2003a).

This study also used a dispersal model to predict the movement of larvae and assess any possible dispersal barriers. They predicted that there is a barrier to dispersal at Start Point, where the hybrid zone begins, as East of this area larvae is comprised of more than 99% *M. edulis* alleles. In addition, they found that whilst there is some dispersal of larvae into the *M. galloprovincialis* zone in North Cornwall, there is very little dispersal from this area into the hybrid zone (Gilg &

Table 2: Allele frequency data for European *Mytilus* mussel populations taken from various studies. ME = *M. edulis*, MG = *M. galloprovincialis*, MT = *M. trossulus*. See Figure 1 for map.

Name	Location	ME	MG	МТ	Reference
EXM	Exmouth	1	0	-	(Hilbish et al., 2002)
THU	Thurleston	0.82	0.18	-	(Hilbish et al., 2002)
WHI	Whitsand	0.54	0.46	-	(Hilbish et al., 2002)
GRI	Gribbin Head	0.82	0.18	-	(Hilbish et al., 2002)
PEN	Pendower Beach	0.53	0.47	-	(Hilbish et al., 2002)
SMM	St Michael's	0.82	0.18	-	(Hilbish <i>et al.</i> , 2002)
	Mount				
SIV	St Ives	0.18	0.82	-	(Hilbish et al., 2002)
POR	Portreath	0.01	0.99	-	(Hilbish et al., 2002)
LLV	Loch Leven	0.9	0.08	0.02	(Michalek et al., 2021)
CAR	Carlingford	1	0	-	(Gosling et al., 2008)
GAR	Garrettstown	0.22	0.78	-	(Gosling et al., 2008)
BLH	Blackhead	0.42	0.58	-	(Gosling et al., 2008)
SAU	Saula	0.64	0.36	-	(Gosling et al., 2008)
CRS	Creeslough	0.53	0.47	-	(Gosling et al., 2008)
PEB	Port-en-Bessin	1	0	-	(Bierne et al., 2003)
BRE	Brest	0.21	0.79	-	(Bierne et al., 2003)
BRO	Brouage	0.97	0.03	-	(Bierne et al., 2003)
BIA	Biarritz	0	1	-	(Bierne et al., 2003)
SET	Setubal	0	1	-	(Bierne et al., 2003)
UME	Umeå	0.45	-	0.55	(Kijewski et al., 2019)
KOP	Kopli Bay	0.54	0.02	0.44	(Kijewski et al., 2019)
MDZ	Międzyzdroje	0.44	-	0.56	(Kijewski et al., 2019)
MEB	Mecklenburg	0.6	-	0.4	(Kijewski et al., 2019)
EGH	Egholm	0.71	0.04	0.25	(Kijewski et al., 2019)
VEN	Venø Bight	0.94	0.05	0.01	(Kijewski et al., 2019)
LYN	Lynetten	0.77	-	0.23	(Kijewski et al., 2019)

Hilbish, 2003a). Although we have a good understanding of the distribution within this zone, we still lack understanding of the physiological drivers of this mosaic distribution. Further research, combining genetic analysis with measurements of physiological performance, is key in order to identify their potential interactions, and predict future distribution changes.

The effects of living in intertidal and coastal environments

Living in temperate habitats, stretching from estuarine to fully marine conditions and spanning from the high intertidal to sublittoral, *Mytilus* mussels are frequently found in highly changeable habitats and are therefore exposed to a wide variation of conditions (Gosling, 2015). The intertidal zone exposes organisms to immersion and emersion cycles and mussels react to emersion by adducting their shell valves to protect from desiccation and predation (Widdows & Shick, 1985). During these periods, mussels are adapted to switch to anaerobic respiration by using a metabolic pathway which uses alternate electron acceptors instead of oxygen, allowing for anaerobic respiration which is much more efficient than that observed in many other animals (de Zwaan & Wijsman, 1976). This does, however, come at the cost of acidosis from a buildup of acidic waste products of respiration. Air exposure also means mussels experience far higher temperatures than when submerged. This can vary by 5-10 °C across acute spatial and temporal scales, depending on exposure to sun/shade (Schneider & Helmuth, 2007) and angle of exposure, which has been shown to be linked to mass mortality in California (Harley, 2008). This highly variable environment means that mussels are adapted to live in a wide range of conditions, and these interacting influences must be considered when attempting to predict the response to future environmental change.

Mytilus mussels are also commonly found within estuaries, where salinity fluctuation is impacted by a wide range of factors (see Figure 2) such as daily cycling between high and low tide, seasonal cycles of spring and neap tide (Robinson et al., 2007), and freshwater input from riverine discharges (see Figure 2b). In estuaries with a semi-diurnal tide, tidal volume changes by the rule of twelfths, where the change in volume follows a sine curve over the 6 hours of transition between high and low tide, or vice versa (Figure 2a) (Pearson, 2007). Estuarine salinity gradients are thus frequently complex, and greatly influenced by the fluid dynamics of water mixing. The varying conditions create a range of

estuary types (See Figure 2c) from highly stratified, where a halocline forms with the more dense salt water near the estuary bed and the less dense fresh water at the surface, to homogenous estuaries where the tidal force is sufficient to create consistent mixing throughout the estuary (Schubel & Pritchard, 1972). Stratification is often greater at neap tide, when tidal forcing is weaker and therefore less mixing occurs (Uncles & Stephens, 2011). Wind also has a significant effect on estuarine mixing, with speeds of only 5-7 m s⁻¹ impacting the currents within the Tavy sub-estuary of the Tamar estuary in Plymouth, UK (Uncles & Stephens, 2011). Additionally, precipitation can cause varying degrees of change in estuarine salinity, with one study of an estuary in Florida finding that this varied greatly between areas, with precipitation only causing 4% of salinity change in high flow areas, but up to 61% of salinity change in restricted flow areas (Sumner & Belaineh, 2005). These factors all combine to mean that salinity can vary significantly across both acute and long-term time scales, as well as between different areas of the estuary. As a result, estuarine mussels are exposed to wide ranging and highly variable salinities, and this has implications for their distribution, physiological performance, and ability to tolerate other stressors. Given that the study of estuarine fluid dynamics and the physiology of their inhabitants tend to fall under two different research disciplines, there are few studies which thoroughly examine the ways in which these processes are interlinked; greater interdisciplinary collaborations are essential for better understanding these interactions.

Although mussels are osmoconformers, their ability to close their shell valves during air exposure is a mechanism often applied to cope with suboptimal salinities, with adduction allowing them to maintain a hyperosmotic internal environment with respect to the external aquatic environment. *M. edulis* retained a haemolymph osmolarity slightly above that of its surroundings when exposed to a six hour decline in salinity from 30 ppt to 15 ppt (Livingstone et al., 1979), with a similar response in noted in the Asian green mussel, *Perna viridis* (McFarland et al., 2013). Moreover, this protection mechanism may be species specific to mussels, having not been measured in *Crassostrea virginica* oysters (McFarland et al., 2013). When the valve gaping response of *M. galloprovincialis* was tested under an acute salinity decline, mussels exposed to a salinity of 20 ppt remained shut for a day, but then re-opened (Addis et al., 2021). However, under salinities of 5 ppt and 10 ppt mussels remained shut over the full 5-day

exposure, with mortalities noted in the 5 ppt treatment, indicating the extreme nature of this stressor. Despite this, surviving mussels were able to re-open when returned to 35 ppt (Addis *et al.*, 2021). This illustrates the longevity of this closure response, which allows mussels to survive periods of low salinity that they likely would not if they remained open. However, the mortalities show that this response still causes extensive physiological stress, especially over long periods of time.



Figure 2: Factors affecting salinity within estuaries. a) The rule of 12ths describes the change in water volume over a semi-diurnal tidal cycle, with the largest change in volume at the middle of the cycle. b) The cycle between spring tide, when there is the greatest difference in high and low tide height, and neap tide, where there is the smallest difference in tide height, controlled by the position of the moon relative to the sun, and their combined gravitational pull. c) The different types of estuary mixing: Highly stratified, partially mixed, vertically homogenous (shown as a cross-section of the estuary) with longitudinal stratification, and homogenous.

This closure response was compared to rate of salinity change when Davenport (1979) exposed *M. edulis* mussels from the Menai Strait to varying salinity regimes, in which salinity was decreased to 0 ppt over periods ranging from 3.75 minutes to 4 days. He found that when salinity change was more rapid, the salinity of the fluid retained in the mantle was higher, however the external salinity at the point of valve closure was lower in longer salinity regimes. He observed that the retained mantle fluid corresponded to the external salinity at the point the exhalant siphon was observed to close, which was usually before the valve closure (Davenport, 1979). This suggests that the ability of mussels to remain temporarily hyperosmotic to their surroundings may be due to exhalant siphon closure more so than valve closure. In a similar study which exposed mussels to

declining salinity over a greater period of time, it was found that oxygen consumption was higher in mussels which had been acclimated to lower salinities (28 ppt and 18.5 ppt) than those at a normal seawater salinity of 37 ppt (Hamer et al., 2008). Despite these studies making it clear that the closure response has fundamental impacts on mussels' ability to cope with hypoosmotic stress, this is still a severely underutilised measurement in studies which examine the effects of salinity change.

Although the closure response can protect mussels from acute salinity changes, for the most part they are euryhaline osmoconformers, meaning that their internal salinity remains the same as the external environment, so long as the shell remains open (Shumway, 1977). When open, cell swelling caused by exposure to reduced salinity, and thus reduced internal osmolarity, is avoided in mussels via the use of free amino acids which break down osmolytes which usually adjust internal osmolality (Podbielski et al., 2022). These free amino acids are produced by an enzyme created by the *lap* gene, with the *lap*⁹⁴ allele being the most efficient (Koehn et al., 1980). The *lap*⁹⁴ allele has been found to decrease in areas of low salinity on the East Coast of the USA (Koehn et al., 1976), and also to decrease in frequency with *M. edulis* age (Koehn et al., 1980), suggesting that there is selection against the *lap*⁹⁴ allele at low salinities where it is unnecessarily efficient and wastes energy (Riginos & Cunningham, 2005).

Despite their adaptations to cope with salinity change, reduced salinities can still have negative impacts on mussel health, physiology, and behaviour. One study examining four bivalve species exposed to a salinity ramp demonstrated that burrowing activity and scope for growth were reduced at lower salinities (Domínguez et al., 2020). Reduced salinity has also been shown to affect their immune system, which show reduced haemocyte concentrations, phagocytic activity and percentage of eosinophils after two days at 16 ppt (Bussell et al., 2008). Additionally, clearance rate, respiration rate and absorption efficiency were all lower with each subsequent salinity of 30, 25, 20 and 15 ppt when measured weekly over a period of four weeks, meaning that mussels at all salinities below 30 ppt had a negative scope for growth (Wang et al., 2011). However, negative scope for growth was only reached at salinities of 15 ppt when *Choromytilus chorus* mussels were exposed to a similar range of salinities for 15 days (Navarro, 1988). The differences in the results between these two studies may be explained

by the fact that the second study used mussels from an estuarine site with highly variable salinity, so they may have already acclimated to perform better under these conditions.

Similarly, several other studies suggest that mussels are able to acclimate to reduced salinities to some extent. An acute salinity drop was found to cause an initial decrease in the heart rate of *M. edulis*, but after 5 days this was recovered to normal, suggesting potential for acclimation to the decreased salinity (Bakhmet et al., 2005). Additionally, *C. virginica* oyster larvae originating from an area of low salinity were found to have a better survival when reared in low salinities in the laboratory than when reared in higher salinities, suggesting that the larvae acclimated to a narrower performance window (Eierman & Hare, 2013). Understanding the plasticity of mussel performance is key for predicting their ability to cope with a changing climate and how their distributions may change, and doing so across their entire life cycle is clearly vital to determine windows of sensitivity which may govern distribution and their ability to survive in any given habitat.

Salinity based differences in *Mytilus* distribution

Given that salinity has a significant effect on many physiological processes in *Mytilus* mussels, which vary amongst the different species, environmental salinity could be a key driver of the differing distributions of this group. For example, studies have shown that *M. edulis* is more likely to be found in sheltered areas, but is able to withstand salinity fluctuations, whilst *M. galloprovincialis* is frequently found in more exposed areas, but is less able to cope with a changing salinity (Gardner, 1996). In one study, sites of mussel collection along the European Atlantic shore were given an ecological score in which 0 represented sheltered areas of low salinity, whereas a score of 2 was given to exposed habitats with a high salinity, and 1 was given to those which were intermediate (either sheltered high salinity or exposed low salinity) (Bierne et al., 2002). A significant positive correlation was found between *M. galloprovincialis* allele frequency and ecological score, supporting the hypothesis that this species is more frequently found in exposed high salinity habitats, whilst the opposite was true for *M. edulis* (Bierne et al., 2002). These factors may have an influence on local distributions, and cause the 'mosaic' pattern of species distribution demonstrated in some locations. Similar findings of salinity-based habitat preferences have been found between *M. galloprovincialis* and *M. trossulus* within the Californian hybrid zone. When mussels were sampled from 28 locations along the North American Pacific coast, it was found that *M. galloprovincialis* was more frequently found in warmer areas with a stable salinity, whereas *M. trossulus* was found in cooler waters with a more variable salinity (Sarver & Foltz, 1993).

In a study conducted by Gardner and Thompson (2001), subtidal mussels were collected from an estuarine area within the Canadian hybrid zone, in which temperature and salinity were shown to be highly variable, in addition to collection from a coastal area which was shown to have more stable environmental conditions. Mussels from both habitats were then exposed to environmental conditions from the alternate collection site within the laboratory for a period of four months, with several factors including mortality, growth rate, clearance rate and absorption efficiency being measured. Whilst mortality was shown to be fairly low in coastal conditions, when mussels which originated from the coastal area were exposed to estuarine conditions, there was a significantly higher mortality of *M. trossulus* than *M. edulis* individuals. This difference was not observed for mussels exposed to estuarine conditions which originated from estuarine conditions (Gardner & Thompson, 2001). This was a surprising result, as M. trossulus are generally considered to be more tolerant to fluctuating salinity than *M. edulis* within this region, but the fact that mortality of *M. trossulus* was higher under simulated estuarine conditions suggests the opposite was true. This difference between species was not observed in mussels originating from the estuarine location, suggesting that these mussels were adapted or acclimated to these conditions. However, this study used morphological differences supported by allozyme analysis to distinguish between species. For accurate determination of the species, particularly for accurate determination of the allele composition of hybrids, modern genetic techniques are critical to determine the role of the environment on species, and hybrid, distribution.

The impact of reduced salinity on mussels has been studied extensively in the Baltic Sea, where hybrid *M. edulis-M. trossulus* mussels are found in brackish water which has a consistently low salinity, which has been found to account for 50% of genetic variability in this area (Kijewski et al., 2019). Mussels originating from areas of differing salinity in the Baltic were found to demonstrate local

adaptation, with more trossulus-like mussels showing improved growth and settlement success at salinities of 7 psu, whilst more edulis-like mussels performed better at 16 psu (Knöbel et al., 2021). These mussels are often dwarfed, and this has been hypothesised to be caused by low salinities which may create a greater cost of calcification (Sanders et al., 2018). It was also found that when the oxygen consumption of mussels living in areas across a salinity gradient were compared, there was no significant difference, suggesting these mussels were locally adapted to their respective environmental salinities (Landes et al., 2015). Filtration rate of mussels originating in the Great Belt near Denmark, where salinity is around 16.6 ppt, was only found to be lessened by exposure to a salinity of 5 ppt, with similar rates observed for salinities ranging from 10 to 30 ppt (Riisgård et al., 2013). However, mussels originating from the Central Baltic Sea, where salinity is typically 6-7 ppt, were able to recover their filtration rate after several days of exposure (Riisgård et al., 2013). These studies all suggest that the stable salinity gradient across the Baltic Sea may explain their unique hybrid swarm structure. However, whilst examining the effects of salinity on Baltic mussels is key for understanding their distribution, this is a system uniquely defined by a stable salinity cline across a large area, and therefore it is difficult to extrapolate these effects to mussels which live in highly dynamic estuarine systems. Despite this, studies into the effects of salinity are still largely dominated by those examining the Baltic system, meaning that we have many gaps when it comes to our understanding of estuarine mussels.

The effect of salinity changes on aquaculture

Mussel aquaculture is a globally expanding market, and farming of species lower on the food chain like bivalves presents an opportunity for a more sustainable food source than many other farmed animals (FAO, 2022). However, salinity changes can have a substantial impact on aquaculture. For example, Sardinian mussel farms experienced mass mortalities in both 2013 and 2018 as a result of flash flooding caused by cyclone conditions and excessive rain (Addis et al., 2021). Furthermore, the 2014 mass mortalities experienced in farmed *M. edulis* populations in the Breton Sound, France, have subsequently been linked to salinity as a potential stressor, which may have increased the sensitivity of mussels to the pathogen *Vibrio splendidus* (Polsenaere et al., 2017).

Even when the salinity changes are not severe enough to result in mortality, they are still often detrimental to aquaculture production. Several impacts of exposure to lower salinity, such as reduced growth rate (Domínguez et al., 2020; Landes et al., 2015), are undesirable for aquaculture productivity, making profitable aquaculture in low salinity zones like the Baltic Sea difficult (Buer et al., 2020). In Loch Etive in Scotland, the upper depths are brackish due to freshwater input and slow mixing, resulting in a halocline (Beaumont et al., 2008). Rope grown mussels in this area are found to have a more *trossulus*-like genotype closer to the surface, and more *edulis*-like as depth increases (Beaumont et al., 2008), which corresponds to the assumption that *M. trossulus* is more resistant to reduced salinities than the other *Mytilus* species. Interestingly, a phenotypic difference is also observed in this area, with the more *trossulus*-like genotypes having more fragile shells, a suboptimal trait for aquaculture processing and harvest (Beaumont et al., 2008). Around 37% of mussels in Loch Etive were found to be *M. trossulus*, with a further 23% being an *edulis-trossulus* hybrid, with a recent increase in *M. trossulus* abundance (Dias et al., 2009). A similar study conducted in Loch Leven found that although there was a much smaller proportion of M. trossulus (0.46%) and edulis-trossulus hybrids (3.42%), there was still a significant effect of reduced shell strength at lower depths (Michalek et al., 2021). Such was the severity of this impact that it resulted in significant losses to the industry, making production in the respective Lochs commercially non-viable (Gubbins et al., 2012).

M. trossulus is now stated to be a commercially damaging species by the Scottish Government (Scottish Government, 2014), and is sometimes referred to as the foolish mussel (Regan et al., 2021). Climate change is likely to increase water stratification, which will be less favourable for mussel aquaculture (Des et al., 2020), and may exacerbate the impact of invading *M. trossulus* on Scottish aquaculture. Aquaculture may also alter the genetic composition of mussel species, as the import of spat between aquaculture sites and subsequent spawning events can lead to increased gene flow and the emergence of hybrids (Michalek et al., 2016). However, a more recent evaluation which compared SNP analysis to the shell strength of *M. edulis* and *M. trossulus* from a mussel farm in Loch Fyne found that there was no significant difference in the shell strength of the species, suggesting hybridisation with *M. trossulus* may not be the sole cause of the observed mussel shell weakness (Carboni et al., 2021).

Although salinity changes pose a threat to aquaculture, as our understanding of the specific responses of different hybrid genotypes to a variety of stressors expands, there is potential for the selective breeding of specific genotypes which are best suited to survive environmental change. Hybrids of abalone have been found to be more resistant to thermal and immune stressors than the parental species, and hybrids are already used within abalone aquaculture for this reason (Lafarga de la Cruz & Gallardo-Escárate, 2011; Liang et al., 2014). Hybridisation has also been used in the aquaculture of several species of finfish to improve traits such as growth rate, disease tolerance and marketable appearance (Bartley et al., 2000). Whilst hatchery breeding of spat is used in some locations, UK mussel aquaculture currently relies mostly on wild spat collection, however future limits to wild spat supply may cause a shift to hatchery-based breeding techniques (Regan et al., 2021). There is potential for these techniques to be extended to improve their marketability and production rate, although the extent of the impact on wild mussel populations would need to be investigated. Given that we know that mussel adaptation to reduced salinities is possible (Eierman & Hare, 2013), advances in genetic techniques pose the option of breeding spat which have a better tolerance to salinity change. However, in order to achieve this we need to ensure we have a comprehensive understanding of the physiological effects of salinity.

Climate effects

In a changing ocean, mussels are likely to face increasing climate stressors on top of osmotic stress. According to the IPCC, anthropogenic CO₂ emissions have caused the warming of the oceans (IPCC et al., 2021). This has been shown to have widespread effects on the range, physiology, growth, reproduction, behaviour, phenology and immune response of many marine species (Gissi et al., 2021; Mackenzie et al., 2014; Pinsky et al., 2020). Many organisms are undergoing range shifts in an attempt to remain within a favourable environmental envelope despite warming, frequently leading to poleward shifts, which can have drastic effects on food webs (Edwards & Richardson, 2004; McQueen & Marshall, 2017; Perry et al., 2005; Pinsky et al., 2020; Sorte et al., 2010). Where organisms are unable to evade warming through redistribution, exposure to increasing temperature can have a profound effect on physiology, with many organisms experiencing altered metabolic rates under elevated temperatures (Deutsch et

al., 2015; Harianto et al., 2018; Marshall & McQuaid, 2011), in part due to the increase in enzymatic activity at elevated temperatures (Marañón et al., 2018). Increased ocean temperatures may also decrease growth (Pörtner et al., 2008) and abundance of marine species (Edwards et al., 2021).

In addition to ocean warming, oceans are acidifying as a result of increased levels of dissolved CO₂, which reacts with water to form carbonic acid. This in turn dissociates to form bicarbonate and then carbonate ions, releasing H⁺ ions, making the water more acidic (Doney et al., 2009). As a result of future carbon emissions, the IPCC has projected a decrease in ocean seawater pH of 0.065-0.31 by 2100 (IPCC et al., 2021), with this decline having been predicted to have effects on many aspects of marine life (Doney et al., 2009). Calcifying organisms are thought to be particularly threatened by ocean acidification, given that it decreases the concentration of carbonate structures (Doney et al., 2009). This has been extensively studied in corals, with skeletal density decreasing under acidified conditions (Guo et al., 2020; Mollica et al., 2018; Williams et al., 2021). Acidification also causes dissolution of other carbonate structures, with vermetid shells and *Hydroides elegans* tubes showing dissolution at pH levels predicted for the end of the century (Chan et al., 2012; Milazzo et al., 2014).

Ocean acidification has also been found to impact metabolic rate of organisms. For example, embryos of the crab *Petrolisthes cinctipes* were found to have a metabolic rate which was reduced by 11% after 7-10 days exposure to a low pH of 7.58, when compared to those in an ambient control of 7.93, although this effect was not seen in larvae or juveniles (Carter et al., 2013). The effects of reduced pH on metabolic rate are wide-ranging, with a meta-analysis finding that whilst some studies showed that prolonged elevated CO₂ levels caused in increase in metabolic rate for various invertebrate and fish species, many other studies did not find a significant effect (Lefevre, 2016).

The above studies show that the effects of warming and acidification are diverse, and species, life stage and treatment specific. They also impact different biological processes via different mechanisms and thus elicit a range of contrasting impacts. As a result, this highlights the importance of measuring different endpoints, as assessing the impact of a stressor based on one effect is likely to create an incomplete representation of the holistic outcome of climate change on animal performance, behaviour and survival. In addition to this, in dynamic systems like coastal and estuarine environments, pH can already fluctuate by large amounts (Hinga, 2002), and estuaries have been found to be warming and acidifying at a faster rate than other areas of the ocean (Scanes et al., 2020). This suggests that it may be difficult to extrapolate the general effects of climate change to organisms living in these systems, and therefore studying animals from these habitats is of utmost importance to predict their future performance.

Mussels from the *Mytilus* genus are a good model organism for understanding climate change impacts in coastal and estuarine environments, as they have a wide distribution and are common in many areas around the world, enabling a global comparison of effects (Beyer et al., 2017). The carbonate shell of bivalves is often negatively impacted by ocean acidification, with many studies showing that shell strength, calcification, organisation of crystal structure and growth all decline with increasing pCO_2 levels (Berge et al., 2006; Fitzer et al., 2014, 2015; Gazeau et al., 2007), which has found to be exacerbated by reduced food concentrations (Melzner et al., 2011). Similarly, acidification also impacts the calcification of larvae, with shells of *M. californianus* becoming 20% weaker and 15% thinner at increased CO₂ levels (Gaylord et al., 2011).

Acidification is also shown to cause a decrease in settlement and negatively impact metamorphosis in many marine invertebrate larvae, a phenomenon again predominantly studied in coral (Albright et al., 2010; Doropoulos & Diaz-Pulido, 2013; Yuan et al., 2018), but which has also been observed in molluscs (X. Guo et al., 2015; Jansson et al., 2016). In *M. edulis* for example, the proportion of deformed larvae has been shown to increase as seawater pH decreases (Kong, Jiang, et al., 2019). However, when the parents of larvae had also been exposed to acidification, larvae from acclimated parents demonstrated an adaptation to these conditions, with reductions in seawater pH shown to have less of a negative impact in comparison to acutely exposed conspecifics (Kong, Jiang, et al., 2019). These transgenerational effects were also found in *Saccostrea glomerata* larvae exposed to elevated pCO_2 , where an improved rate of growth and development was measured in larvae spawned from adults conditioned to high pCO_2 compared to those from adults exposed to ambient pCO_2 (Parker et al., 2012). This suggests that as ocean pCO_2 levels increase, it may be possible for mussels to acclimatise

to the changing conditions. However, *Mytilus* metabolic rate does not appear to change significantly under hypothesised acidification scenarios, with several studies finding no impact of ocean acidification alone on the metabolic rate of *M. edulis* (Matoo et al., 2021), *M. galloprovincialis* (Gazeau et al., 2014), or *Mytilus edulis-trossulus* hybrids (Jakubowska and Normant, 2015).

The behaviour of organisms may also be affected by acidification, although findings have not been consistent across species; one study found that the feeding rate of *Perumytilus purpuratus* mussels decreased as pCO₂ increased (Vargas et al., 2015), but another found that the feeding rate of M. galloprovincialis increased (Lassoued et al., 2019). This difference may be explained by the fact that Lassoued et al., (2019) found that clearance rate was only affected by pCO₂ at optimal food conditions, so differences in food concentrations may explain these seemingly contradictory results. The effects of acidification on various forms of predator avoidance has also been examined in invertebrates, with mixed results. Valve closure responses to predator cues were not found to be affected by acidification in *M. galloprovincialis* mussels (Clements et al., 2020), but conversely when exposed to both a temperature increase and a pH decline, Pecten maximus exposed to 50 days of warmed conditions showed a reduced predator escape performance when compared to those which had been exposed to cooler water, suggesting predator responses of some bivalves may be affected by climate change (Schalkhausser et al., 2014).

Mussels attach to a substrate using byssal threads, a secretion of proteins which form a thread from the foot to an adhesive plaque which binds them to surfaces (Newcomb *et al.*, 2019). A decline in pH from 8 to 7.5 was found to reduce the overall attachment strength of *M. trossulus* by 35-41%, with interactions with temperature also found in *M. edulis* (Kong, Clements, et al., 2019). However, other studies have found that only temperature decreases attachment strength of *M. edulis*, with no effect measured for acidification (Clements *et al.*, 2018), although this effect may potentially be dependent on food availability (Lassoued et al., 2019). Whilst all of these studies provide us with a critical understanding of the potential effects of future climate change, they are frequently limited by the fact that they don't take into consideration the highly changeable environmental variables may have on the consequences of climate change.

Combination effects of salinity, warming and acidification

In order to provide the most accurate predictions of how intertidal and estuarine environments are likely to be affected by climate change, it is essential to examine the combined effects of warming and acidification alongside salinity changes. Tidal air exposure was simulated in the laboratory by removing *M. edulis* mussels from water at a range of salinities for 90 minutes, every 12 hours, during which time they were exposed to differing air temperatures (Nielsen et al., 2021). A combination of a 30 °C air temperature and low salinities of 15 or 5 ppt significantly increased the mortality of mussels when compared to a control of 5 °C and 23 ppt, suggesting that increasing temperatures may have a synergistic effect on mussels which already have to cope with the stress of tidal air exposure and estuarine salinity changes. In addition, a study which examined the impact of temperature and salinity effects on the mortality of Sydney cockles (Anadara trapezia) over a period of 56 days found that temperature extremes of 10 °C or 30 °C caused a large increase in mortality when combined with salinities of 15 or 25 ppt (Taylor et al., 2017). When the transcriptome of C. virginica exposed to 4 weeks of various combinations of salinity and temperature were compared, it was found that many genes were differently expressed in the high temperature (30 °C) or low salinity (7 psu) treatments compared to controls of 20 °C and 25 psu, with synergistic effects in the combined high temperature low salinity treatment (Jones et al., 2019).

Low salinity may also have an interactive effect when combined with ocean acidification. For example, one study found that a combination of acidification and low salinity reduces the condition index of *Ruditapes philippinarum* clams (Velez et al., 2016). A further study exposed *M. edulis* to combinations of three different pH levels and two dissolved oxygen levels and calculated the scope for growth (Gu et al., 2019). They found that clearance rate, absorption rate and respiration rate decreased with decreasing pH, and was also decreased further at lower oxygen levels. These studies all seem to point to the conclusion that habitats with fluctuating environmental conditions may experience the negative impacts of climate change more acutely, and therefore the effects may be underestimated in studies which only assess them in stable conditions. Additionally, salinity has been found to alter *Mercenaria mercenaria* response to 21 weeks of exposure to high CO₂ levels, with ~800 µatm resulting in a reduced shell microhardness at 32 ppt, but not at 16 ppt (Dickinson et al., 2013). However, whilst ~800 µatm actually

30

reduced mortality when compared to ~ 380 μ atm at 32 ppt, mortality was not reduced at 16 ppt (Dickinson et al., 2013). These complex interactions show that incorporating real life environmental variables like salinity is critical, as these have the potential to alter the predicted response to climate effects.

The effects of climate change on *Mytilus* distribution

The predicted impacts of ocean warming on the distribution of marine species has been widely studied, with many organisms expected to show a poleward range shift as their native habitats increase in temperature (Bates et al., 2014). This has already been observed to some extent in *M. edulis* along the Eastern coast of the US, the range of which has shifted around northwards by 350 km in the last 50 years (Jones et al., 2010). It has also been suggested that the ability of *M. galloprovincialis* to withstand higher temperatures will cause its continued range expansion (Han & Dong, 2020), and possibly increase its invasive spread. However, a study conducted in 2005-2007 which revisited sites in California, originally sampled by Rawson et al., (1999) in 1994-1995, found that the range of *M. galloprovincialis* had contracted significantly, with northern sites containing only 0-4% *M. galloprovincialis* where they previously had 53-80%, despite mussel abundance remaining high (Hilbish et al., 2010). This highlights the importance of examining the effects of other stressors on range shifts, including salinity.

Climate change is also predicted to cause an increase in freshening and flash flooding events, with many mid to high latitude areas showing a reduction in salinity (Durack & Wijffels, 2010; Seggel, A., De Young, C., and Soto, 2016). The IPCC predicts that there has already been a significant change in ocean salinity, with salinity increasing in many areas where it is high, due to evaporation, and decreasing in areas where it is already low, due to increased runoff, with the Arctic, North and South Pacific, South Indian, Bay of Bengal, and Southern oceans all predicted with to decrease in salinity with medium confidence (IPCC et al., 2021). One of the reasons for this salinity decrease is an increase in ice melt as a result of climate warming, which is already causing a significant freshening effect in the Arctic Ocean (Li & Fedorov, 2021). In addition, it was found that salinity of the sea water in the Gulf of Finland, in the Northern Baltic, has decreased over the last 40 years, with transects in this area showing that mussel abundance was lower in low salinity zones (Westerbom et al., 2019).

In the next century, the Baltic Sea has been predicted to face a salinity decline of 8-50% (Meier, 2006), which is likely to result in a range shift of many species, including Mytilus spp (Vuorinen et al., 2015). M. trossulus has been found to be more salinity tolerant than *M. edulis*, with only 47% of *M. edulis* developing into swimming embryos at 25 ppt, compared to more than 90% in *M. trossulus* (Qiu et al., 2002). Additionally, whilst extreme low salinities of 7 or 16 psu were found to cause developmental delay, *M. trossulus* had a higher settlement success at 7 psu than 16 psu whilst the opposite was true for *M. edulis*, suggesting *M.* trossulus are able to outcompete *M. edulis* at low salinities (Knöbel et al., 2021). This salinity-based selection suggests that distributions of *M. trossulus* may increase as a result of climate-induced salinity declines. However, this is likely to contrast against the selection effects of increased temperature, which M. trossulus is less tolerant to (Sarver & Foltz, 1993). Whilst temperature has generally been considered to be the greatest driving force of distribution changes under climate change, in some areas salinity might be causing a greater selection. Braby and Somero (2006) examined 21 locations within the Mytilus hybrid zone in California from 2000 to 2004, and found that the salinity effects were as expected, with *M. galloprovincialis* abundance positively correlated with salinity, and *M. trossulus* abundance negatively correlated with salinity. *M.* trossulus was also more likely to be found in areas with a wider salinity range, reinforcing the hypothesis that this species has a greater tolerance to salinity variations than *M. galloprovincialis* (Braby & Somero, 2006a). However, this study also found that the proportion of *M. galloprovincialis* was negatively correlated with temperature, whilst the opposite was true for *M. trossulus*. This is a surprising finding given that other work indicates that *M. galloprovincialis* is better adapted to warmer waters (Schneider & Helmuth, 2007), but one possible explanation is that within these study sites, temperature was negatively correlated with salinity (Braby & Somero, 2006a). This could suggest that salinity was a more important factor for defining species ranges than temperature. One possible explanation for the improved tolerance of *M. trossulus* to low salinities might be higher levels of MAPK-dependent phosphorylation, which is assoicated with dealing with osmotically stressful conditions (Evans & Somero, 2010). An increase in extreme weather events is also likely to lead to an increased frequency of flash flooding, which will increase runoff into coastal and estuarine environments, leading to temporary but drastic changes in salinity (Boyd et al., 2015). Evidently, salinity tolerance plays an important role in the distribution of *Mytilus* species, the effects of which have often been overlooked when making predictions. This emphasizes the need to first have a comprehensive understanding of the fundamental physiological and behavioural responses of mussels to different salinities before we are able to predict future distribution changes resulting from climate change.

Conclusion

As the ocean continues to undergo unprecedented changes rising from anthropogenic climate change, the need to understand the impacts on ecosystems and the organisms within them is becoming increasingly important. Whilst there has been fairly extensive research conducted into the impacts of ocean warming and acidification, there has been comparatively few studies into the effects of salinity changes. This is especially relevant to coastal and estuarine species like mussels, which are likely to face an increase in frequency of sudden salinity changes from flash flooding and freshwater runoff. These salinity changes, in combination with the many other stressors mussels are facing, are expected to negatively impact their physiological functioning and additionally affect their distribution. With *M. galloprovincialis* being the best adapted *Mytilus* species to warming, it is predicted that this will continue to expand in range and invade areas currently dominated by other species. However, *M. trossulus* may also increase in prevelance in areas where freshening and salinity fluctuations are prevelant owing to its ability to better cope with osmotic stress. Such changes, both in performance in relation to changing environmental conditions, as well as distribution, are likely to have a major impact on future aquaculture production. It is thus critical that research investigates the physiological tolerance of different Mytilus species to changing salinity and temperature, and how this relates to current mussel distribution, in order to accurately project climate change impacts both for natural and farmed populations.

Thesis overview

The aim of this thesis is to understand the underlying physiological and behavioural mechanisms behind mussel response to salinity. In addition, it examines the differences in these responses between mussels originiating from coastal and estuarine habitats, and considers the genetic differences which may contribute to a difference in performance. In chapter 2, I examine the effects of different salinities on the metabolic rate of hybrid *M. edulis-galloprovincialis*

mussels originiating from several estuarine and coastal sites. In addition, I analyse the genetic composition of these species using a newly developed 60k mussel SNP array. The objective of this experiment was to test the hypothesis that the differing salinities experienced by mussels from coastal and estuarine habitats results in a different hybrid composition within these areas, as a result of the different physiological tolerances of the different mussel species. In chapter 3, I measure the gaping behviour of *M. edulis* exposed to differing rates of salinity change, originating from coastal and estuarine environments. Additionally, I take simultaneous measurements of gaping behaviour, heart rate and metabolic rate over a range of salinity exposures. This experiment aimed to understand the fundamental interactions between these physiological and behavioural mechanisms, which have yet to be recorded simultaneously in this species. Finally, in chapter 4, I discuss the implications of this research, placing it in the context of the wider field, and suggest possible routes of exploration for future studies.

The Metabolic Rate and Genetic Composition of *Mytilus* Mussels from Coastal and Estuarine Sites Within a Hybrid Zone

Introduction

The *Mytilus edulis* complex (comprised of *Mytilus edulis*, *Mytilus trossulus*, *Mytilus galloprovincialis* and their hybrids) are a group of mussels distributed across temperate habitats globally, and which, where these individual species ranges overlap, are able to form hybrids, frequently creating zones which contain a combination of both pure mussel species and hybrids. Around the Southwest coast of the UK, *M. edulis* and *M. galloprovincialis* are found both in areas of purely one species, in addition to forming parts of a complex hybrid zone, containing individuals of varying proportions of introgression and parental ancestry. When mussel samples were collected from 33 locations around the Devon and Cornwall coastlines, a hybrid zone was identified, stretching from Start Point in South Devon to St Ives in North Cornwall (Hilbish et al., 2002). In addition, this zone showed a cline from more *edulis*-like mussels in South Devon, to more *galloprovincialis*-like individuals in North Cornwall.

Despite these overall general patterns of distribution within the hybrid zone, considerable local differences in the species composition were shown to exist across a fine spatial scale. For example, St Michael's Mount was shown to mostly consist of individuals with *M. edulis* alleles, with an average allele frequency of 0.82 *M. edulis*. However, the nearby area of Porthcurno showed a much greater variation in hybrid frequency, ranging from 0.95 to 0.18 *M. edulis* alleles, depending on the size of the mussel. There have been several hypotheses suggested to explain these local differences in distribution. One suggestion is that *M. edulis* is more frequently found in sheltered habitats with a fluctuating salinity, whereas *M. galloprovincialis* prefers exposed areas with a consitently high salinity (Gardner, 1996). This appears to support the observed distribution; mussels at the coastal site of Whitsand Bay were found to be hybrids, whereas mussels from the nearby Tamar estuary were mostly pure *M. edulis* (Hilbish et

al., 2003). When sites of mussel collection along the European Atlantic shore were rated to characterise prevailing environmental conditions, there was a significant positive correlation found between *M. galloprovincialis* allele frequency and scores which indicated an exposed, high salinity site (Bierne et al., 2002). These studies determine genotype by using the Glu-5' marker, a sequence which varies in base pair length between *Mytilus* species (Rawson et al., 1996). Whilst this method provided an excellent insight into the hybrid structure of *Mytilus* mussels, more advanced genetic techniques have since been developed, such as the use of next-generation sequencing to identify many thousands of single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNP) (or single base differences in genetic code, representing the most common form of genetic variation), enabling the examination of genetic variation between individuals in far greater detail than possible with an individual or small number of targetted markers (Marth et al., 1999). Following the development on novel genetic resources for this species group, a novel 60K SNP array has been developed for the *Mytilus* species complex (Nascimento-Schulze et al., 2023), which allows for a much more detailed analysis of hybrid structure.

Mytilus species are frequently found in coastal and estuarine sites, which despite being neighbouring habitats differ greatly in their conditions. While coastal areas are often impacted by wave action, salinity is usually high and stable. In contrast while estuaries are sheltered, they are defined by salinity fluctuations, which can vary significantly both spatially and temporally (Sumner & Belaineh, 2005; Uncles & Stephens, 2011). Estuaries can be classified by the way that fresh river water and saline sea water mix, with highly stratified estuaries containing a sharp boundary of salinities, and homogenous estuaries containing thoroughly mixed brackish water (Schubel & Pritchard, 1972). At high tide, estuarine habitats are filled with high salinity sea water, but at low tide there is a greater proportion of river water making the estuary brackish. Over the tidal cycle, which lasts approximately 6 hours in regions experiencing semi-diurnal tides, the range of tidal height follows the 'rule of twelfths' (Pearson, 2007), which describes the sine curve of tidal change in water volume. This means that the smallest change in tide height happens during the first and sixth hours, whereas the largest change happens in the third and fourth hours, which likely means that salinity change over a tidal period is also not linear. These complex changes result in mussels distributed across these habitats experiencing highly dynamic and variable
environmental conditions, which change drastically both daily and seasonally, making prediciton of salinity exposure for different individuals or populations difficult to predict.

Mussels are facultative anaerobes, an adaptation which allows them to close and enter anaerobic respiration during periods of intertidal air exposure (de Zwaan & Wijsman, 1976). This response also occurs in acute exposures to low salinities, during which mussels close their shell valves to protect from osmotic stress (Davenport, 1979; Shumway, 1977), and often results in a significant decline in oxygen consumption and clearance rate, as they are no longer able to pump water around their body (Famme, 1980). Whilst several studies have examined the effects of longer periods of salinity decline (Hamer et al., 2008; Landes et al., 2015), limited research has focused on the oxygen consumption of mussels during acute salinity declines, despite the fact that this would have environmental relevance for mussels likely to experience rapid freshening during flash flooding events or increased freshwater runoff.

Various studies have examined other physiological effects of low salinity, which has been shown to cause reduced filtration rate, calcification rate and heart rate (Braby & Somero, 2006a; Riisgård et al., 2013; Sanders et al., 2018). Additionally, it causes an increase in upregulation of proteins related to stress response, and a decrease in haemocyte cells (Bussell et al., 2008; Evans & Somero, 2010). These studies demonstrate a wide range of negative effects caused by reduced salinity, which are likley to impact estuarine mussels. The physiological differences between coastal and estuarine mussels has also been directly compared, with *M. galloprovincialis* from an estuarine site in Croatia found to have a higher energy consumption than those from an adjacent coastal site, likely due to the energetic costs of dealing with a fluctuating salinity (Erk et al., 2011). Additionally, two separate studies found that both *Perumytilus pupuratus* and Mytilus chilensis, reciprocally transplanted between estuarine and open coastal sites, had a higher growth rate at the coastal site, both for those originating in coastal and estuarine environments (Osores et al., 2017; Ramajo et al., 2021). However, few studies have comapred these physiogical differences to the genetic distribution.

To date, probably the best comparison we have of physiology and genetics within a hybrid zone is that of Gardner and Thompson (2001), who examined differences

between *M. edulis* and *M. trossulus* collected from a coastal and estuarine site in the hybrid zone in Newfoundland, Canada (Gardner & Thompson, 2001). When exposed to fluctuating salinities in the lab, mussels originating from the coastal area had a higher mortality than those originating from the estuarine area, suggesting that the estuarine mussels were acclimated to the conditions. There were greater *M. trossulus* mortalities in estuarine conditions than *M. edulis*, suggesting that the environmental differences may have resulted in some species selection (Gardner & Thompson, 2001). Whilst this study provides excellent insight into how physiological differences might impact hybrid distribution, this is yet to be examined in other areas; for example, few studies have examined the physiological differences between *M. edulis* and *M. galloprovincialis* in estuarine and coastal environments in Southwest England. By better understanding the factors that affect their distribution, and also the physiological niches of the species, it will enable us to predict future changes in distribution and understand how environmental change may impact this key species. This study examines the effect of declining salinity regimes on the oxygen consumption of mussels from both coastal and estuarine environments.

The aim of this study was to assess if mussels from coastal and estuarine sites have a different physiological tolerance when exposed to a decline in salinity. Mussels were collected from two sites within the Tamar estuary in Plymouth, as well as a nearby coastal site, and exposed to an acute salinity ramp mimicking a theoretical tidal cycle, with salinity decreasing to either 27 ppt or 19 ppt in addition to a control condition in which no salinity reduction was experienced. Oxygen consumption was then measured using closed respirometry. Differences in oxygen consumption were then compared between locations of origin and salinity exposure. Additionally, genetic composition of the individuals used for physiology experiments was subsequently determined by using a novel Mytilus-specific SNP array (Nascimento-Schulze et al., 2023). It was hypothesised that closure of shell valves at lower salinities would result in a lower MR in mussels, and that individuals from the estuarine sites would have a different MR to those originating from the coastal site. Additionally, we predicted that the coastal mussels would be hybrids, whereas the estaurine sites would be mostly comprised of *M. edulis*like individuals.

38

Materials and methods

Sample collection

The Tamar estuary is partially mixed, with highly variable salinity based on freshwater runoff (Uncles et al., 1983). This area is within the hybrid zone between *M. edulis* and *M. galloprovincialis* (see Figure 3a), and previous genetic analysis of mussels at Whitsand Bay has found them to be hybrids (Bignell et al., 2011; Gilg & Hilbish, 2003a; Hilbish et al., 2002, 2003). However, sites within the estuary, including Cremyll and the Tamar Bridge near Saltash, had a hybrid index which suggested they were almost entirely *M. edulis* (Bignell et al., 2011; Hilbish et al., 2003). Mussels were originally collected at spring low tide from two locations in Plymouth, United Kingdom on 04/11/21: Whitsand Bay (coastal habitat; 50.323,-4.221; mean whole animal weight 7.67±2.90 g), and Saltash (upper estuarine site; 50.409,-4.207; mean whole animal weight 15.71±10.14 g), within the higher area of the Tamar estuary (see Figure 3b). These were split into two experimental groups, A and B, each containing 10 Whitsand and 10 Saltash mussels. Mussels were also later collected from Cremyll (lower estuarine site; 50.361, -4.176; mean whole animal weight 9.68±4.93 g) within the lower area of the Tamar estuary (see Figure 3b) on 15/03/22, and 20 mussels from this location formed experimental group C.



Figure 3: a) A map of the Southwest UK with the hybrid zone between *M. edulis* and *M. galloprovincialis* (as defined by Hilbish et al. (2002)) highlighted in yellow, and the known *M. edulis* Budleigh site and known *M. galloprovincialis* Camel site marked. b) The sites of experimental mussel collection in Plymouth: Whitsand, an open coastal site; Cremyll, within the lower part of the Tamar estuary; Saltash, within the upper part of the Tamar estuary. *Experimental procedure*

Following collection, mussels were cleaned of epibionts and labelled with numbered bee tags adhered with Araldite rapid epoxy, and maintained within a 74 litre continuously recirculating system at The University of Exeter (34.13 (± 0.76) ppt, 13.49 (± 0.32) °C, 16:8 light:dark cycle). Experiments began 15/02/22

for groups A and B, and 06/05/22 for group C. Mussels were fed with 0.027 ml/L of Shellfish Diet (Reed Mariculture) the day prior to each experiment. During experiments, mussels were placed individually in 800 ml open glass jars within a larger stock tank of artificial seawater (see Figure 4a) at 34.39 (±0.84) ppt and 13.49 (±0.32) °C. Each jar also contained an air lift pump which created constant mixing between the jars and the larger stock tank, as well as aeration of the water (see Figure 4b). The tank included a blank jar which contained an air lift pump but not a mussel. Following a 30-minute acclimation period, mussels were then exposed to one of three salinity regimes (high, medium and low), before oxygen consumption was measured. This was repeated three times for each group as a technical replicate. These conditions attempted to mimic the acute salinity changes that estuarine mussels are exposed to over the course of a tidal cycle. Salinity was changed by adding fresh water to the tank on an hourly basis, which was quickly circulated by the air lift pumps.

In the low salinity regime, salinity was dropped hourly to a final salinity of 19 ppt. This salinity was chosen following several pilot tests in which it was found that mussels are usually still consuming oxygen at this salinity, but begin to stop below this threshold. The salinity regime was dropped using the rule of 12ths, which describes the sine curve of tidal height change. This meant that salinity was gradually dropped by different amounts each hour (to 33.7 ppt; 31 ppt; 27 ppt; 23 ppt; 20.37 ppt; 19 ppt) in order to replicate estuarine salinity change during a tidal cycle (see Figure 4c). Salinity was measured following each salinity drop using a Hach HQ 40d Digital Multi Meter with an Intellical CDC401 digital conductivity probe to ensure the target salinities had been achieved. Following the final salinity drop, mussels were given 30 minutes to acclimate before the air lift pumps were removed, the initial pO_2 was measured using a Firesting GO_2 pocket oxygen meter and probe (OXROB10), and the jars were sealed under water to avoid introduction of air bubbles. Jars remained inside the larger tank for the duration of the experiment, to avoid disturbing the mussel and also to help maintain a constant temperature. After three hours, the jars were mixed and opened and the pO_2 was tested again so that the oxygen consumed by each mussel over the three-hour period could be calculated.

In the medium salinity regime, mussels were again exposed to an hourly salinity drop, but this was stopped at the mid-point after the third drop to 27 ppt, as shown

in Figure 4c. Mussels were then given 30 minutes to acclimate before the air lift pumps were removed, the initial pO_2 was measured, and the jars were sealed. After three hours, the jars were opened and the pO_2 was tested again.

In the high salinity regime, the salinity was not dropped (see Figure 4c). Following the 30-minute acclimation period after mussels were put into jars, the air lift pumps were removed, the initial pO_2 was measured, and the jars were sealed. After three hours, the jars were opened and the pO_2 was tested again.



At the end of experiments, whole animal mass was measured by severing the posterior adductor muscle and blotting water from the mantle cavity, before the animal was weighed. Tissue was then removed from the shell and weighed to find the wet tissue mass, and then a sample of adductor mussel was removed, placed in a 1.5 ml microcentrifuge tube and preserved in 96% ethanol, before being stored at 4 °C prior to genetic testing.

Metabolic rate calculations

The difference between the initial and final oxygen concentration in each jar was calculated in Torr, before any drop in oxygen concentration in the blank jar was subtracted from this value (as a result of background microbial respiration). Using a method obtained from Green and Carritt (1967), salinity and temperature were used to find the solubility values of oxygen. These values were then used to calculate a value for metabolic rate per gram of wet tissue (µmol/g/h) using the formula:

O₂ Consumption Rate (MO₂; µmol/g/hour) =

(Δ [O₂] (µmol/l) x Chamber Volume (I)) / (Body Mass (g) x Time period (h))

Metabolic rate was also calculated per gram of dry tissue, as measured following 72 hours in a drying oven after genetic sampling. Analysis found that using wet or dry mass did not affect the interpretation of the results, and therefore for simplicity only the metabolic rates calculated using the wet tissue mass are presented. In the low salinity regime, occasionally mussels did not consume oxygen and there was a slightly greater drop in oxygen in the blank jar, resulting in a negative value for the metabolic rate. In these cases, metabolic rate was assumed to be zero.

Genetic analysis

Adductor mussel samples were extracted and stored in 96% ethanol, before being sent to Identigen Ltd. in Ireland for genotyping using a custom designed Axiom Affymetrix my-design 60K mussel array as described by Nascimento-Schulze et al. (2023). Identigen Ltd completed DNA extraction, and QC, prior to analysing each sample on the array. Previously genotyped samples shown to consist of *M. edulis* from Budleigh Salterton and *M. galloprovincialis* from the Camel estuary were included in order to assist with subsequent genotype identification of unknown samples used in this experiment. Following genotyping, Axiom Analysis Suit software (Affymetrix, Thermo Fisher Scientific) was used to process sample data. Firstly, markers that had a call rate below 95% were filtered from the dataset within the software. Following this, EIGENVAL and EIGENVEC files were generated using PLINK software (Purcell et al., 2007), and R studio (RStudio Team, 2020) was used to calculate a principal component analysis (PCA), and plot the first two principal components using the ggplot2 package

(Wilkinson, 2011). Whilst a PCA analysis selects principal components with the greatest overall variance, discriminant analysis of principal components (DAPC) analysis selects principal components based on those which show the greatest separation between groups, and is therefore often better at showing the differences between them (Jombart et al., 2010). DAPC analysis was calculated using a genind dataset created from a vcf file using the vcfR package (Knaus & Grünwald, 2017). The adegenet package (Jombart, 2008) was then used to plot the first two linear discriminants showing each collection site as an individual cluster using the dapc function. Finally, Admixture software (Alexander et al., 2009) was used to find a value of K with the lowest cross-validation error. This value of K was used to plot an admixture in R to show the ancestry of each individual compared to origin population.

Statistical analysis

Data was analysed using R studio (RStudio Team, 2020). The mean was calculated for the metabolic rates of each mussel over the three technical replicates at each salinity. A Shapiro Wilk test found the data was not normally distributed, and a permuational ANOVA (permanova) was used to assess the effect of both salinity and location on the MR, followed by pairwise comparisons.

Results

There was a total of 10 mortalities out of the 60 mussels over the course of the experiments, 8 of which were mussels originating from the upper estuarine site (Saltash) and 2 mussels originating from the lower estuarine site (Cremyll). The mean salinity in each treatment were as follows; high salinity treatment, 34.13 (± 0.76) ppt; medium salinity treatment, 27.01 (± 0.06) ppt; low salinity treatment, 18.99 (± 0.06) ppt.

Metabolic rate

Metabolic rate was found to decline with salinity (Figure 5), with a permanova finding this effect to be significant (Pseudo-F=70.867, df=2, p=0.001). Pairwise comparisons also found significant differences between all pairs of salinity treatments (High:Low - t=11.823, df=2, p=0.001; High:Medium - t=3.291, df=2, p=0.004; Low:Medium – t=7.804, df=2, p=0.001). The highest MR was in the high salinity regime at 2.15 (±0.56) µmol/g/h, with the medium salinity exposure having



Figure 5: Box plots and density plots showing the metabolic rate of mussels in different salinity regimes ending in salinities: low (19 ppt), medium (27 ppt) and high (34 ppt). Different letters indicate significant differences between the groups.

a MR of 1.69 (±0.67) µmol/g/h, and the low salinity resulting in the lowest MR of $0.60 (\pm 0.71) \mu mol/g/h$. In the low salinity regime, many of the jars containing a mussel had a measured oxygen change which was the same as or slightly less than in the blank jar, meaning that MR was assumed to be zero. This happened at least once across the three technical replicates of the low salinity exposure for 30/50 mussels (60%), with 15 mussels doing this in only one replicate (30%), 9 mussels doing this in two of the replicates (18%), and 6 doing this in all three replicates (12%). When comparing this response by collection site, this happened in at least one replicate for 75% of coastal mussels, 44% of lower estuarine mussels, and 58% of upper estuarine mussels. This only occurred once in the medium salinity regime (in a mussel which also had an MR of zero in all three low salinity replicates), and did not occur in any of the high salinity replicates. The permanova found no significant differences in the MR between the coastal (Whitsand), lower estuary (Cremyll) and higher estuary (Saltash) sites (Pseudo-F=2.231, df=2, p=0.107), as shown in Figure 6. The permanova also found no significant interaction between the salinity and location (Pseudo-F=0.84, df=4, p=0.493).



Figure 6: Box plots and density plots showing the metabolic rate of mussels collected at different sites in and around the Tamar estuary: Saltash (high estuary), Cremyll (low estuary) and Whitsand (coastal). Shared letters indicate a lack of significant difference between the groups.

Genetic analysis

After removing markers with a call rate less than 95%, 2,096 loci were retained. A principal component analysis (PCA) found that the amount of variance explained by the first two principal components was relatively low at 23.91% (PC1 explained 18.8% and PC2 5.11% of the variance). As shown in Figure 7, there was clear separation of known *M. galloprovincialis* samples from Camel, from all other sites, but no clear separation of experimental populations, or of the known *M. edulis* samples collected from at Budleigh Salterton. Following a discriminant analysis of principal components (DAPC), the first two linear discriminants were plotted, representing 85.7% and 10.9% of the total variance, compared to 2.2% and 1.2% for LD3 and LD4 respectively (Figure 8). In addition to the separation demonstrated between Camel and the remaining samples, as was shown with PCA, DAPC analysis also highlighted some separation of samples originating from Saltash from all other locations. However, there was no obvious separation between samples originating from Budleigh, Cremyll or Whitsand. Admixture was run to test K values, and the value of K with the least cross-validation error was found to be 2, which were inferred to be *M. edulis* and *M. galloprovincialis* (see table 3). When admixture coefficients were calculated and plotted, it was found that the majority of individuals at the coastal Whitsand site and the lower estuary

Cremyll site were almost entirely *M. edulis*, whereas those from Saltash (upper estuary) had a slightly higher frequency of *M. galloprovincialis* ancestry with a mean of 0.16, compared to 0.01 at Cremyll and 0.04 at Whitsand (Figure 9).



Figure 7: Scatter plot of the first two principal components when a PCA was calculated from the SNPs with a call rate > 0.95. This compares the variance between mussels from the three experimental sites, as well as from a known *M. edulis* site (Budleigh) and a known *M. galloprovincialis* site (Camel). Points represent individual mussels, colour and shape denotes the collection site. Ellipses show the 95% confidence interval of the points for each site.



Figure 8: Scatter plot of the first two linear discriminants from a discriminant analysis of principal components calculated from the SNPs with a call rate > 0.95. This compares the variance between mussels from the three experimental sites, as well as from a known *M. edulis* site (Budleigh) and a known *M. galloprovincialis* site (Camel). Points represent individual mussels, colour and shape denotes the collection site, clustered within ellipses.



Figure 9: A bar plot of admixture analysis showing the frequency of *M. galloprovincialis* (*M. gallo*) and *M. edulis* ancestry for each of the three experimental sites, as well as the known *M. edulis* site (Budleigh) and the known *M. galloprovincialis* site (Camel).

Discussion

This study confirmed the hypothesis that acute salinity declines decrease the MR of mussels, however we did not observe the hypothesised differences between the MR at the estuarine and coastal sites. This may be linked to the fact that the genetic differences are also not what we expected; all three sites had a much greater level of *M. edulis* ancestry than *M. galloprovincialis* ancestry, and whilst we expected mussels from the coastal site to show a greater level of hybridisation than the estuarine sites, the opposite was true, with coastal and lower estuarine sites being mostly *M. edulis*, whereas the upper estuarine site had a slightly higher *M. galloprovincialis* ancestry. A combined understanding of genetics and physiological tolerance is key for helping us predict the effects of climate change and drivers of distribution.

Metabolic rate

There were significant differences in the MR between all salinities, suggesting that an acute salinity decline causes a reduction in MR. When mussels were examined at the end of each measurement period, it was observed that in the low salinity regime, mussels appeared to be shut, suggesting that the reduced MR is likely to be a result of mussels closing at low salinities to avoid osmotic stress. This probably explains the fact that 60% of mussels in the low salinity regime had a MR of 0 in at least one of the replicates, as they may have been shut for the entire measurement period, meaning that they did not consume oxygen. This is supported by a previous experiment in which *M. galloprovincialis* exposed to a salinity ramp down to 20 ppt, were shown to remain closed for the first day of exposure (Addis et al., 2021). Given that mussels in our experiment were exposed to an acute reduction in salinity, down to a slightly lower salinity of 19 ppt, it is not surprising that many mussels were observed to be closed and did not consume oxygen. It is difficult to disentangle MR and valve closure given that we measured the oxygen change over a three-hour period. This means it is possible that while open, the mussels had the same MR in all salinities, but were more likely to be closed for at least some of the time in lower salinities, and therefore the MR over the whole 3-hour measurement period is lower in lower salinities. A study measuring gape and MR simultaneously would allow us to see if the MR in acute salinity changes is entirely governed by gape, or if there is still an effect when the mussels are open. In C. virginica oysters, it was found that reduced salinity declined both oxygen consumption and valve opening during winter (17 °C) but not summer (27 °C) experiments (Casas et al., 2018), which supports the hypothesis that the reduction in MR may have been the result of valve closures. However, other mollusc species including Nassarius festivus and Amphibola crenata also show a reduced oxygen consumption in response to lower salinities, suggesting that it may not only be the closure reponse of bivalves which affects the MR (Cheung & Lam, 1995; Shumway & Marsden, 1982).

Conversely, there were no significant differences found in the MR between mussels originating from different locations. This is an interesting and surprising result, as it suggests that despite the mussels coming from locations with differing salinity profiles, they did not demonstrate differing physiological tolerance to low salinity exposure. This contrasts findings for *M. chilensis* in Chile, where mussels from a coastal site had a higher metabolic rate than those from an estuarine site

(Osores et al., 2017). Our results indicate that mussel MR has a high level of plasticity, and therefore they may be able to adapt to an acute change in salinity. Climate change is likely to lead to changes in salinity in many areas of the ocean, particularly within coastal and estuarine sites, which are more likely to receive freshwater runoff from land (IPCC et al., 2021). If mussels have a capacity to adapt to changing environmental conditions, this suggests that they may be able to cope with climate change induced shifts in salinity, to some extent.

Genetic analysis

The first two principal components did not show obvious clustering of mussel samples originating from the different collection sites, which suggests that the three experimental sites consist of individuals from a single shared ancestry. The fact these also clustered with individuals from Budleigh Salterton, known to be of *M. edulis* origin, indicates that mussels originating from Whitsand, Cremyll and Saltash are of predominantly *M. edulis* ancestry. DAPC analyses also further confirmed that the sites were separated from the known M. galloprovincialis population at Camel, but also suggested that there was additional separation between individuals originating from the upper estuarine site (Saltash) and the other sites. This is further supported by Admixture analysis, with visualisation of genotypes showing 2 genetic clusters, separating *M. edulis* (Budleigh Salterton) and *M. galloprovincialis* (Camel), with mussels from the three experimental sites consisting of individuals of predominantly *M. edulis* origin. Additionally, whilst the coastal Whitsand and lower estuary Cremyll sites appear to have very little M. galloprovincialis introgression, there is a greater proportion of M. galloprovincialis at the upper estuary Saltash site. This is a surprising result, as previous analysis has suggested the opposite, with Whitsand historically characterised by a high frequency of hybrid individuals and a high proportion of *M. galloprovincialis* like genotypes, whereas the estuarine sites have historically consisted of mainly pure *M. edulis*. When Tamar mussels were sampled using the Glu-5' marker between 1996 and 1999, including sites near Saltash and Cremyll, the frequency of the M. edulis allele was more than 83% in all size classes, and in the largest (>30 mm) size class, which all the mussels sampled in our experiment would fall into, this frequency was at least 91% at all estuarine sites (Hilbish et al., 2003). Contrastingly, Whitsand Bay had a decreasing *M. edulis* allele frequency with increasing size, with the >30 mm size class only containing 32% M. edulis alleles (Hilbish et al., 2003). Similarly, when mussels were sampled from Cremyll and

Whitsand in 2006 and analysed with the *Glu-5*' marker, it was found that Whitsand was comprised of 37% *M. edulis*, 7% *M. galloprovincialis* and 56% hybrids, whereas Cremyll had 100% *M. edulis*, with the other estuarine sites sampled also containing mainly (>93%) *M. edulis* (Bignell et al., 2011). Our findings for Cremyll are very close to these values, at 99% M. *edulis* ancestry. However, we found the average *M. edulis* ancestry to be 84% at Saltash, compared to 97% in the >30 mm size class when analysed by Hilbish et al. (2003), and 96% at Whitsand, compared to 32% in the >30 mm size class in Hilbish's data.

In the 15 years between the sampling by Bignell et al. (2011) and our study, it is possible that the hybrid frequencies have shifted. After a period of 18 years, a 25 km shift was found in the midpoint location of the Baltic hybrid cline (Strelkov et al., 2017), whilst in just a year (between 2005 and 2006) a significant change in the hybrid frequency was observed at sites within the Canadian hybrid zone (Shields et al., 2010). Modelling of larval dispersion has suggested that *Mytilus* larvae are able to regularly travel around 30-50 km at this location during their pelagic larval phase (Gilg & Hilbish, 2003b), meaning larvae should be able to disperse between Whitsand and Saltash, which are around 18 km apart by water. This suggests that any differences in species composition between these areas are likely to be a result of post-settlement selection based on prevailing environmental conditions.

Previously, it has been suggested that this selection occurs against *M. galloprovincialis* in low salinity areas, as this species is expected to be less tolerant to low salinity changes (Gardner, 1996). However, our data shows the opposite, with upper estuarine Saltash having the highest amount of *M. galloprovincialis* ancestry of the three sites studied. One possible explanation for this is that selection is occurring not as a result of salinity, but because of temperature. In the years since previous studies have examined the species compositions of these sites, ocean warming has occurred (IPCC et al., 2021), and this has been shown to affect estuarine areas more acutely (Scanes et al., 2020). It may be possible that upper estuarine mussels experience higher temperatures than the lower estuarine and coastal sites, and therefore there is greater selection towards *M. galloprovincialis*, which has been shown to be more temperature tolerant (Hilbish et al., 1994). However, the aforementioned temporal variability in distribution may mean that we would not find this effect if we sampled

50

the sites repeatedly over several years. Additionally, these differences may be explained by the fact that there may be differences in the genetic composition when analysed by the single Glu-5' marker compared to the many SNP markers.

Implications of genetic analysis on physiology

Mussels from all three sampling sites had a similar genetic composition, which may explain the reason they had no measurable difference in MR. Coastal mussels responded to lower salinities in the same way as estuarine mussels, with many not consuming oxygen under the low salinity regime, likely as a result of shell closure. This illustrates the plasticity of mussel physiology, as despite the fact that the coastal Whitsand mussels were unlikely to have experienced such low salinity exposure naturally, they performed similarly to the estuarine mussels. In a previous study, *M. chilensis* transplanted from a coastal to an estuarine site for 63 days showed an increase in MR, with the opposite being true for those transplanted from the estuarine to coastal site (Osores et al., 2017). This makes it evident that there is some plasticity in this trait, which is likely why our study showed no difference in performance between sites, although it should be noted that in the study by Osores and colleagues, mussels originating from the coastal site always had a higher MR than those from the estuarine site no matter whether they were transplanted or in their native habitat. The discrepancy between this study and ours may be explained by the fact that we only examined the shortterm response to low salinity which is likely to be largely governed by valve closure, a response which the intertidal coastal mussels would still regularly perform in response to air exposure, even if not to salinity changes. Research examining the salinity at which mussels close would be useful to compare this effect with MR.

Limitations and future research

The Tamar is a partially mixed estuary (Uncles et al., 1983), which means it features a cline in salinity from high at the mouth to low in the upper estuary, but also by depth from the higher-density sea water near the estuary bed, to the lower density river water near the surface. In addition, semidiurnal and lunar tide cycles will affect the tidal force and therefore the penetration of salt water up the estuary. As long-term logging of salinity and fluid dynamics modelling of water mixing were beyond the scope of this study, the pattern of salinity decline based on tidal flow was designed to provide a non-linear change, which may be more equivalent to

the complex salinity changes than a linear decline. Ideally, future research should use long-term monitoring in order to design realistic regimes in the lab which reflect natural exposures.

There are currently few studies which compare analysis of genetic distribution and physiology. In order to predict how future climate change is likely to affect the distribution of this critical species, we must first gain a full understanding of how local differences in environmental factors are affecting the small-scale distributions. In order to do this, it is essential to compare the physiological performances of mussels from different ecological niches, but also analyse the genetic composition to understand if this could be resulting in different distributions. In this study, genetic analysis showed that both coastal and estuarine sites were mostly *M. edulis*, which helped to explain the lack of difference in performance between sites. This should be addressed further in future studies, potentially by measuring MR of mussels reciprocally transplanted between coastal and estuarine sites, which will allow us to understand where observed physiological differences are a result of different genetics, and where they are simply a plastic response to a different environmental variable.

Conclusions

This chapter has illustrated that short-term salinity changes have an impact on the metabolic rate of mussels, via an alteration in MR, with MR shown to be reduced in lower salinity. This highlights the need to examine the effects of stressors during both acute and long-term exposures, especially for an environmental factor like salinity which can vary significantly over short periods of time. No differences were found in the MR of mussels originating from coastal and estuarine habitats, which suggests that this trait has a high level of plasticity across our experimental populations. There were also very few genetic differences between the sites, which all had a much higher proportion of *M. edulis* ancestry than M. galloprovincialis. However, admixture analysis indicated that the upper estuarine site of Saltash had a higher proportion of *M. galloprovincialis* introgression, compared to the lower estuarine (Cremyll) and coastal (Whitsand) sites which were almost entirely *M. edulis* ancestry. This contradicts previous analyses, which suggest that estuarine sites were mostly *M. edulis*, whereas coastal sites were hybrids. A potential explanation for this is that recent ocean warming has meant that temperature now has a stronger effect on selection than

salinity. Future studies should combine repeated genetic analysis with logging of site conditions over time, combined with measurements of physiological performance, in order to understand how environmental conditions, genetics and physiology interact to determine the genetic composition of mussels in the face of changing environmental conditions.

The Behavioural Response of Mussels to Declining Salinities

Introduction

In order to filter feed, consume oxygen, and expel waste, mussels must open their shell valves to allow water to be drawn into their pallial cavity across their gills by the movement of cilia, via an inhalant siphon (Ward & Shumway, 2004). Given that gaping their shells allows for feeding, mussels show an increased gape under increasing algal concentrations (Lassoued et al., 2019; Robson et al., 2010), and *Arctica islandica* clams show an increased gape with Chl *a* availability (Ballesta-Artero et al., 2017). Mussel gape has been found to follow a circadian rhythm, and this is frequently linked to tidal cycles (Bertolini et al., 2021; Miller & Dowd, 2017). They have also been found to gape more during the night, both in situ on commercial rope grown sites, and within controlled laboratory experiments (Lassoued et al., 2019; Robson et al., 2007).

However, opening of the shell valves represents a trade-off, concurrently increasing the risk of predation and exposure to toxicants, in addition to making them more vulnerable to osmotic stress in changing salinities. Valve closure is a key defence mechanism against predation, with increased periods of mussel closure associated with exposure to cues from injured conspecifics (Robson et al., 2010). Additionally, mussels which gaped slightly wider than their neighbours during emersion are more likely to be targeted by black oystercatchers (Miller & Dowd, 2019), indicating the importance of this response for survival. Mussels also have a strong behavioural response to a wide range of pollutants, with valve closure being observed under exposure to copper, mercury, zinc, crude oil, and oil dispersants (Ait Fdil et al., 2006; Davenport, 1977; Durier et al., 2021; Redmond et al., 2017). Furthermore, bivalves show an increased rate of flapping behaviour (rapid opening and closing of valves) during exposure to toxic dinoflagellates, with Pinctada fucata and Ruditapes philippinarum showing this behaviour in response to Heterocapsa circularisquama exposure (Basti et al., 2009; Nagai et al., 2006), whilst Mytilus galloprovincialis and Crassostrea gigas demonstrate the same response when exposed to Alexandrium minutum (Comeau et al., 2019; Tran et al., 2010).

Often found in estuarine environments, marine mussels are frequently exposed to large fluctuations in salinity. In order to understand the differences between coastal and estuarine populations, common garden experiments are often used to measure the effects of reciprocal conditions. One study found that when C. virginica larvae originating from different coastal and estuarine habitats were reared in a range of salinities, oysters originating from an area where salinity ranges from 6.6-14.5 psu had the best survival when reared under low salinities, suggesting phenotypic acclimation to these conditions (Eierman & Hare, 2013). Additionally, phenotypic plasticity was shown in reciprocally transplanted coastal and estuarine Mytilus chilensis mussels, with metabolic rate being higher in mussels at the estuarine site, and clearance rate being higher in mussels at the coastal site, no matter their site of origin (Osores et al., 2017). This is supported by another study which found that Mytilus edulis and Mytilus trossulus from Newfoundland in Canada had significantly reduced filtration rates following a four-month exposure to simulated estuarine conditions between 11.4 and 29 ppt (Gardner & Thompson, 2001). These studies illustrate the ability of mussels to acclimate to a wide range of conditions across estuarine and coastal environments.

Being osmocoformers, extreme salinity fluctuations put mussels at risk of osmotic stress (Davenport, 1979), and this has been found to have a variety of negative effects. For example, *Perumytilus purpuratus* living in estuarine environments are shown to have a reduced growth rate and calcification, and an increased metabolic rate, when compared to their coastal neighbours (Ramajo et al., 2021). Similarly, a study in the Mediterranean mussel, *M. galloprovincialis,* showed that following a 14 day exposure to reduced salinities, mussels had a higher oxygen consumption at 28 and 18 psu compared to the 37 psu control (Hamer et al., 2008). Additionally, whilst no effect on condition index was shown, this study also showed increased mortality at 11 psu (Hamer et al., 2008). Across a range of salinity ramp designs, which gradually dropped salinity based on field measurements, *Ruditapes decussatus, Venerupis corrugata, Cerastoderma edule* and *R. philippinarum* were found to have reduced burrowing activity and scope for growth at lower salinities (Domínguez et al., 2020).

In addition to variation in salinity, as intertidal organisms mussels are often exposed to semidiurnal periods of emersion, and therefore have developed a

55

number of mechanisms to deal with this. They are facultative anaerobes, which means that they are able to switch to anaerobic respiration during periods of shell valve closure, allowing them to survive periods of aerial exposure without desiccation (de Zwaan & Wijsman, 1976). This involves the production of opines from pyruvate, which is less acidic than lactate and allows for survival during relatively long term periods (several days) of anoxia (Müller et al., 2012). Whilst this process is more efficient than anaerobic respiration in most other eukaryotes, this represents a trade-off, preventing feeding and waste excretion as well as causing acidosis during the closure period, with mussels required to balance this behavioural response to maximise benefit, and minimise adverse impacts (Müller et al., 2012).

When different areas of the *M. edulis* mantle were systematically isolated and supplied with fresh water while the rest of the mussel was exposed to sea water, it was found that mussels still gaped when their exhalant siphon or ventral part of the inhalant siphon was supplied with fresh water (Davenport, 1981). However, when the cilia of the inhalant siphon were supplied with fresh water, the mussel remained shut, suggesting that this area contains osmoreceptors (Davenport, 1981). Additionally, experiments which showed that the salinity of the internal pallial fluid remained consistent, combined with the fact that the internal structures remained free from dye when closed mussels were placed into fresh water dyed with methylene blue, both suggest that mussels do not gape to 'test' the external salinity, but some ions simply diffuse through the closed valves to osmoreceptors (Davenport, 1981). Exposure to solutions of differing ion concentrations suggested that Mytilus gape is reactive to Na⁺ and Mg²⁺ concentrations, but not Ca²⁺ ions (Akberali & Davenport, 1982). This suggests therefore that mussel gape is closely linked to their ability to sense osmotic change, related to specific ions, and that this mechanism is fundamental in driving their behavioural response to low salinity exposure.

In addition to protecting mussels from desiccation during emersion, shell closure is used to protect individuals from the harmful effects of reduced salinity, and allows mussels to maintain stable mantle fluid osmolality and reduce osmotic stress (Shumway, 1977). This behavioural response to salinity is also impacted by the rate of salinity change, with *M. edulis* found to maintain fluid at a higher salinity in their pallial cavity during faster declines, suggesting that the mussels

respond more quickly when salinity changes rapidly, in order to protect themselves from osmotic stress (Davenport, 1979). Additionally, when *M. edulis* were exposed to a 12 hour cycle from 30 ppt to 15 ppt and then back up to 30 ppt, the osmolality of mussel haemolymph was found to be slightly higher than that of the external water during the decline (Livingstone et al., 1979). This is likely to be as a result of mussels no longer exchanging water with their external environment due to behavioural valve or siphon closure, which allows these osmoconformers to be slightly hyperosmotic to their surroundings. Similar conclusions were formed from experiments using the Asian green mussel, Perna viridis, where mussels placed into a range of static salinities demonstrated hyperosmotic haemolymph compared to the surrounding seawater at salinities below 15 ppt, as well as reduced clearance rates as a result of the observed valve closure (McFarland et al., 2013). Interestingly, C. virginica oysters did not show the same response, with a haemolymph concentration much closer to that of its surroundings, but with less of a reduction in clearance rate at reduced salinities (McFarland et al., 2013). A difference in this effect has been observed between coastal and estuarine Perna perna mussels, with estuarine mussels having hyperosmotic haemolymph after 4 and 14 days of exposure to 20 and 25 ppt, whereas coastal mussels were iso-osmotic with seawater (Rola et al., 2017). It was observed that valves remained open during this study, so this does not appear to be an effect of isolation by valve closure, however it is possible that closure of the exhalant siphon or reduced filtration contributed to this maintenance of a hyperosmotic internal environment (Rola et al., 2017). This provides an interesting insight into the adaptations between mussels living in coastal and estuarine environments.

One way of quantifying gape is by using hall sensors, which measure magnetic field strength. When a small magnet is placed at a short distance from a hall sensor, the magnetic field strength measured by the sensor decreases as the magnet moves further away from it (Wilson et al., 2005). This has been used for several applications in the study of animal physiology and behaviour (Hanuise et al., 2010; Myers & Hays, 2007; Wilson & Liebsch, 2003), including for studying the valvometry of bivalves (Wilson et al., 2005). The deployment of hall sensors can be used to provide highly detailed assessments of organism responses to contaminants (Borcherding, 2006). This has led to their integration into increasingly sophisticated, and commercially available, monitoring 'tool kits',

which are now being deployed in a range of environmental and industrial applications (Andrade et al., 2016; Barile et al., 2016; SJ & NG, 2015; Taylor et al., 2013).

Given the behavioural response of a range of bivalves species to changing environmental conditions, the use of hall sensors also has high potential for assessing bivalve responses to climate change. Whilst increased CO2 concentrations have not been shown to impact gaping behaviour in C. virginica or M. galloprovincialis (Clements et al., 2018; Lassoued et al., 2019), climate induced freshening is projected to increase significantly in the coming years, with higher occurrences of flash flooding that will severely impact coastal ecosystems (IPCC et al., 2021). With salinity directly impacting bivalve gaping behaviour (Davenport, 1979), changing seawater salinity as a result of climate change will very likely impact the physiological response of bivalves to a suite of environmental conditions. Nonetheless, to date, only a very limited number of studies have examined the impact of salinity changes using hall sensors to measure gaping in bivalves. In one study, M. galloprovincialis were exposed to a reduction in salinity (4 hour ramp) down to salinities of 35, 20, 10 or 5 ppt, followed by a continuous 5 day exposure at that salinity, followed by a further 5 days of recovery at 35 ppt (Addis et al., 2021). Exposure to 5 ppt caused mortality of most mussels, whilst exposure to 10 ppt resulted in closure for the duration of the exposure, followed by reopening during the recovery period. In 20 ppt, mussels closed their valves for the first day, but then opened for the remainder of the exposure. Similarly, when using hall sensors to measure gape, oysters (C. virginica) were found to have a higher percentage of valve gape at 15 and 25 ppt compared to at 3, 6 or 9 ppt (Casas et al., 2018). These are two of the very few studies which have updated our understanding of the bivalve gaping response to salinity using modern technology, providing an interesting insight into the possible effects of climate change induced freshening on bivalve gape behaviour. However, the gaping response of mussels to changing salinities is still a severely under-researched area, and further studies using these technologies are therefore urgently required to help better understand the future implications of freshening.

Similarly to shell valve gape behaviour and metabolic rate, heart rate (HR) in mussels is also impacted by salinity, with HR decreasing concurrently with

58

reduced salinity in *M. edulis*, *M. trossulus* and *M. galloprovincialis* (Bakhmet et al., 2005; Stickle & Sabourin, 1979). However, this effect was not found in P. viridis, which demonstrated an increasing HR with temperature, but no impact of salinity between 15 and 35 ppt (Nicholson, 2002). Heart rate is a common measure of physiological performance, and has mainly been studied in mussels using impedance pneumography, and more recently infrared sensors (Vereycken & Aldridge, 2023). Mussel HR is unusual in that it commonly enters periods of bradycardia (significantly reduced heart rate), or stops completely, seemingly without a serious impact on mussel health (Bakhmet & Khalaman, 2006). Various external factors have been shown to impact heart rate. For example, subtidal but not intertidal *M. galloprovincialis* have been found to have a decreased HR with increasing temperatures while submerged, but neither intertidal nor subtidal mussels were affected by temperature during emersion (Collins et al., 2020). However, when examining the effects of temperature in the different mussel species M. edulis, M. trossulus and M. galloprovincialis, Braby and Somero (2006) found that HR increased with increasing temperatures for all species.

Alongside being affected by temperature and salinity, HR has been found to be closely related to gaping behaviour. When HR and gape were measured in response to copper in two separate studies, both were shown to decrease in response to contamination, with periods of valve closure also being closely followed by periods of bradycardia (Curtis et al., 2000; Shen & Nugegoda, 2022). Whilst HR is clearly linked to valve closure, understanding how it relates to other parameters is key for understanding the physiological response, and therefore tolerance, to different environmental conditions, particularly those relevant to climate change.

The aim of this study was to determine the behavioural response of the blue mussel, *M. edulis*, to reduced salinity, and determine if the rate of salinity change impacts the point at which mussels adduct their shell valves. This response was compared in three populations of mussels, originating from different estuarine or coastal sites, to ascertain whether estuarine mussels are better able to cope with low salinity exposure. To provide a detailed assessment of mussel gape behaviour, hall sensors were used to measure gape alongside pallial fluid osmolality, whilst gape, heart rate and oxygen consumption were also measured concurrently in a subset of mussels, providing the physiological context to mussel

gape behaviour. Based on previous research by Davenport (1979), it was hypothesised that mussels would close their valves at a lower salinity during faster salinity decreases, but that pallial fluid osmolality would be higher during faster salinity decreases. Additionally, it was hypothesised that gape, HR and MR would all be lower at reduced salinities compared to in full strength seawater.

Materials and methods

Sample collection

Mytilus edulis were collected at low tide on the 12/09/2022 from Orcombe Point, Exmouth (coastal site; 50.607,-3.387; mean weight 5.97 \pm 1.29 g, mean length 36.04 \pm 2.16 mm), and at low tide on the 06/02/2023 from Teignmouth beach (coastal site; 50.546,-3.492; mean weight 6.04 \pm 1.90 g, mean length 43 \pm 3.31 mm) and from Shaldon bridge, in the river Teign (estuarine site; 50.546,-3.511; mean weight 12.03 \pm 4.49 g, mean length 49.79 \pm 6.06 mm), see Figure 10a. Previous genetic testing has shown Exmouth mussel populations to be entirely *M. edulis* (Nascimento-Shulze, in publication), and Teignmouth mussels were assumed to also be *M. edulis* based on this location being outside of the previously described area of the *M. edulis-galloprovincialis* hybrid zone. Mussels were cleaned of all epibionts, before being placed inside holding tanks in the Aquatic Resource Centre at the University of Exeter, maintained for two to three months in a recirculating aquaculture system, using artificial seawater at a salinity of 34.3 ppt and 15 °C, with a 20:4 hour light:dark regime, and fed with 0.027 ml/L of Shellfish Diet (Reed Mariculture) three times per week for the duration of experiments.

Experimental design

a) Mussel gape behaviour

Hall sensors measure magnetic field strength and record a voltage which is proportional to the sensor's proximity to a magnet. A custom-built hall sensor system running on an Arduino Mega 2560 was designed and built to measure gaping behaviour in the mussels. Firstly, araldite adhesive was used to adhere a waterproofed hall sensor (Allegro A1319LUA-5-T) to one shell valve of the mussel, and a small neodymium magnet (1x12 mm) to the other shell valve (see Figure 10d), with mussels left air exposed for 3 hours to enable the adhesive to fully cure. Mussels were subsequently given at least 24 hours to recover from this air exposure prior to any experiments beginning. Given that mussels are frequently heavily covered in epibionts, such as barnacles, it was assumed that

the attachment of the sensor and magnet did not impact the normal mussel behaviour.

An initial pilot study was conducted where 8 mussels originating from the Exmouth population were exposed a reduction in salinity down to 12 ppt. This indicated that all mussels closed before salinity reached 18 ppt. As a result of this, the experimental salinity threshold for this experiment was set to 18 ppt to enable accurate quantification of gaping behaviour around this key point, both immediately before and during valve closure.



Figure 10: a) Map of the Southwest UK showing the three sampling sites, b) Diagram showing the experimental setup used for each mussel, c) line graph showing the salinity decline during each regime, and d) an image of a mussel with a hall sensor and magnet attached.

Subsequently, each group of experimental mussels (the first containing 8 Exmouth mussels, and the remaining two each containing 4 coastal and 4 estuarine Teignmouth mussels) were placed individually into 1 L PVC experimental chambers containing 300 ml of seawater at 34.05 (±0.19) ppt, maintained at 15.93 (±0.96) °C with continuous aeration. One experimental chamber also contained a salinity probe (Hach HQ 40d Digital Multi Meter with an Intellical CDC401 digital conductivity probe). Mussels were left undisturbed for 30 minutes after handling, to allow normal gaping behaviour to resume, before

recording of gaping, salinity and temperature commenced. Gaping was recorded using hall sensors every second for each mussel, and salinity and temperature were recorded every 10 seconds. After 10 minutes of recording normal gape behaviour of mussels under control sea water conditions, a peristaltic pump was used to pump 0 ppt reverse osmosis (RO) water at a steady rate (determined by the salinity regime) into each of the pots, with mixing ensured by aeration. Salinity was dropped from the initial $34.05 (\pm 0.19)$ ppt to $18.05 (\pm 0.68)$ ppt over a range of time periods (6, 4.5, 3, 1.5 hours, and 45 minutes), as shown in Figure 10c. A repeated measures design was used, with each mussel exposed to and measured under each salinity ramping regime, with at least 24 hours to recover from one experiment before being exposed to the next regime. As a result of the increasing total volume of water as RO was added, the salinity drop was not linear (see Figure 10c), but the five time periods corresponded to a mean rate of change of 2.67, 3.56, 5.33, 10.67, and 21.33 ppt/hour respectively. Following the salinity drop, gaping was recorded for a further 20 minutes at the final experimental salinity 18.05 (±0.68) ppt.

For the experiments conducted with the Teignmouth mussels, the osmolality of the pallial fluid was also measured. At the end of each experiment, mussels were removed from the water and then dried thoroughly before the shell was opened slightly by gently inserting a scalpel opposite the hinge and twisting to push the valves apart, allowing the pallial fluid to drain. These samples were collected and frozen. Osmolality of the samples was measured using an osmometer (Wescor 5520 Vapor Pressure Osmometer) and compared against a standard curve for samples at known salinities and osmolalities, to obtain the salinity of each sample.

To test for linearity of the voltage recorded by the hall sensors across the range of gaping measured, at the end of the experiments using Teignmouth mussels, the adductor muscle was cut, and voltage was recorded at fixed points, using wedges of increasing known thickness that were placed between the shell valves opposite the hinge.

b) Combined gaping, heart rate and oxygen consumption

In a separate set of experiments, coastal and estuarine mussels from Teignmouth were used to examine the impacts of reduced salinity on heart rate and metabolic rate, related to gaping behaviour. Hall sensors and magnets were attached to opposite shell valves with araldite rapid adhesive as previously described, in addition to heart rate sensors (Vishay CNY70 infrared sensors, connected to ElectricBlue Pulse V2 heart rate monitor), which were adhered on the dorsal side of the shell near the hinge, directly above the heart (see Figure 11b).

During this trial, 6 mussels were placed singly into watertight 800 ml jars (Scott duran) with hall sensors, HR sensors and also an oxygen probe (OXROB10; connected to a 4 channel FireSting® - O2 meter) fitted through IP68 rated cable glands, with two of the jars also containing an additional temperature probe (pt100; FireSting®), as shown in Figure 11. Additionally, each jar contained a small magnetic stir bar, and was placed on a stir plate for the duration of experiments to ensure constant mixing. Mussels were suspended in the upper section of the jar, preventing the magnetic field of the stir plate from interfering with hall sensor measurements (see Figure 11a). Jars were filled with 35.09 (±0.04) ppt salinity water, when fully submerged, ensuring no air bubbles were trapped, before being placed on the stir plates. Following sealing inside the jars, mussels were given 30 minutes of recovery time before data was recorded for a



Figure 11: a) Diagram showing the experimental setup for each mussel. 1) Gaping recorded by a hall sensor running on an Arduino; 2) Cardiac frequency logged by ElectricBlue Pulse V2, beats identified in R to calculate beats per minute (bpm); 3) Oxygen measured by OXROB10 probe, converted to metabolic rate using formula (see text); 4) Temperature logged by pt100 probe. b) Photograph of a hall sensor and heart rate sensor adhered to a mussel.

period of three hours. Oxygen consumption, gape and temperature were recorded every second, whereas cardiac frequency (HR) was measured 10 times a second. Oxygen concentration was also measured in one additional jar, not containing a mussel, as a blank. This was repeated with the same mussels at

salinities of 27 (\pm 0.08) ppt and 19 (\pm 0.05) ppt. At the end of experiments, mussel tissue was removed from the shell and weighed to obtain the wet tissue weight.

Data analysis

a) Mussel gape behaviour

The correlation between voltage and gape distance was calculated independently for each sensor, with some sensors having increasing voltages and others decreasing as gape increased. Based on this, the correlation could be either positive or negative, so absolute values (without a sign) of these correlations were used to calculate a mean correlation. The percentage gape of the shell valves was subsequently calculated by using the minimum and maximum gape in voltage for each mussel, across the experiments, and converting this to a percentage representing 0% and 100% gape respectively. In order to allow for comparison between salinity regimes and individuals, a threshold of 20% was chosen below which mussels were considered to be closed, a value which has previously been used to represent closure in several bivalve studies (Ballesta-Artero et al., 2017; Jou et al., 2013; Miller & Dowd, 2017), and below which in this experiment mussel valve gape behaviour appeared stable, indicative of a closed steady state (see Figure 12).

Data was analysed using R studio (RStudio Team, 2020). The sensitivity and range of the sensor recordings varied, potentially influenced by factors such as sensor and magnet placement, as well as mussel size. As a result of this, some sensors gave a reading which fluctuated above the 20% threshold, despite the mean value being well below. In order to account for these differences, a 60 second rolling mean was calculated for the gape of every mussel using the rollmean function from the zoo package (Zeileis & Grothendieck, 2005). As mussels were observed to intermittently close, or partially close, their valves for short periods as part of their normal behaviour in full salinity sea water, the salinity at which mussels closed was measured as the point where the rolling mean of the gape drops below 20% and remains below 20% for the remainder of the experiment. This allowed the closure response of the mussels to be compared between salinity regimes and location of origin.

Statistical analysis was conducted on the mussels which closed during the experiments. One outlier was removed from the closure dataset where an Exmouth mussel closed permanently at an unusually high salinity (32.4 ppt) in

the 1.5 hour regime. A Shapiro Wilk test found that the closure salinities had a normal distribution (W=0.98, n=87, p=0.14), and a Levene test to check the homogeneity of variance found that there was no significant difference in the variance between the regimes (F=0.50, n=87, p=0.73), and also between the locations (F=0.17, n=87, p=0.85). A permutational anova (permanova) was calculated to model the effects of regime and location on the closure salinity.

For analysis of the pallial fluid salinity, one outlier was removed from the 45minute regime where the retained pallial fluid salinity of a coastal mussel was unusually low (18.79 ppt), with gape appearing to increase but remaining below 20% suggesting the pallial fluid may not have remained isolated. A Shapiro Wilk test found that the pallial fluid salinity was normally distributed (W=0.98, n=57, p=0.30) and a Levene test found no significant difference in the variances between either regimes (F=1.73, n=57, p=0.16) or locations (F=0.09, n=57, p=0.77), so parametric tests were used. A permanova was calculated to model the effect of regime and location on the pallial fluid salinity.

A Pearson's Product-moment correlation test was used to see if there was a relationship between the closure salinity (measured via gape) and the retained pallial fluid salinity. In addition, a paired t-test was used to see if there was a significant difference between pallial fluid salinity and closure salinity. The difference between pallial fluid salinity and closure salinity was calculated (referred to as pallial-closure interval hereafter), and a Shapiro Wilk test found the data to be normally distributed (W=0.98, n=57, p=0.34), and there was no significant difference found in variance by a Levene test between either regimes (F=0.77, n=57, p=0.55) or locations (F=0.07, n=57, p=0.79). A permanova was calculated to model the effect of location and regime on the pallial-closure interval.

b) Combined gaping, heart rate and oxygen consumption

Gaping data was converted to percent gape and a 60-second rolling mean was calculated using the same method as described above.

For the heart rate data, beats per minute (bpm) was calculated from the cardiac frequency by using the stat_valleys function from the ggpmisc package to find the repeating patterns in the data (see Figure 11a). The heart beats were marked and visually examined, and parameters of the function were adjusted accordingly. The

intervals in between beats were calculated in seconds, and the formula 60÷interval time was used to calculate the bpm. The rolling mean of the heart rate was also calculated using the rollmean function from the zoo package (Zeileis & Grothendieck, 2005).

The solubility value of oxygen in seawater was determined based on the temperature and salinity, using an algorithm derived from Green and Carritt (1967). Metabolic rate was calculated using the formula:

O2 Consumption Rate (MO2; µmol/g/hour) =

(Δ [O₂] (µmol/l) x Chamber Volume (I)) / (Body Mass (g) x Time period (h))

Metabolic rate was calculated based on the initial and final oxygen measurements across one-minute intervals within the total time period, and additionally during five-minute intervals for data smoothing. The overall metabolic rate for the whole three-hour measurement period was also calculated. The difference in oxygen in the blank experimental chamber during each of these measurement intervals was subtracted from the change in oxygen measurement in mussel experimental chambers, to account for background respiration. Metabolic rate was calculated based on the wet tissue mass of each animal.

A Student's t-test was used to compare the overall mean gape between salinities, and an LMM was used for both overall mean HR and MR between salinities, accounting for the mussel as an interacting variable and followed by pairwise comparisons.

Results

a) Mussel gape behaviour

General gape behaviour

The general gaping behaviour of mussels is shown in Figure 12, where percentage gape of a mussel is presented during each of the salinity regimes. It can be seen that individual mussels always close their shell valves at a similar salinity, with the pallial fluid being isolated from the external medium prior to this point. Many of the mussels exhibited "flapping" behaviour prior to the final closure (Figure 12a and c), where valves rapidly close, either partially or fully, and then reopen. This did not appear to be dependent on salinity regime, but some individuals were observed to conduct this behaviour more frequently.





Figure 12: Line graphs showing the gape of a coastal Teignmouth mussel over time during a salinity decline from 34 ppt to 18 ppt. Bottom blue line shows the percentage gape recorded by hall sensors in dark blue, overlayed by the 60-second rolling mean of the gape in light blue. Top line shows the water salinity. Pink dotted line shows the salinity of the pallial fluid retained inside the mussel. Green dotted line shows the point at which the valve gape dropped below 20% and remained closed. Each graph shows a different period of salinity decline: a) 45 minutes, b) 1.5 hours, c) 3 hours, d) 4.5 hours, e) 6 hours.

Mussels rarely closed below 20% gape prior to final closure, and when they did this was typically for a short period of time. In the vast majority of cases (95%), mussels reached a salinity at which they shut their valves below 20% gape, and remained closed for the remainder of the exposure. The exceptions to this were as follows: one coastal mussel which closed during the 45 minute regime, but then reopened to around 56% gape during the 20 minute period after the salinity stopped dropping; a separate coastal mussel which did not close during the 3 hour regime, and gradually reopened after closing in the 1.5 hour regime; and one coastal mussel which opened slightly above 20% after closing in the 45 minute regime. In all three cases where the mussel closed for an extended period and then reopened, the salinity at which this closure period began was taken as the closure salinity for analysis. However, as reopening likely resulted in

exchange of pallial fluid with external seawater, data from these instances was not used in analysis. Exclusion of this data was further supported by the fact that these three points were the only outliers when plotting all data. In the single case where the mussel did not close, this data could not be included in any analysis.

Salinity at valve closure

A two-way permanova found no interaction between the regime and location (Pseudo-F=1.586, df=8, p=0.144). The mean salinity at which mussels closed was found to be 21.00 (\pm 1.43) ppt, and whilst this value was slightly higher when the rate of salinity decline was slower (Figure 13), the permanova found no significant effect of salinity ramping rate on the salinity at valve closure (Pseudo-F=1.415, df=4, p=0.240).



Figure 13: Boxplots and density plots showing the water salinity at the point at which mussels closed and remained below 20% in the different salinity drop regimes. Letters indicate a lack of significant difference between the regimes.

Conversely, as illustrated in Figure 14, the permanova found a significant difference in the salinity at which mussels from different populations were shown to close (Pseudo-F=5.118, df=2, p=0.007). Pairwise comparisons following the permanova demonstrated that whilst there was a significant difference between the salinity of closure between mussels from the Exmouth and coastal Teignmouth site (t=3.142, n=27, p=0.005), and between the coastal and estuarine Teignmouth sites (t=2.257, n=29, p=0.027), there was no significant difference between mussels from the Exmouth and estuarine Teignmouth sites (t=1.053, n=27, p=0.296). Exmouth mussels were shown to have a slightly higher mean



closure salinity of 21.54 (\pm 1.31) ppt, whereas the closures for Teignmouth estuarine and coastal were 21.12 (\pm 1.29) ppt and 20.41 (\pm 1.48) ppt respectively.

Figure 14: Boxplots and density plots showing the water salinity at the point at which mussels closed and remained below 20% in mussels collected from the coastal and estuarine Teignmouth sites, and coastal Exmouth site, when salinity was dropped from 34 ppt to 18 ppt. Different letters indicate a significant difference by pairwise comparison.

Salinity of retained pallial fluid

A permanova found no interaction between regime and location (Pseudo-F=0.281, df=4, p=0.875). The mean salinity of the retained pallial fluid was found to be 24.51 (\pm 1.82) ppt. The permanova found that this was significantly affected by the regime of salinity change (Pseudo-F=6.850, df=4, p=0.002), as shown in Figure 16, with pairwise comparisons finding that the 45 minute and 1.5 hour regimes were significantly different to all other regimes, but there were no significant differences between the 3 hour, 4.5 hour and 6 hour regimes (see table 4). The means for each regime were as follows: 45 minutes = 26.44 (\pm 1.36) ppt, 1.5 hours = 24.90 (\pm 0.98) ppt, 3 hours = 23.86 (\pm 1.36) ppt, 4.5 hours = 23.69 (\pm 1.74) ppt, 6 hours = 23.48 (\pm 2.07) ppt. The permanova also found that population significantly affected the salinity of retained pallial fluid at closure (Pseudo-F=12.035, df=1, p=0.004), as shown in Figure 15, with the estuarine mussels having a significantly higher pallial fluid salinity (estuarine = 25.29 (\pm 1.63) ppt, coastal = 23.70 (\pm 1.68) ppt). The retained pallial fluid was maintained consistently at a higher salinity than the minimum salinity of 18 ppt reached by



the external seawater during the experiment, with the lowest pallial fluid salinity recorded being 19.47 ppt.

Figure 16: Boxplots and density plots showing the salinity of the pallial fluid retained by mussels in the different salinity regime time periods of declining sea water from 34 ppt to 18 ppt. Different letters indicate a significant difference by pairwise comparison.



Figure 15: Boxplots and density plots showing the salinity of the pallial fluid retained by mussels collected from the coastal and estuarine Teignmouth sites when salinity was dropped from 34 ppt to 18 ppt. Different letters indicate a significant difference by pairwise comparison.

Comparing closure salinity and pallial fluid salinity

A permanova comparing the pallial-closure interval found no interaction between the regime and location (Pseudo-F=0.970, df=4, p=0.456). Figure 17 shows that

pallial fluid salinity was significantly higher than the salinity at valve closure (paired t-test, t=-14.218, df=56, p= 2.2×10^{-16}). There was also a significant weak correlation of 0.30 between the two (Pearson's Product-moment correlation, t=2.300, df=55, p=0.025). The mean difference between the pallial fluid and the closure salinity was 3.66 (±1.95) ppt. The pallial fluid salinity was higher than the closure salinity in all but one case, and this outlier is not shown in the figures.



Figure 17: Boxplots and density plots showing the salinity at valve closure below 20% compared to the pallial fluid retained by mussels when salinity was dropped from 34 ppt to 18 ppt. Different letters indicate a significant difference by pairwise comparison.

The permanova found significant differences in the pallial-closure interval between regimes (Pseudo-F=21.266, df=4, p=0.001), with pairwise comparisons finding the 45 minute and 1.5 hour regimes to be significantly different to all other regimes, but no differences found between the 3, 4.5 and 6 hour regimes (see table 4). As shown in Figure 19, the 45 minute regime had the highest pallial-closure interval at 5.23 (\pm 1.49) ppt, followed by the 1.5 hour regime at 4.69 (\pm 0.67) ppt, the 3 hour regime at 2.89 (\pm 1.35) ppt, the 4.5 hour regime at 2.64 (\pm 1.02) ppt, and the 6 hour regime at 1.88 (\pm 1.58) ppt. In addition, no significant difference was found in the pallial-closure interval between the two locations (Pseudo-F=3.157, df=1, p<0.078). The estuarine site had a mean pallial-closure interval of 4.16 (\pm 1.78) ppt, and the coastal site had a mean pallial-closure interval of 3.15 (\pm 2.01) ppt, as shown in Figure 18.



Figure 18: Boxplots and density plots showing the difference between the salinity of pallial fluid and the salinity of the external water at valve closure compared between the salinity regime time periods. Different letters indicate a significant difference between groups.



Figure 19: Boxplots and density plots showing the difference between the salinity of pallial fluid and the salinity of the external water at valve closure compared between the two locations. Different letters indicate a significant difference between groups.

b) Combined gaping, heart rate and oxygen consumption

Several technical issues with sensors resulted in less combined parameter (HR, MR and gape) data being recorded for than originally intended. Gape was recorded in 5 mussels exposed to 35 and 27 ppt, whereas HR and MR were recorded for 6 mussels in 35 and 27 ppt, and 5 mussels in 19 ppt.
Table 4: Results of a permanova showing pairwise comparisons between both pallial fluid salinity and the pallial-closure interval for each of the salinity regime time periods. 0.75 represents the 45 minute regime, and asterisks show the significance level.

Regime pairwise comparison	Pallial fluid salinity n=57		Pallial-closure interval n=57	
	t value	p value	t value	p value
1.5*0.75	3.325	0.003 **	2.582	0.016 *
3*0.75	4.358	0.001 ***	5.243	0.001 ***
4.5*0.75	3.703	0.003 **	4.438	0.003 **
6*0.75	3.905	0.001 ***	6.699	0.001 ***
3*1.5	2.384	0.025 *	4.854	0.001 ***
4.5*1.5	2.322	0.039 *	5.282	0.001 ***
6*1.5	2.186	0.046 *	7.569	0.001 ***
4.5*3	0.268	0.784	0.561	0.578
6*3	0.115	0.916	1.674	0.101
6*4.5	0.147	0.878	0.811	0.443

Gape

A Welch two sample t-test found no significant difference in the gape between 27 and 35 ppt (t=-0.603, df=7.607, p=0.564), with mean percentage gape of 57.57 (\pm 18.27) % in 27 ppt and 51.28 (\pm 14.50) % in 35 ppt, as shown in Figure 20. Gape was highly variable throughout the measurement period in both 35 ppt and 27 ppt, with mussels still frequently showing opening and closing behaviour even in full salinity sea water.



Figure 20: Boxplots and density plots showing the overall mean gape of mussels exposed to 27 ppt and 35 ppt for 3 hours. Letters represent a lack of significant difference between salinities.

Heart rate

An LMM followed by pairwise comparisons found significant differences between HR in all three salinities (between 19 and 27 ppt, z=2.380, n=5 p=0.031; between 27 and 35ppt, z=2.417, n=6, p=0.031; between 19 and 35 ppt, z=4.678, n=5, p=8.71x10⁻⁶). The mean HR was 18.58 (±1.43) bpm at 35 ppt, 15.78 (±0.56) bpm at 27 ppt, and 12.11 (±3.95) bpm at 19 ppt. There was a clear decrease in HR in the lower salinities (Figure 21), and additionally patterns were observed in which prolonged valve closure resulted in a clear reduction in heart rate. In Figure 23, a mussel exposed to 35 ppt closed below 20% gape twice during the measurement period. At around 56 minutes, the valve closes for 27.65 minutes, and around 14 minutes into this closure period the HR begins to drop rapidly from 21.75 bpm down to a minimum of 12.91 bpm. Later at about 132 minutes, the valve closes for 16.06 minutes, and 6.69 minutes into this period the HR drops from 22.21bpm down to a minimum of 14.78 bpm.



Figure 21: Boxplots and density plots showing the overall mean heart rate of mussels exposed to 19 ppt, 27 ppt and 35 ppt for 3 hours. Different letters indicate significant differences between salinities.

Metabolic rate

An LMM followed by pairwise comparisons found the 27 ppt and 19 ppt treatments to be significantly different (z=2.887, n=5, p=0.0117), but there was no significant difference between 27 ppt and 35 ppt (z=-2.176, n=6, p=0.0591), or between 19 ppt and 35 ppt (z=0.855, n=5, p=0.393) as shown in Figure 22. The mean MR was 3.88 (\pm 1.58) µmol/g/hour at 35 ppt, 4.79 (\pm 2.14) µmol/g/hour

at 27 ppt, and 2.91 (\pm 2.01) μ mol/g/hour at 19 ppt. MR was typically relatively consistent throughout the measurement periods with some fluctuation, and did not appear to increase or decrease during the experiments. However, where atypically large spikes in the MR occurred, these appear to closely correspond to rapid valve closures (see Figure 23).



Figure 22: Boxplots and density plots showing the overall mean metabolic rate of mussels exposed to 19 ppt, 27 ppt and 35 ppt for 3 hours. Different letters indicate significant differences between salinities.

Discussion

a) Mussel gape behaviour

In 95% of trials across all salinity regimes (n=84), the mussels reached a point at which they closed and remained closed in response to falling salinity. This illustrates that mussel gape behaviour is tightly linked to the salinity of its surroundings, an expected response from an osmoconformer.

The mean salinity at shell valve closure of 21 ppt, and retained pallial fluid salinity of 24.51 ppt, were similar to those previously recorded by Davenport (1979), who found that *Mytilus edulis* closed its shell valves at 20.2 (\pm 3.7) ppt and had retained pallial fluid at a salinity of 25.8 (\pm 1.3) ppt when exposed to a 60 minute salinity decline from 33.5 ppt to 0 ppt. In addition, these results also support Davenport's finding that faster rates of salinity change resulted in a higher retained mantle fluid salinity, as the 45 minute salinity decline had the highest pallial fluid. It is also worth noting that Davenport used some much quicker rates of salinity change



Figure 23: Line graphs showing valve gape measured with hall sensors overlayed with the 60

(3.75 minutes from 35.5 to 0 ppt), and therefore we may have observed even higher retained pallial fluid salinities if we too had examined equivalent rates of salinity change. However, although Figure 13 shows a slight increase in the

closure salinity as the rate decreased, there were no significant differences between the groups, unlike the Davenport study where a significantly higher closure salinity was demonstrated during the slower rates of salinity change.

Davenport suggested that the differences in the salinity of the retained pallial fluid and at closure are a result of the closure of the exhalant siphon, and thus ceasing of water exchange between pallial fluid and the external medium, which he observed to occur prior to the valve adduction. He also found that the oxygen tension inside mussels was found to be significantly higher in slower rates of salinity change, which suggests that allowing the shell to remain open allows for some diffusion of oxygen through the exposed mantle, whilst closing the exhalant siphon gives the mussel some protection from osmotic stress, and additionally allows for better salinity sensing by osmoreceptors on the inhalant siphon, so any improvement in conditions can be sensed. The salinity of retained pallial fluid recorded in our study was always higher than the minimum salinity of the external seawater during exposure, suggesting that in all cases, the reduced salinity caused the exhalant siphon to close.

Mussels collected in the coastal Teignmouth site had a significantly lower closure salinity than the mussels collected from the Exmouth or estuarine Teignmouth site. As we do not have in-situ measurements of the water conditions at the sites, it is possible that a variation in salinity between the sites is responsible for a differing adaptation in response to osmotic stress. Teignmouth is a partially mixed estuary, which means that during periods of low tide, estuarine mussels are likely to be exposed to reduced salinities as a result of the freshwater river influx. The estuarine mussels had a significantly higher retained pallial fluid salinity than the coastal mussels, which suggests that the earlier closure of the exhalant siphon could be a local adaptation which helps these estuarine mussels deal with lowered salinities. However, the Exmouth mussels had the highest closure salinity of all despite being the furthest site from an estuary, suggesting that this population may actually cope better with salinity changes.

There was a weak but significant correlation between closure salinity and pallial fluid salinity. There are instances where the retained pallial fluid salinity seems to clearly correspond to a small closure prior to the permanent closure of valves, suggesting that although the valves reopened after this point, the exhalant siphon remained shut (see Figure 12e). Additionally, on the three occasions in which the

valves reopened at the lowest salinity, pallial fluid was retained from just before or during their closure prior to reopening. However, this is certainly not the case for all mussels, and there are other occurrences where the pallial fluid has been retained at a point when valve gape is relatively high, and not near a flapping event (see Figure 12b). During each experimental trial (with 8 experimental chambers), only a single experimental chamber contained a salinity probe. Whilst all chambers were fed by a single RO source for dilution, at a standardised rate controlled by the same peristaltic pump, meaning salinity should have been the same in each chamber, a very small level of variation (standard deviation 0.68 ppt) was measured across the final salinities achieved in each chamber. This means that the pallial fluid may have on occasion been retained at a slightly different salinity to that calculated based on the corresponding time of exposure.

The difference between the salinity of the pallial fluid and the salinity at valve closure (pallial-closure interval) was different between most regimes, and showed a general trend of a greater pallial-closure interval at faster rates of salinity change, as shown in Figure 19. This to some extent explains the fact that there was only a weak correlation between pallial fluid and closure salinity, as it illustrates that they were not directly proportional to each other. The fact that pallial-closure interval was greatest in the shortest regime suggests that when the mussel senses a rapid salinity decline, it closes its exhalant siphon early, but the valves continue to remain open until an external salinity of 21 ppt is reached. This mechanism may protect the internal structures of the mussel from osmotic stress, but also allows easy sensing of salinity by the osmoreceptors on the inhalant siphon, so that it can quickly be detected if salinity returns to favourable levels.

The pallial-closure interval was not significantly different between the two locations, which may suggest that environmental salinity does not affect how quickly valve closure occurs after siphon closure.

This study only examined the effects of an acute salinity change on valve closure, and it is likely that if the mussels had remained in 18 ppt water for a prolonged period, the valves would have begun to reopen. In a separate study, where animals were exposed to a continuous 5-day exposure to reduced salinity, mussels exposed to 20 psu were found to remain closed for the first day of exposure, and then reopen for the remaining four days, whereas mussels maintained at 5 or 10 psu remained closed for the whole 5-day period (Addis et al., 2021).

Many mussels showed flapping behaviours of rapid opening and closing, although this did not seem to be linked to salinity. Flapping has previously been shown to increase in bivalves in response to toxic dinoflagellates (Basti et al., 2009; Comeau et al., 2019; Nagai et al., 2006; Tran et al., 2010), copper (Curtis et al., 2000), oil dispersants (Durier et al., 2021) and diesel (Guterres et al., 2020). Additionally, it is one of the parameters measured by the Mosselmonitor® as an indicator of pollution (Barile et al., 2016). However, salinity does not appear to be a factor which affects flapping, with this behaviour still visible even during the static exposure to 35 ppt. Thus, further investigation is required to determine the interindividual variability of this behaviour, with any difference in the propensity of individuals to display flapping, even under control conditions, having major implications for the use of this parameter as a measure of contaminant exposure, or stress.

In this study, below 20% valve gape was considered to be closed, a threshold which has been used in several other studies measuring gape of bivalves with hall sensors (Ballesta-Artero et al., 2017; Jou et al., 2013; Miller & Dowd, 2017). The differences in sensor range variance meant that some sensors recorded gaping in greater levels of detail than others. Whilst this was standardised somewhat by the use of rolling mean gape to find the point at which valves dropped below 20%, some sensors show variations in valve movement below 20%, suggesting the valves are not always completely closed at this point.

b) Combined gaping, heart rate and oxygen consumption

As a result of the technical issues, sample sizes for this experiment were relatively small. Whilst statistical analyses of this data is included to aid with comparisons, the results should be interpreted with caution given the low sample size. Mean gape was highly variable at both 27 and 35 ppt, which is unsurprising given that mussels naturally alter their valve gape even in optimal conditions. Additionally, there was no significant difference between the average gape in 27 ppt and 35 ppt. Given that the gape behaviour experiments showed that the mean salinity of osmotic stress-induced valve closure is 21 ppt, it is not surprising that valve gape was similar between the much higher salinities of 27 and 35 ppt. Whilst gaping data failed to record for 19 ppt, given that MR was lower in this

salinity, and this is below the mean closure point, it is likely that the mean gape would have also been lower at this salinity.

Salinity had a clear effect on HR, with Figure 21 showing a decrease in HR as salinity decreased. This supports previous studies which have also found that Mytilus HR decreases with decreasing salinities (Bakhmet et al., 2005; Braby & Somero, 2006b; Stickle & Sabourin, 1979). When exposing M. galloprovincialis to different concentrations of copper, Shen and Nugegoda (2022) also found that there was a significant correlation between gape and HR, with HR beginning to decrease about 4-8 minutes after gape dropped below 40%. This relationship was also found in a previous study into the effect of copper on HR and gape (Curtis et al., 2000). Whilst previously there was no explanation for mussel bradycardia (Bakhmet & Khalaman, 2006), by pairing HR measurements with that of valve movement, the above studies have provided an insight into the strong association between HR and gape behaviour. This is supported by our data, which shows a similar effect of a sharp decrease in HR following a valve closure, after a short delay. There is still a very limited number of studies which measure HR in tandem with other physiological parameters, and future studies should make use of modern technology to measure multiple endpoints concurrently to provide the best understanding of overall animal functioning.

Metabolic rate seemed to be fairly consistent across the three-hour measurement period in all salinities. Figure 22 shows that MR was significantly different between 19 ppt and 27 ppt. Given that both 27 ppt and 35 ppt are above the mean salinity at which pallial fluid is retained and the exhalant siphon is assumed to have shut (24.51 ppt), it would be expected that filtration and therefore consumption of oxygen would have continued at these salinities. It is somewhat surprising that there was no difference in MR between 19 ppt and 35 ppt, although this can likely be explained by the low sample sizes. In Figure 23a, unusual spikes in the metabolic rate can be seen in the 35 ppt exposure, which seem to closely link to the closure of the valves. One possible explanation for this is that the oxygen probe was in very close proximity to the mussel, so that when the mussel shut it forced some of its partially deoxygenated pallial fluid directly over the sensor, causing a sudden drop in oxygen partial pressure, which was subsequently rapidly dispersed by mixing.

80

Future research

Whilst Davenport provides an interesting insight into the comparisons between valve and exhalant siphon closure, that study was limited by the lack of available technology at the time, with visual observation of siphon closure only offering a crude method of measurement. Few studies have since developed a method for directly recording exhalant siphon activity, with one study attempting to record this with hall sensors (Robson et al., 2009), and others with video cameras showing that exhalant siphon area decreases when water velocity is increased (Newell et al., 2001), and increases when algal concentration increases (Maire et al., 2007). Gape and exhalant siphon area have been compared in the freshwater mussel Anodonta anatina, and this suggested that measurement of siphon area gives a guicker response time than with valve movement, relating to the fact that the siphon begins to close before the valves (Escobar-Calderón et al., 2022). This appears to be the only study in recent years which has compared these two measurements, and the technological advancements mean that such investigations are now easier to conduct. This should be utilised with further comparisons of valve gape to exhalant siphon closure under changing salinity in order to determine how these two factors are connected.

Hall sensors give us a valuable understanding of gaping behaviour, but in order for assumptions to be made about the effects of certain valve closures on overall mussel functioning, we must first know how this behaviour is related to other aspects of physiology. This will allow us to gain a greater understanding of the effects of environmental change on the whole organism physiology and functioning of mussels. Additionally, this understanding will allow us to better interpret data from technologies like the Mosselmonitor and MolluSCAN eye which allow us to measure these parameters in situ (Andrade et al., 2016; Barile et al., 2016), creating smart farming solutions to advance aquaculture, and additionally generate better methods for monitoring the impact of climate change.

Conclusion

To summarise, this chapter has found that a declining salinity induces shell valve closure at 21 ppt, and this is not affected by the rate of salinity decline. In contrast, the salinity of the pallial fluid retained by the mussel is higher in faster salinity declines, and this retained pallial fluid has a higher salinity than that at which the shell valves adduct (24.51 ppt). Salinity was found to have a significant effect on

heart rate, which was greatly reduced at lower salinities, and MR was also lower at 19 ppt than at 27 ppt. Additionally, HR was found to be closely linked to gape, with periods of closure being associated with bradycardia. Whilst mussels are a group which have extensively been studied, the fundamental physiological effects of salinity induced closures are still little understood. Gaining this knowledge is of great importance to allow us to better understand how mussels living in already highly changeable environments, like estuaries, will cope with climate change.

Overall Discussion

Current state of the research field, and aims of this thesis

The aim of this thesis was to explore the effects of acute salinity changes on Mytilus mussels, both in terms of their physiology, but also their shell valve gaping behaviour. Additionally, it aimed to examine if there were differences in these traits between mussels living in an estuarine site, with variable salinity conditions, and mussels living in a coastal site, with a consistently high salinity. These different sites were also compared in terms of the genetic composition of the mussels, in order to determine if salinity may affect the distribution. Prior to this work, it had been hypothesised that the distribution of hybrid mussels may be to some extent governed by environmental conditions, with M. edulis having a greater abundance in sheltered estuarine sites, and *M. galloprovincialis* having a greater abundance at exposed coastal sites (Gardner, 1996). Despite this, few studies have actually examined the physiological and genetic differences simultaneously for mussels from coastal and estuarine sites within a hybrid zone (Gardner & Thompson, 2001), and to our knowledge this comparison has not yet been made in the Southwest UK hybrid zone. Our study therefore sought to make this novel comparison, the results of which would have implications for predicting future distribution shifts as a result of the many changes the ocean is predicted to undergo due to climate change.

The ability for bivalves to adduct their valves in response to unfavourable conditions is one that has been studied to some extent, but there is limited research examining this effect in response to salinity (Addis et al., 2021; Davenport, 1979). However, many physiological traits are largely modified by this closure behaviour, given that it prevents mussels from consuming oxygen, filter feeding, and expelling waste. Recent technological advancement, like the use of magnetic hall sensors to measure gape (Robson et al., 2007), has allowed for a more detailed examination of this behaviour, but only a few studies to date have measured gaping behaviour simultaneously with physiological traits (Lassoued et al., 2019; Shen & Nugegoda, 2022). Additionally, gaping behaviour and physiological endpoints have not yet been measured simultaneously in response to salinity change, despite the fact that we know that low salinity causes valve adduction (Davenport, 1979), which is likely to have a significant effect on

physiology. By making this comparison, we are able to understand the mechanisms behind mussel response to a sudden decline in salinity, the frequency of which is likely to be increasing in the coming years as a result of climate change (IPCC et al., 2021).

General findings

In chapter two, it was found that MR varies significantly with salinity over acute exposures, with a low salinity resulting in a lower MR. However, no difference was found in the MR originating from coastal, lower estuarine or upper estuarine sites. Additionally, genetic analysis using a novel custom designed 60k mussel SNP array found that whilst coastal and lower estuarine mussels were almost entirely *M. edulis*, the upper estuarine population consisted of individuals with higher *M. galloprovincialis* ancestry. This contrasts previous analyses, which found that mussels in the Tamar estuary were almost entirely *M. edulis*, whereas the nearby coastal site was dominated by hybrids (Hilbish et al., 2003).

During experiments for chapter 2, observations showed that in the lowest salinity of 19 ppt, mussels appeared to be closed when the final oxygen reading was taken. As a result of this, it became apparent that valve gape is a key determinant of MR, as short-term stress frequently results in valve closure, subsequently preventing oxygen consumption. As gape was not measured in this experiment, it is difficult to uncouple the physiological response of a reduction in MR from the behavioural response of valve closure. It is possible that all reductions in MR at the lower salinities were the result of partial or complete valve closure, and therefore it is difficult to tell to what degree the response was behavioural or physiological. This helped guide the direction for chapter three to also examine the behavioural response to low salinity.

In the third chapter, a novel hall sensor system was designed and constructed that enabled recording of the valve gape of mussels in response to declining salinity. It was found that *M. edulis* close their shells at 21 ppt in response to an acute decline in salinity over several different rates of change. In addition, it was found that the salinity of the pallial fluid retained inside the shell was higher when the rate of salinity decline was faster. Pallial fluid is assumed to be retained at the point that exhalant siphons stop pumping, preventing the exchange of water with the external environment, and additionally the salinity of this retained fluid has been found to remain stable over time (Davenport, 1979). This means that the

salinity of the pallial fluid can indicate the salinity at which the exhalant siphon closed, and therefore these results suggest that mussels react to a rapid change in salinity by closing their exhalant siphon, thereby allowing their internal environment to remain slightly hyperosmotic to the surroundings. When *Ostrea edulis* were exposed to a salinity decline, it was found that they had closed their valves by 20.5 ppt, suggesting that oysters have a very similar salinity closure response to mussels (Bamber, 2023).

Additionally, this chapter investigated the combined measurements of gape, HR and MR in response to different salinities. It was found that HR is lower in reduced salinities, and MR was significantly lower at 19 ppt than at 27 ppt. MR was slightly higher in chapter 3 than at the same salinities in chapter 2, likely as a result of slightly elevated water temperatures being used in this subsequent experiment. Gape did not vary significantly between 27 ppt and 35 ppt, likely due to being above the salinity determined to induce valve closure (21 ppt). However, HR and gape were found to be closely linked, with a drop in HR occurring during a sustained valve closure. This illustrates the close linkage between physiology and behaviour.

In both data chapters, reduced MRs were shown at lower salinities. Whilst many other studies suggest that MR increases at reduced salinities, this is likely because these studies expose mussels to a reduced salinity over an extended time period (Hamer et al., 2008). In this study, reduced MR was likely a result of valve closure, which protected the internal tissues of the mussel from osmotic stress by isolating it from the external water. This illustrates the differing responses to acute and chronic salinity changes, which are likely to be relevant to different scenarios of future salinity change induced by climate change. Abrupt changes, like increased precipitation and flash flooding, are likely to elicit sudden acute changes in salinity which are likely to induce a behavioural response, causing mussels to close their valves, offering short term protection, but a response that is unsustainable during chronic exposures due to isolation of the mussel from the external environment, resulting in mortality (Addis et al., 2021). On the other hand, chronic changes to salinity caused by ocean freshening, for example in the Baltic Sea, are likely to cause an increase in MR due to the greater energetic costs associated with low salinities (Freitas et al., 2017).

85

In these studies, several different forms of salinity regime were employed to simulate conditions experienced by mussels in estuaries. In reality, it is incredibly difficult to predict the salinity exposures which mussels face, given the many factors which can affect the fluctuations (see Figure 2). In the Tamar and Teign estuaries from which the mussels for these experiments were collected, partial mixing occurs. This means that in addition to the longitudinal salinity gradient from more saline conditions at the mouth of the estuary to more brackish in the upper estuary, there is also a gradient in which the water becomes more saline with depth. In addition to these factors, salinity varies across the tidal cycle, with greater saltwater input at high tide, and between spring and neap tides, with a larger saltwater intrusion in the estuary at spring tide (Uncles & Stephens, 2011). When combined with weather conditions, such as precipitation and wind force, in addition to the complexities of fluid dynamics, it is almost impossible to predict the salinity exposures mussel populations naturally experience, with such information only obtainable through long term in situ monitoring, which was beyond the scope of this study. However, the salinity regimes used represent a theoretical system within the range mussels are likely to experience in-situ, which allows us to understand the physiological and behavioural responses to salinity changes within a controlled environment. This knowledge can then be applied to in-situ experiments, which help us understand how these effects compare to what mussels actually experience. Studies like that of Domínguez et al. (2020), which use a variety of different salinity regimes which correspond to field measurements, are also an effective way to compare how differences in the salinity exposure regime may influence the response.

In the first experiments of this thesis, mussels were collected from Whitsand Bay in November 2021, a population which has been studied for decades (Bignell et al., 2011; Gilg & Hilbish, 2000; Hilbish et al., 1994; Schneider et al., 2005; Skibinski & Roderick, 1991), alongside samples from the Cremyll and Saltash populations of the Tamar estuary. However, upon return to the Whitsand site in September 2022, it was discovered that a mass mortality of these mussels had occurred (see Figure 24), necessitating a change in direction for the thesis. Mass mortalities have been occurring in increasing frequencies in recent years (Lupo et al., 2021), with repeated exposures to high aerial temperatures shown to increase risk of mortality (Seuront et al., 2019). In summer 2022 the UK experienced heatwaves which resulted in the highest temperatures on record,

with the Southwest reaching temperatures of up to 36 °C (Met Office, 2023). Given that three 6-hour exposures to 35 °C aerial exposure caused 100% mortality in experimental *M. edulis* (Seuront et al., 2019), it is likely that the heatwave temperatures in summer 2022 would have caused a significant amount of mortality. In addition, the bacteria *Francisella halioticida* has recently been identified for the first time in the UK within Tamar mussels (Cano et al., 2022), a species which has previously been associated with mass mortalities of abalone in Japan (Kamaishi et al., 2010), and has additionally been found to correlate with *Mytilus* mortality in France (Charles et al., 2020). It is therefore possible that this infection also contributed to the mussel mortality. Whilst assumptions can be made on the reasons behind the increasing mortality rate, regular large-scale surveying of mussel beds coupled with in-situ logging of environmental conditions with biomimetic loggers will be necessary to confirm a cause.





Figure 24: Images of the Whitsand Bay sampling site. a) shows the site on 04/11/21, with mussels visible in the bottom part of the image, and b) shows the site on 12/09/22, with mussels absent.

Future research

In order to be able to accurately predict the fate of marine organisms in a rapidly changing ocean, it is important to conduct experiments which expose them to multiple stressors to create the best reflection of real-life conditions. However, this is often logistically complex, and makes disentangling the variables to understand to what extent each is contributing to the response difficult. In a recent meta-analysis examining the stressors affecting *Mytilus* mortality, it was found that only 25% of studies investigated a combination of factors (Lupo et al., 2021). In the studies which did examine more than one stressor various interaction effects were found, with some studies finding synergistic effects on mortality, and others finding antagonistic effects. This suggests that only examining one stressor may not present the whole picture of how this might affect mussel

functioning when alongside the multitude of other stressors present in the natural environment. This is likely to play a key role in predicting risk factors for mass mortality events and implementing control measures to prevent this. However, there is still a role for single stressor studies, which are the best option for determining cause and effect of specific stressors, which can then be considered when examining these as part of the wider picture.

Additionally, future studies need to examine the impact of these stressors on multiple endpoints in order to gain the best understanding of how overall animal physiology, behaviour and health will be affected. In this thesis, it was shown that in the short-term response to acute salinity change, the valve gape behaviour greatly affected the physiology in terms of both the MR and the HR. This emphasises the importance of recording multiple parameters, as this ensures a comprehensive understanding of the holistic functioning of the organism. Whilst this study has provided a good foundation of knowledge on how gape may impact other physiological parameters, this area is still little understood. In future, this should be expanded to examine these effects over greater periods of time. Additionally, to our knowledge gape and HR have never been measured simultaneously in the field, and therefore a long-term study in which mussels are deployed with gape and HR sensors are attached, alongside a logger to record environmental variables like temperature and salinity, would provide an excellent insight into how these physiological parameters vary with environmental change.

Whilst a few studies have previously observed the connection between valve adduction and reduced heart rate (Curtis et al., 2000; Shen & Nugegoda, 2022), this has previously been recorded as a response to copper, rather than to declining salinities. This unusual response shows the importance of gape as a measurement parameter, as it clearly has a large impact on the physiological response of mussels. As a result of this, if physiological traits which depend on the shell being open like oxygen consumption, HR or feeding rate are measured without also considering gape, it is difficult to determine whether a stressor has directly caused a change in physiological performance, or if it caused valve adduction which then lead to the physiological change. The experiments conducted in this thesis have made it clear that gape is a key measurement parameter, and therefore future research should consider measuring this alongside other endpoints. As a critical determiner of mussel response to declining salinities, we are in need of improved methodology to study mussel valve movements. Hall sensors have proven to be an excellent way to measure this behaviour, and this can be seen from the increasing number of studies in which they are employed (Addis et al., 2021; Miller & Dowd, 2017; Nagai et al., 2006; Shen & Nugegoda, 2022). However, a conclusive method for analysing this complex and detailed data is yet to be determined. In this study, a threshold of 20% was used as the point of valve closure, based around this being chosen in several other studies (Ballesta-Artero et al., 2017; Jou et al., 2013; Miller & Dowd, 2017), and additionally the fact that valve movements usually appeared stable below this point. By picking out this closure point we were able to simplify and quantitively analyse this complex behaviour. We also converted the raw voltage data output to percentage gape for each mussel, allowing for comparison between individuals. However, the methods of analysis for this data currently vary, and therefore a study which compares previous work and determines several agreed upon methods for quantifying differences in this behaviour would allow for direct comparisons between studies. This is particularly relevant for difficult to interpret data like flapping behaviour, and perhaps the development of an R package designed to analyse bivalve valve movements would make this analysis feasible for many researchers.

When the genetics of mussels in and around the Tamar was assessed previously, in was found that whilst estuarine mussels were entirely *M. edulis*, coastal mussels were hybrids, with the frequency of *M. edulis* and *M. galloprovincialis* greatly depending on size (Bignell et al., 2011; Hilbish et al., 2003). It has previously been hypothesised that *M. edulis* is better able to tolerate salinity fluctuations, and therefore is more likely to dominate estuarine sites. However, our results directly contrasted with this, with the greatest *M. galloprovincialis* allele frequency being found in the upper estuarine site. This has illustrated the temporal variability in the distributions of these species, and suggests that analysis should take place over several years in order to determine the consistency of the species frequencies. Additionally, by regularly collecting data we will be able to see in real time how these distributions may be changing, and create much more accurate predictions of how these changes may continue to occur.

89

To summarise, this thesis has demonstrated that the relationships between hybrid *Mytilus* distribution, the effect of environmental factors like salinity change, and physiological performance are complex, and need to be studied in greater detail in order to form the full picture necessary to make accurate predictions about the fate of this key group during the changes predicted to occur in the coming years. Additionally, it has highlighted the importance of valve gape as a key measurement parameter which impacts the physiological performance of mussels during acute salinity changes. Future studies need to consider this behaviour, particularly during short-term exposures to stressors which are likely to induce valve adduction.

References

- Addis, P., Angioni, A., Pasquini, V., Giglioli, A., Andreotti, V., Carboni, S., & Secci,
 M. (2021). Flash flood simulation and valve behavior of *Mytilus* galloprovincialis measured with Hall sensors. *Integrative Zoology*, *16*(2). https://doi.org/10.1111/1749-4877.12471
- Addison, J. A., Ort, B. S., Mesa, K. A., & Pogson, G. H. (2008). Range-wide genetic homogeneity in the California sea mussel (*Mytilus californianus*): A comparison of allozymes, nuclear DNA markers, and mitochondrial DNA sequences. *Molecular Ecology*, *17*(19). https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-294X.2008.03905.x
- Aguillon, S. M., Dodge, T. O., Preising, G. A., & Schumer, M. (2022). Introgression. *Current Biology*, *32*(16), R865–R868. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.CUB.2022.07.004
- Ait Fdil, M., Mouabad, A., Outzourhit, A., Benhra, A., Maarouf, A., & Pihan, J. C. (2006). Valve movement response of the mussel *Mytilus galloprovincialis* to metals (Cu, Hg, Cd and Zn) and phosphate industry effluents from Moroccan Atlantic coast. *Ecotoxicology*, *15*(5). https://doi.org/10.1007/s10646-006-0083-3
- Akberali, H. B., & Davenport, J. (1982). The detection of salinity changes by the marine bivalve molluscs Scrobicularia plana (da Costa) and *Mytilus edulis* L. *Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology*, 58(1). https://doi.org/10.1016/0022-0981(82)90097-1
- Albright, R., Mason, B., Miller, M., & Langdon, C. (2010). Ocean acidification compromises recruitment success of the threatened Caribbean coral *Acropora palmata. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United* States of America, 107(47). https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1007273107
- Alexander, D. H., Novembre, J., & Lange, K. (2009). Fast model-based estimation of ancestry in unrelated individuals. *Genome Research*, 19(9). https://doi.org/10.1101/gr.094052.109

- Andrade, H., Massabuau, J. C., Cochrane, S., Ciret, P., Tran, D., Sow, M., & Camus, L. (2016). High frequency non-invasive (HFNI) bio-sensors as a potential tool for marine monitoring and assessments. *Frontiers in Marine Science*, 3(OCT). https://doi.org/10.3389/fmars.2016.00187
- Bakhmet, I. N., Berger, V. J., & Khalaman, V. V. (2005). The effect of salinity change on the heart rate of *Mytilus edulis* specimens from different ecological zones. *Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology*, *318*(2). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jembe.2004.11.023
- Bakhmet, I. N., & Khalaman, V. V. (2006). Heart rate variation patterns in some representatives of Bivalvia. *Biology Bulletin*, 33(3). https://doi.org/10.1134/S1062359006030101
- Ballesta-Artero, I., Witbaard, R., Carroll, M. L., & van der Meer, J. (2017). Environmental factors regulating gaping activity of the bivalve Arctica islandica in Northern Norway. Marine Biology, 164(5). https://doi.org/10.1007/s00227-017-3144-7
- Bamber, S. D. (2023). Valve gaping behaviour in the European oyster (*Ostrea edulis*) in response to changes in light intensity when combined with variations in salinity and seawater temperature. Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology, 568. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jembe.2023.151943
- Barile, N. B., Scopa, M., Recchi, S., & Nerone, E. (2016). Biomonitoring of coastal marine waters subject to anthropogenic use: development and application of the biosensor Mosselmonitor®. Ovidius University Annals of Chemistry, 27(2). https://doi.org/10.1515/auoc-2016-0013
- Bartley, D. M., Rana, K., & Immink, A. J. (2000). The use of inter-specific hybrids in aquaculture and fisheries. *Reviews in Fish Biology and Fisheries*, 10(3). https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1016691725361
- Barton, N. H., & Hewitt, G. M. (1985). Analysis of hybrid zones. Annual Review of Ecology and Systematics. Vol. 16.
 https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.es.16.110185.000553
- Basti, L., Nagai, K., Shimasaki, Y., Oshima, Y., Honjo, T., & Segawa, S. (2009). Effects of the toxic dinoflagellate *Heterocapsa circularisquama* on the valve

movement behaviour of the Manila clam *Ruditapes philippinarum*. *Aquaculture*, *291*(1–2). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaculture.2009.02.029

- Bates, A. E., Pecl, G. T., Frusher, S., Hobday, A. J., Wernberg, T., Smale, D. A., Sunday, J. M., Hill, N. A., Dulvy, N. K., Colwell, R. K., Holbrook, N. J., Fulton, E. A., Slawinski, D., Feng, M., Edgar, G. J., Radford, B. T., Thompson, P. A., & Watson, R. A. (2014). Defining and observing stages of climate-mediated range shifts in marine systems. *Global Environmental Change*, 26(1). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gloenvcha.2014.03.009
- Beaumont, A. R., Hawkins, M. P., Doig, F. L., Davies, I. M., & Snow, M. (2008). Three species of *Mytilus* and their hybrids identified in a Scottish Loch: natives, relicts and invaders? *Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology*, 367(2). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jembe.2008.08.021
- Berge, J. A., Bjerkeng, B., Pettersen, O., Schaanning, M. T., & Øxnevad, S. (2006). Effects of increased sea water concentrations of CO₂ on growth of the bivalve *Mytilus edulis* L. *Chemosphere*, 62(4). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2005.04.111
- Bergström, P., Lindegarth, S., & Lindegarth, M. (2015). Modeling and predicting the growth of the mussel, *Mytilus edulis*: Implications for planning of aquaculture and eutrophication mitigation. *Ecology and Evolution*, 5(24). https://doi.org/10.1002/ece3.1823
- Bertolini, C., Rubinetti, S., Umgiesser, G., Witbaard, R., Bouma, T. J., Rubino, A., & Pastres, R. (2021). How to cope in heterogeneous coastal environments: Spatio-temporally endogenous circadian rhythm of valve gaping by mussels. *Science of the Total Environment*, 768. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2021.145085
- Beyer, J., Green, N. W., Brooks, S., Allan, I. J., Ruus, A., Gomes, T., Bråte, I. L. N., & Schøyen, M. (2017). Blue mussels (*Mytilus edulis* spp.) as sentinel organisms in coastal pollution monitoring: A review. In *Marine Environmental Research*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marenvres.2017.07.024
- Bierne, N., Borsa, P., Daguin, C., Jollivet, D., Viard, F., Bonhomme, F., & David,P. (2003). Introgression patterns in the mosaic hybrid zone between *Mytilus*

edulis and *M. galloprovincialis. Molecular Ecology*, 12(2). https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-294X.2003.01730.x

- Bierne, N., David, P., Langlade, A., & Bonhomme, F. (2002). Can habitat specialisation maintain a mosaic hybrid zone in marine bivalves? *Marine Ecology Progress Series*, 245. https://doi.org/10.3354/meps245157
- Bignell, J. P., Stentiford, G. D., Taylor, N. G. H., & Lyons, B. P. (2011).
 Histopathology of mussels (*Mytilus* sp.) from the Tamar estuary, UK. *Marine Environmental Research*, 72(1–2).
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marenvres.2011.05.004
- Blot, M., Thiriot-Quiévreux, C., & Soyer, J. (1988). Genetic relationships among populations of *Mytilus desolationis* from Kerguelen, *M. edulis* from the North Atlantic and *M. galloprovincialis* from the Mediterranean. *Marine Ecology Progress Series*, 44. https://doi.org/10.3354/meps044239
- Borsa, P., Rolland, V., & Daguin-Thiébaut, C. (2012). Genetics and taxonomy of Chilean smooth-shelled mussels, *Mytilus* spp. (Bivalvia: Mytilidae). *Comptes Rendus - Biologies*, 335(1). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.crvi.2011.10.002
- Borthagaray, A. I., & Carranza, A. (2007). Mussels as ecosystem engineers: Their contribution to species richness in a rocky littoral community. *Acta Oecologica*, 31(3). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.actao.2006.10.008
- Boyd, P. W., Lennartz, S. T., Glover, D. M., & Doney, S. C. (2015). Biological ramifications of climate-change-mediated oceanic multi-stressors. *Nature Climate Change*, *5*(1). https://doi.org/10.1038/nclimate2441
- Braby, C. E., & Somero, G. N. (2006a). Ecological gradients and relative abundance of native (*Mytilus trossulus*) and invasive (*Mytilus galloprovincialis*) blue mussels in the California hybrid zone. *Marine Biology*, 148(6). https://doi.org/10.1007/s00227-005-0177-0
- Braby, C. E., & Somero, G. N. (2006b). Following the heart: Temperature and salinity effects on heart rate in native and invasive species of blue mussels (genus *Mytilus*). *Journal of Experimental Biology*, 209(13). https://doi.org/10.1242/jeb.02259
- Brannock, P. M., Wethey, D. S., & Hilbish, T. J. (2009). Extensive hybridization with minimal introgression in *Mytilus galloprovincialis* and *M. trossulus* in

hokkaido, Japan. *Marine Ecology Progress Series*, 383. https://doi.org/10.3354/meps07995

- Buer, A. L., Maar, M., Nepf, M., Ritzenhofen, L., Dahlke, S., Friedland, R., Krost,
 P., Peine, F., & Schernewski, G. (2020). Potential and Feasibility of *Mytilus* spp. Farming Along a Salinity Gradient. *Frontiers in Marine Science*, 7. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmars.2020.00371
- Bussell, J. A., Gidman, E. A., Causton, D. R., Gwynn-Jones, D., Malham, S. K., Jones, M. L. M., Reynolds, B., & Seed, R. (2008). Changes in the immune response and metabolic fingerprint of the mussel, *Mytilus edulis* (Linnaeus) in response to lowered salinity and physical stress. *Journal of Experimental Marine* Biology and Ecology, 358(1). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jembe.2008.01.018
- Cano, I., Parker, A., Ward, G. M., Green, M., Ross, S., Bignell, J., Daumich, C., Kerr, R., Feist, S. W., & Batista, F. M. (2022). First Detection of *Francisella halioticida* Infecting a Wild Population of Blue Mussels *Mytilus edulis* in the United Kingdom. *Pathogens*, *11*(3). https://doi.org/10.3390/pathogens11030329
- Carboni, S., Evans, S., Tanner, K. E., Davie, A., Bekaert, M., & Fitzer, S. C. (2021). Are Shell Strength Phenotypic Traits in Mussels Associated with Species Alone? *Aquaculture Journal*, 1(1). https://doi.org/10.3390/aquacj1010002
- Carter, H. A., Ceballos-Osuna, L., Miller, N. A., & Stillman, J. H. (2013). Impact of ocean acidification on metabolism and energetics during early life stages of the intertidal porcelain crab *Petrolisthes cinctipes*. Journal of Experimental Biology, 216(8). https://doi.org/10.1242/jeb.078162
- Casas, S. M., Lavaud, R., La Peyre, M. K., Comeau, L. A., Filgueira, R., & La Peyre, J. F. (2018). Quantifying salinity and season effects on eastern oyster clearance and oxygen consumption rates. *Marine Biology*, 165(5). https://doi.org/10.1007/s00227-018-3351-x
- Chan, V. B. S., Li, C., Lane, A. C., Wang, Y., Lu, X., Shih, K., Zhang, T., & Thiyagarajan, V. (2012). CO₂-driven ocean acidification alters and weakens integrity of the calcareous tubes produced by the serpulid Tubeworm,

Hydroides elegans. PLoS ONE, 7(8). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0042718

- Charles, M., Villalba, A., Meyer, G., Trancart, S., Lagy, C., Bernard, I., & Houssin,
 M. (2020). First detection of *Francisella halioticida* in mussels *Mytilus* spp.
 experiencing mortalities in France. *Diseases of Aquatic Organisms*, *140*.
 https://doi.org/10.3354/DAO03505
- Cheung, S. G., & Lam, S. W. (1995). Effect of salinity, temperature and acclimation on oxygen consumption of *Nassarius festivus* (Powys, 1835) (*Gastropoda: Nassariidae*). Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology --Part A: Physiology, 111(4). https://doi.org/10.1016/0300-9629(95)00051-8
- Clements, J. C., Hicks, C., Tremblay, R., & Comeau, L. A. (2018). Elevated seawater temperature, not pCO₂, negatively affects post-spawning adult mussels (*Mytilus edulis*) under food limitation. *Conservation Physiology*, 6(1). https://doi.org/10.1093/conphys/cox078
- Clements, J. C., Poirier, L. A., Pérez, F. F., Comeau, L. A., & Babarro, J. M. F. (2020). Behavioural responses to predators in Mediterranean mussels (*Mytilus galloprovincialis*) are unaffected by elevated pCO₂. *Marine Environmental Research*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marenvres.2020.105148
- Collins, C. L., Burnett, N. P., Ramsey, M. J., Wagner, K., & Zippay, M. L. (2020).
 Physiological responses to heat stress in an invasive mussel *Mytilus* galloprovincialis depend on tidal habitat: Habitat-specific stress response in mussels. *Marine Environmental Research*, 154. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marenvres.2019.104849
- Comeau, L. A., Babarro, J. M. F., Riobó, P., Scarratt, M., Starr, M., & Tremblay, R. (2019). PSP-producing dinoflagellate *Alexandrium minutum* induces valve microclosures in the mussel *Mytilus galloprovincialis*. *Aquaculture*, *500*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaculture.2018.10.025
- Comesaña, A. S., Toro, J. E., Innes, D. J., & Thompson, R. J. (1999). A molecular approach to the ecology of a mussel (*Mytilus edulis - M. trossulus*) hybrid zone on the east coast of Newfoundland, Canada. *Marine Biology*, 133(2). https://doi.org/10.1007/s002270050460

- Curtis, T. M., Williamson, R., & Depledge, M. H. (2000). Simultaneous, long-term monitoring of valve and cardiac activity in the blue mussel *Mytilus edulis* exposed to copper. *Marine Biology*, 136(5). https://doi.org/10.1007/s002270000297
- Davenport, J. (1977). A study of the effects of copper applied continuously and discontinuously to specimens of *Mytilus edulis* (L.) exposed to steady and fluctuating salinity levels. *Journal of the Marine Biological Association of the United Kingdom*, *57*(1). https://doi.org/10.1017/S0025315400021238
- Davenport, J. (1979). The isolation response of mussels (*Mytilus edulis* L.) exposed to falling sea-water concentrations. *Journal of the Marine Biological Association of the United Kingdom*, 59(1), 123–132. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0025315400046221
- Davenport, J. (1981). The opening response of mussels (*Mytilus edulis*) exposed to rising sea-water concentrations. *Journal of the Marine Biological Association of the United Kingdom*, 61(3). https://doi.org/10.1017/S0025315400048116
- de Zwaan, A., & Wijsman, T. C. M. (1976). Anaerobic metabolism in bivalvia (Mollusca) Characteristics of anaerobic metabolism. In *Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology -- Part B: Biochemistry and* (Vol. 54, Issue 3). https://doi.org/10.1016/0305-0491(76)90247-9
- Des, M., Gómez-Gesteira, M., deCastro, M., Gómez-Gesteira, L., & Sousa, M. C. (2020). How can ocean warming at the NW Iberian Peninsula affect mussel aquaculture? Science of the Total Environment, 709. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2019.136117
- Deutsch, C., Ferrel, A., Seibel, B., Pörtner, H. O., & Huey, R. B. (2015). Climate change tightens a metabolic constraint on marine habitats. *Science*, *348*(6239). https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aaa1605
- Dias, P. J., Bland, M., Shanks, A. M., Beaumont, A., Piertney, S. B., Davies, I. M.,
 & Snow, M. (2009). *Mytilus* species under rope culture in Scotland: Implications for management. *Aquaculture International*, *17*(5). https://doi.org/10.1007/s10499-008-9214-6

- Dickinson, G. H., Matoo, O. B., Tourek, R. T., Sokolova, I. M., & Beniash, E. (2013). Environmental salinity modulates the effects of elevated CO₂ levels on juvenile hard-shell clams, *Mercenaria mercenaria*. *Journal of Experimental Biology*, 216(14). https://doi.org/10.1242/jeb.082909
- Domínguez, R., Vázquez, E., Woodin, S. A., Wethey, D. S., Peteiro, L. G., Macho, G., & Olabarria, C. (2020). Sublethal responses of four commercially important bivalves to low salinity. *Ecological Indicators*, *111*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolind.2019.106031
- Doney, S. C., Fabry, V. J., Feely, R. A., & Kleypas, J. A. (2009). Ocean acidification: The other CO₂ problem. In *Annual Review of Marine Science*. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.marine.010908.163834
- Doropoulos, C., & Diaz-Pulido, G. (2013). High CO₂ reduces the settlement of a spawning coral on three common species of crustose coralline algae. *Marine Ecology Progress Series*, 475. https://doi.org/10.3354/meps10096
- Durack, P. J., & Wijffels, S. E. (2010). Fifty-Year trends in global ocean salinities and their relationship to broad-scale warming. *Journal of Climate*, *23*(16). https://doi.org/10.1175/2010JCLI3377.1
- Durier, G., Nadalini, J. B., Saint-Louis, R., Genard, B., Comeau, L. A., & Tremblay, R. (2021). Sensitivity to oil dispersants: Effects on the valve movements of the blue mussel *Mytilus edulis* and the giant scallop *Placopecten magellanicus*, in sub-arctic conditions. *Aquatic Toxicology*, 234. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquatox.2021.105797
- Dutton, J. M., & Hofmann, G. E. (2008). Spatial and temporal variation in distribution and protein ubiquitination for *Mytilus* congeners in the California hybrid zone. *Marine Biology*, 154(6). https://doi.org/10.1007/s00227-008-1000-5
- Edwards, M., Hélaouët, P., Goberville, E., Lindley, A., Tarling, G. A., Burrows, M.
 T., & Atkinson, A. (2021). North Atlantic warming over six decades drives decreases in krill abundance with no associated range shift. *Communications Biology*, *4*(1). https://doi.org/10.1038/s42003-021-02159-1

- Edwards, M., & Richardson, A. J. (2004). Impact of climate change on marine pelagic phenology and trophic mismatch. *Nature*, *430*(7002). https://doi.org/10.1038/nature02808
- Eierman, L. E., & Hare, M. P. (2013). Survival of oyster larvae in different salinities depends on source population within an estuary. *Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology*, *449*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jembe.2013.08.015
- Erk, M., Ivanković, D., & Strižak, Ž. (2011). Cellular energy allocation in mussels (*Mytilus galloprovincialis*) from the stratified estuary as a physiological biomarker. *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 62(5). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2011.02.056
- Escobar-Calderón, J. F., Chmist-Sikorska, J., & Douda, K. (2022). Highfrequency video analysis extends beyond the capabilities of valvometry in acute behavioral disturbance detection in bivalves. *Ecological Indicators*, *136*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolind.2022.108656
- Evans, T. G., & Somero, G. N. (2010). Phosphorylation events catalyzed by major cell signaling proteins differ in response to thermal and osmotic stress among native (*Mytilus californianus* and *Mytilus trossulus*) and invasive (*Mytilus galloprovincialis*) species of Mussels. *Physiological and Biochemical Zoology*, 83(6). https://doi.org/10.1086/656192
- Famme, P. (1980). Effect of shell valve closure by the mussel *Mytilus edulis* L. on the rate of oxygen consumption in declining oxygen tension. *Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology -- Part A: Physiology*, 67(1). https://doi.org/10.1016/0300-9629(80)90423-5
- FAO. (2022). The State of World Fisheries and Aquaculture 2022. Towards Blue Transformation. In *The State of World Fisheries and Aquaculture 2022. Towards Blue Transformation*.
- Fitzer, S. C., Phoenix, V. R., Cusack, M., & Kamenos, N. A. (2014). Ocean acidification impacts mussel control on biomineralisation. *Scientific Reports*. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep06218
- Fitzer, S. C., Zhu, W., Tanner, K. E., Phoenix, V. R., Kamenos, N. A., & Cusack,M. (2015). Ocean acidification alters the material properties of *Mytilus edulis*

shells. Journal of the Royal Society Interface, 12(103). https://doi.org/10.1098/rsif.2014.1227

- Fleming, C. A., & Suggate, R. P. (1964). The 550ft raised beach at Amuri Bluff. New Zealand Journal of Geology and Geophysics, 7(2). https://doi.org/10.1080/00288306.1964.10420181
- Fly, E. K., & Hilbish, T. J. (2013). Physiological energetics and biogeographic range limits of three congeneric mussel species. *Oecologia*, 172(1). https://doi.org/10.1007/s00442-012-2486-6
- Freitas, R., De Marchi, L., Bastos, M., Moreira, A., Velez, C., Chiesa, S., Wrona, F. J., Figueira, E., & Soares, A. M. V. M. (2017). Effects of seawater acidification and salinity alterations on metabolic, osmoregulation and oxidative stress markers in *Mytilus galloprovincialis*. *Ecological Indicators*, 79. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolind.2017.04.003
- Gagnaire, B., Frouin, H., Moreau, K., Thomas-Guyon, H., & Renault, T. (2006). Effects of temperature and salinity on haemocyte activities of the Pacific oyster, *Crassostrea gigas* (Thunberg). *Fish and Shellfish Immunology*, 20(4). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fsi.2005.07.003
- Gaitán-Espitia, J. D., Quintero-Galvis, J. F., Mesas, A., & D'Elía, G. (2016).
 Mitogenomics of southern hemisphere blue mussels (Bivalvia: Pteriomorphia): Insights into the evolutionary characteristics of the *Mytilus edulis* complex. *Scientific Reports*, 6. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep26853
- Gardner, J. P. A. (1996). The *Mytilus edulis* species complex in southwest England: Effects of hybridization and introgression upon interlocus associations and morphometric variation. *Marine Biology*. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00346319
- Gardner, J. P. A., Skibinski, D. O. F., & Bajdik, C. D. (1993). Shell growth and viability differences between the marine mussels *Mytilus edulis* (L.), *Mytilus galloprovincialis* (Lmk.), and their hybrids from two sympatric populations in S.W. England. *Biological Bulletin*, 185(3). https://doi.org/10.2307/1542481
- Gardner, J. P. A., & Thompson, R. J. (2001). The effects of coastal and estuarine conditions on the physiology and survivorship of the mussels *Mytilus edulis*,

M. trossulus and their hybrids. *Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology*, 265(2). https://doi.org/10.1016/S0022-0981(01)00328-8

- Gaylord, B., Hill, T. M., Sanford, E., Lenz, E. A., Jacobs, L. A., Sato, K. N., Russell,
 A. D., & Hettinger, A. (2011). Functional impacts of ocean acidification in an ecologically critical foundation species. *Journal of Experimental Biology*, 214(15). https://doi.org/10.1242/jeb.055939
- Gazeau, F., Quiblier, C., Jansen, J. M., Gattuso, J. P., Middelburg, J. J., & Heip,
 C. H. R. (2007). Impact of elevated CO₂ on shellfish calcification. *Geophysical* Research Letters, 34(7).
 https://doi.org/10.1029/2006GL028554
- Gazeau, F., Alliouane, S., Bock, C., Bramanti, L., Correa, M. L., Gentile, M., Hirse, T., Pörtner, H. O., & Ziveri, P. (2014). Impact of ocean acidification and warming on the Mediterranean mussel (*Mytilus galloprovincialis*). *Frontiers in Marine Science*, 1(NOV). https://doi.org/10.3389/fmars.2014.00062
- Gilg, M. R., & Hilbish, T. J. (2000). The relationship between allele frequency and tidal height in a mussel hybrid zone: A test of the differential settlement hypothesis. *Marine Biology*, 137(3). https://doi.org/10.1007/s002270000348
- Gilg, M. R., & Hilbish, T. J. (2003a). Patterns of larval dispersal and their effect on the maintenance of a blue mussel hybrid zone in southwestern England. *Evolution*, 57(5). https://doi.org/10.1111/j.0014-3820.2003.tb00316.x
- Gilg, M. R., & Hilbish, T. J. (2003b). The geography of marine larval dispersal: Coupling genetics with fine-scale physical oceanography. *Ecology*, *84*(11). https://doi.org/10.1890/02-0498
- Gissi, E., Manea, E., Mazaris, A. D., Fraschetti, S., Almpanidou, V., Bevilacqua, S., Coll, M., Guarnieri, G., Lloret-Lloret, E., Pascual, M., Petza, D., Rilov, G., Schonwald, M., Stelzenmüller, V., & Katsanevakis, S. (2021). A review of the combined effects of climate change and other local human stressors on the marine environment. In *Science of the Total Environment* (Vol. 755). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2020.142564
- Gosling, E. (2015). Marine Bivalve Molluscs: Second Edition. In *Marine Bivalve Molluscs: Second Edition*. https://doi.org/10.1002/9781119045212

- Gosling, E., Doherty, S., & Howley, N. (2008). Genetic characterization of hybrid mussel (*Mytilus*) populations on Irish coasts. *Journal of the Marine Biological Association of the United Kingdom*, 88(2). https://doi.org/10.1017/S0025315408000957
- Green, E. J., & Carritt, D. E. (1967). New tables for oxygen saturation of seawater. *Journal of Marine Research*.
- Gu, H., Shang, Y., Clements, J., Dupont, S., Wang, T., Wei, S., Wang, X., Chen, J., Huang, W., Hu, M., & Wang, Y. (2019). Hypoxia aggravates the effects of ocean acidification on the physiological energetics of the blue mussel *Mytilus edulis*. *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 149. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2019.110538
- Gubbins, M. J., McLennan, D., Pendrey, D., Snow, M., Davies, I. M., Dias, J., Fraser, D., & Hermann, G. (2012). *Mytilus trossulus: managing impact on sustainable mussel production in Scotland*.
- Guo, W., Bokade, R., Cohen, A. L., Mollica, N. R., Leung, M., & Brainard, R. E.
 (2020). Ocean Acidification Has Impacted Coral Growth on the Great Barrier
 Reef. *Geophysical Research Letters*, 47(19).
 https://doi.org/10.1029/2019GL086761
- Guo, X., Huang, M., Pu, F., You, W., & Ke, C. (2015). Effects of ocean acidification caused by rising CO₂ on the early development of three mollusks. *Aquatic Biology*, 23(2). https://doi.org/10.3354/ab00615
- Guterres, B. D. V., Guerreiro, A. D. S., Botelho, S. S. D. C., & Sandrini, J. Z. (2020). *Perna Perna* Mussels Network as Pollution Biosensors of Oil Spills and Derivatives. *IFAC-PapersOnLine*, 53(2). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ifacol.2020.12.1126
- Hamer, B., Jakšić, Ž., Pavičić-Hamer, D., Perić, L., Medaković, D., Ivanković, D., Pavičić, J., Zilberberg, C., Schröder, H. C., Müller, W. E. G., Smodlaka, N., & Batel, R. (2008). Effect of hypoosmotic stress by low salinity acclimation of Mediterranean mussels *Mytilus galloprovincialis* on biological parameters used for pollution assessment. *Aquatic Toxicology*, *89*(3). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquatox.2008.06.015

- Han, G.-D., & Dong, Y.-W. (2020).Rapid climate-driven evolution of
the invasive speciesthe invasive speciesMytilus galloprovincialisoverthe past centuryAnthropocene Coasts, 3(1).https://doi.org/10.1139/anc-2019-0012
- Hanuise, N., Bost, C. A., Huin, W., Auber, A., Halsey, L. G., & Handrich, Y. (2010).
 Measuring foraging activity in a deep-diving bird: Comparing wiggles, oesophageal temperatures and beak-opening angles as proxies of feeding. *Journal of Experimental Biology*, 213(22).
 https://doi.org/10.1242/jeb.044057
- Hare, M. P., & Avise, J. C. (1996). Molecular Genetic Analysis of a Stepped Multilocus Cline in the American Oyster (*Crassostrea virginica*). *Evolution*, 50(6). https://doi.org/10.2307/2410699
- Harianto, J., Nguyen, H. D., Holmes, S. P., & Byrne, M. (2018). The effect of warming on mortality, metabolic rate, heat-shock protein response and gonad growth in thermally acclimated sea urchins (*Heliocidaris erythrogramma*). *Marine Biology*, *165*(6). https://doi.org/10.1007/s00227-018-3353-8
- Harley, C. D. G. (2008). Tidal dynamics, topographic orientation, and temperature-mediated mass mortalities on rocky shores. *Marine Ecology Progress Series*, 371. https://doi.org/10.3354/meps07711
- Harrison, R. G., & Larson, E. L. (2014). Hybridization, introgression, and the nature of species boundaries. *Journal of Heredity*, 105(S1). https://doi.org/10.1093/jhered/esu033
- Hayhurst, S., & Rawson, P. D. (2009). Species-specific variation in larval survival and patterns of distribution for the blue mussels *Mytilus edulis* and *Mytilus trossulus* in the gulf of maine. *Journal of Molluscan Studies*, 75(3). https://doi.org/10.1093/mollus/eyp019
- Hilbish, T. J., Bayne, B. L., & Day, A. (1994). Genetics of Physiological Differentiation Within the Marine Mussel Genus *Mytilus*. *Evolution*. https://doi.org/10.2307/2410092
- Hilbish, T. J., Brannock, P. M., Jones, K. R., Smith, A. B., Bullock, B. N., & Wethey, D. S. (2010). Historical changes in the distributions of invasive and endemic

marine invertebrates are contrary to global warming predictions: The effects of decadal climate oscillations. *Journal of Biogeography*, *37*(3). https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2699.2009.02218.x

- Hilbish, T. J., Carson, E. W., Plante, J. R., Weaver, L. A., & Gilg, M. R. (2002). Distribution of *Mytilus edulis*, *M. galloprovincialis*, and their hybrids in opencoast populations of mussels in southwestern England. *Marine Biology*. https://doi.org/10.1007/s002270100631
- Hilbish, T. J., Timmons, J., Agrawal, V., Schneider, K. R., & Gilg, M. R. (2003).
 Estuarine habitats protect hybrid mussels from selection. *Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology*, 292(2).
 https://doi.org/10.1016/S0022-0981(03)00161-8
- Hinga, K. R. (2002). Effects of pH on coastal marine phytoplankton. In *Marine Ecology Progress Series* (Vol. 238). https://doi.org/10.3354/meps238281
- Hope, J. H., Lampert, R. J., Edmondson, E., Smith, M. J., & van Tets, G. F. (1977).
 Late Pleistocene Faunal Remains from Seton Rock Shelter, Kangaroo Island, South Australia. *Journal of Biogeography*, *4*(4). https://doi.org/10.2307/3038194
- IPCC, Masson-Delmotte, V., Zhai, P., Pirani, A., Connors, S. L., Péan, C., Berger, S., Caud, N., Chen, Y., Goldfarb, L., Gomis, M. I., Huang, M., Leitzell, K., Lonnoy, E., Matthews, J. B. R., Maycock, T. K., Waterfield, T., Yelekçi, O., Yu, R., & B., Z. (2021). Climate Change 2021: The Physical Science Basis. Contribution of Working Group I to the Sixth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. In *Cambridge University Press* (Issue In Press).
- Jakubowska, M., & Normant, M. (2015). Metabolic rate and activity of blue mussel Mytilus edulis trossulus under short-term exposure to carbon dioxideinduced water acidification and oxygen deficiency. Marine and Freshwater Behaviour and Physiology. https://doi.org/10.1080/10236244.2014.986865
- Jansson, A., Lischka, S., Boxhammer, T., Schulz, K. G., & Norkko, J. (2016). Survival and settling of larval *Macoma balthica* in a large-scale mesocosm experiment at different fCO₂ levels. *Biogeosciences*, *13*(11). https://doi.org/10.5194/bg-13-3377-2016

- Jombart, T. (2008). Adegenet: A R package for the multivariate analysis of genetic markers. *Bioinformatics*, 24(11). https://doi.org/10.1093/bioinformatics/btn129
- Jombart, T., Devillard, S., & Balloux, F. (2010). Discriminant analysis of principal components: A new method for the analysis of genetically structured populations. *BMC Genetics*, *11*. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2156-11-94
- Jones, H. R., Johnson, K. M., & Kelly, M. W. (2019). Synergistic Effects of Temperature and Salinity on the Gene Expression and Physiology of *Crassostrea virginica*. *Integrative and Comparative Biology*, 59(2). https://doi.org/10.1093/icb/icz035
- Jones, S. J., Lima, F. P., & Wethey, D. S. (2010). Rising environmental temperatures and biogeography: Poleward range contraction of the blue mussel, *Mytilus edulis* L., in the western Atlantic. *Journal of Biogeography*, 37(12). https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2699.2010.02386.x
- Jou, L. J., Lin, S. C., Chen, B. C., Chen, W. Y., & Liao, C. M. (2013). Synthesis and measurement of valve activities by an improved online clam-based behavioral monitoring system. *Computers and Electronics in Agriculture*, 90. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.compag.2012.09.008
- Kamaishi, T., Miwa, S., Goto, E., Matsuyama, T., & Oseko, N. (2010). Mass mortality of giant abalone *Haliotis gigantea* caused by a Francisella sp. bacterium. *Diseases of Aquatic Organisms*, 89(2). https://doi.org/10.3354/dao02188
- Kenchington, E., Landry, D., & Bird, C. J. (1995). Comparison of taxa of the mussel *Mytilus* (Bivalvia) by analysis of the nuclear small-subunit rRNA gene sequence. *Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences*, *52*(12). https://doi.org/10.1139/f95-850
- Kijewski, T. K., Zbawicka, M., Väinölä, R., & Wenne, R. (2006). Introgression and mitochondrial DNA heteroplasmy in the Baltic populations of mussels *Mytilus trossulus* and *M. edulis. Marine Biology*, 149(6). https://doi.org/10.1007/s00227-006-0316-2
- Kijewski, T., Zbawicka, M., Strand, J., Kautsky, H., Kotta, J., Rätsep, M., & Wenne, R. (2019). Random forest assessment of correlation between

environmental factors and genetic differentiation of populations: Case of marine mussels *Mytilus*. *Oceanologia*, *61*(1). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.oceano.2018.08.002

- Knaus, B. J., & Grünwald, N. J. (2017). vcfr: a package to manipulate and visualize variant call format data in R. *Molecular Ecology Resources*, *17*(1). https://doi.org/10.1111/1755-0998.12549
- Knöbel, L., Nascimento-Schulze, J. C., Sanders, T., Zeus, D., Hiebenthal, C., Barboza, F. R., Stuckas, H., & Melzner, F. (2021). Salinity Driven Selection and Local Adaptation in Baltic Sea *Mytilid* Mussels. *Frontiers in Marine Science*, 8. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmars.2021.692078
- Koehn, R. K. (1991). The genetics and taxonomy of species in the genus *Mytilus*. *Aquaculture*, *94*(2–3). https://doi.org/10.1016/0044-8486(91)90114-M
- KOEHN, R. K., BAYNE, B. L., MOORE, M. N., & SIEBENALLER, J. F. (1980).
 Salinity related physiological and genetic differences between populations of *Mytilus edulis. Biological Journal of the Linnean Society*, *14*(3–4). https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1095-8312.1980.tb00112.x
- Koehn, R. K., Hall, J. G., Innes, D. J., & Zera, A. J. (1984). Genetic differentiation of *Mytilus edulis* in eastern North America. *Marine Biology*, 79(2). https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00951820
- Koehn, R. K., Milkman, R., & Mitton, J. B. (1976). Population Genetics of Marine Pelecypods. IV. Selection, Migration and Genetic Differentiation in the Blue Mussel *Mytilus edulis*. *Evolution*, *30*(1). https://doi.org/10.2307/2407669
- Koehn, R. K., Newell, R. I. E., & Immermann, F. (1980). Maintenance of an aminopeptidase allele frequency cline by natural selection. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 77(9 II). https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.77.9.5385
- Kong, H., Clements, J. C., Dupont, S., Wang, T., Huang, X., Shang, Y., Huang, W., Chen, J., Hu, M., & Wang, Y. (2019). Seawater acidification and temperature modulate anti-predator defenses in two co-existing *Mytilus* species. *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 145. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2019.05.040

- Kong, H., Jiang, X., Clements, J. C., Wang, T., Huang, X., Shang, Y., Chen, J., Hu, M., & Wang, Y. (2019). Transgenerational effects of short-term exposure to acidification and hypoxia on early developmental traits of the mussel *Mytilus edulis. Marine Environmental Research*, 145. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marenvres.2019.02.011
- Lafarga de la Cruz, F., & Gallardo-Escárate, C. (2011). Intraspecies and interspecies hybrids in Haliotis: Natural and experimental evidence and its impact on abalone aquaculture. *Reviews in Aquaculture*, *3*(2). https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1753-5131.2011.01045.x
- Landes, A., Dolmer, P., Poulsen, L. K., Petersen, J. K., & Vismann, B. (2015). Growth and respiration in blue mussels (*Mytilus* spp.) from different salinity regimes. *Journal of Shellfish Research*, 34(2). https://doi.org/10.2983/035.034.0220
- Lassoued, J., Babarro, J. M. F., Padín, X. A., Comeau, L. A., Bejaoui, N., & Pérez,
 F. F. (2019). Behavioural and eco-physiological responses of the mussel *Mytilus galloprovincialis* to acidification and distinct feeding regimes. *Marine Ecology Progress Series*, 626. https://doi.org/10.3354/meps13075
- Lefevre, S. (2016). Are global warming and ocean acidification conspiring against marine ectotherms? A meta-analysis of the respiratory effects of elevated temperature, high CO₂ and their interaction. *Conservation Physiology*, *4*(1). https://doi.org/10.1093/conphys/cow009
- Li, H., & Fedorov, A. V. (2021). Persistent freshening of the Arctic Ocean and changes in the North Atlantic salinity caused by Arctic sea ice decline. *Climate Dynamics*, *57*(11–12). https://doi.org/10.1007/s00382-021-05850-5
- Liang, S., Luo, X., You, W., Luo, L., & Ke, C. (2014). The role of hybridization in improving the immune response and thermal tolerance of abalone. *Fish and Shellfish Immunology*, 39(1). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fsi.2014.04.014
- Livingstone, D. R., Widdows, J., & Fieth, P. (1979). Aspects of nitrogen metabolism of the common mussel *Mytilus edulis*: Adaptation to abrupt and fluctuating changes in salinity. *Marine Biology*, 53(1). https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00386528

- Lockwood, B. L., & Somero, G. N. (2011). Transcriptomic responses to salinity stress in invasive and native blue mussels (genus *Mytilus*). *Molecular Ecology*, *20*(3). https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-294X.2010.04973.x
- Lowe, S., Browne, M., Boudjelas, S., & De Poorter, M. (2000). 100 of the world's worst invasive alien species IUCN. SSC Invasive Species Specialist.
- Lupo, C., Bougeard, S., le Bihan, V., Blin, J. L., Allain, G., Azéma, P., Benoit, F., Béchemin, C., Bernard, I., Blachier, P., Brieau, L., Danion, M., Garcia, A., Gervasoni, E., Glize, P., Lainé, A., Lapègue, S., Mablouké, C., Poirier, L., ... le Bouquin, S. (2021). Mortality of marine mussels *Mytilus edulis* and *M. galloprovincialis*: systematic literature review of risk factors and recommendations for future research. In *Reviews in Aquaculture* (Vol. 13, Issue 1). https://doi.org/10.1111/raq.12484
- Mackenzie, C. L., Lynch, S. A., Culloty, S. C., & Malham, S. K. (2014). Future oceanic warming and acidification alter immune response and disease status in a commercial shellfish species, *Mytilus edulis* L. *PLoS ONE*, 9(6). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0099712
- Maire, O., Amouroux, J. M., Duchêne, J. C., & Grémare, A. (2007). Relationship between filtration activity and food availability in the Mediterranean mussel *Mytilus galloprovincialis. Marine Biology*, 152(6). https://doi.org/10.1007/s00227-007-0778-x
- Mallet, J. (2005). Hybridization as an invasion of the genome. In *Trends in Ecology and Evolution* (Vol. 20, Issue 5). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tree.2005.02.010
- Marañón, E., Lorenzo, M. P., Cermeño, P., & Mouriño-Carballido, B. (2018). Nutrient limitation suppresses the temperature dependence of phytoplankton metabolic rates. *ISME Journal*, *12*(7). https://doi.org/10.1038/s41396-018-0105-1
- Marshall, D. J., & McQuaid, C. D. (2011). Warming reduces metabolic rate in marine snails: Adaptation to fluctuating high temperatures challenges the metabolic theory of ecology. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 278(1703). https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2010.1414
- Marth, G. T., Korf, I., Yandell, M. D., Yeh, R. T., Gu, Z., Zakeri, H., Stitziel, N. O., Hillier, L. D., Kwok, P. Y., & Gish, W. R. (1999). A general approach to singlenucleotide polymorphism discovery. *Nature Genetics*, 23(4). https://doi.org/10.1038/70570
- Matoo, O. B., Lannig, G., Bock, C., & Sokolova, I. M. (2021). Temperature but not ocean acidification affects energy metabolism and enzyme activities in the blue mussel, *Mytilus edulis*. *Ecology and Evolution*, *11*(7). https://doi.org/10.1002/ece3.7289
- McDonald, J. H., Seed, R., & Koehn, R. K. (1991). Allozymes and morphometric characters of three species of *Mytilus* in the Northern and Southern Hemispheres. *Marine Biology*, *111*(3). https://doi.org/10.1007/BF01319403
- McFarland, K., Donaghy, L., & Volety, A. K. (2013). Effect of acute salinity changes on hemolymph osmolality and clearance rate of the non-native mussel, *Perna viridis*, and the native oyster, *Crassostrea virginica*, in Southwest Florida. *Aquatic Invasions*, 8(3). https://doi.org/10.3391/ai.2013.8.3.06
- McQueen, K., & Marshall, C. T. (2017). Shifts in spawning phenology of cod linked to rising sea temperatures. *ICES Journal of Marine Science*, 74(6). https://doi.org/10.1093/icesjms/fsx025
- Meier, H. E. M. (2006). Baltic Sea climate in the late twenty-first century: a dynamical downscaling approach using two global models and two emission scenarios. *Climate Dynamics*, 27(1). https://doi.org/10.1007/s00382-006-0124-x
- Melzner, F., Stange, P., Trübenbach, K., Thomsen, J., Casties, I., Panknin, U., Gorb, S. N., & Gutowska, M. A. (2011). Food supply and seawater pCO₂ impact calcification and internal shell dissolution in the blue mussel *Mytilus edulis*. *PLoS ONE*, 6(9). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0024223
- Met Office. (2023). UK climate extremes. https://www.metoffice.gov.uk/research/climate/maps-and-data/uk-climateextremes
- Michalek, K., Vendrami, D. L. J., Bekaert, M., Green, D. H., Last, K. S., Telesca, L., Wilding, T. A., & Hoffman, J. I. (2021). *Mytilus trossulus* introgression and

consequences for shell traits in longline cultivated mussels. *Evolutionary Applications*, *14*(7). https://doi.org/10.1111/eva.13245

- Michalek, K., Ventura, A., & Sanders, T. (2016). *Mytilus* hybridisation and impact on aquaculture: A minireview. *Marine Genomics*, 27. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.margen.2016.04.008
- Milazzo, M., Rodolfo-Metalpa, R., Chan, V. B. S., Fine, M., Alessi, C., Thiyagarajan, V., Hall-Spencer, J. M., & Chemello, R. (2014). Ocean acidification impairs vermetid reef recruitment. *Scientific Reports*, *4*. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep04189
- Miller, L. P., & Dowd, W. W. (2017). Multimodal in situ datalogging quantifies interindividual variation in thermal experience and persistent origin effects on gaping behavior among intertidal mussels (*Mytilus californianus*). *Journal of Experimental Biology*, 220(22). https://doi.org/10.1242/jeb.164020
- Miller, L. P., & Dowd, W. W. (2019). Dynamic measurements of black oystercatcher (*Haematopus bachmani*) predation on mussels (*Mytilus californianus*). *Invertebrate Biology*, 138(1). https://doi.org/10.1111/ivb.12240
- Mollica, N. R., Guo, W., Cohen, A. L., Huang, K. F., Foster, G. L., Donald, H. K., & Solow, A. R. (2018). Ocean acidification affects coral growth by reducing skeletal density. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, *115*(8). https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1712806115
- Müller, M., Mentel, M., van Hellemond, J. J., Henze, K., Woehle, C., Gould, S. B., Yu, R.-Y., van der Giezen, M., Tielens, A. G. M., & Martin, W. F. (2012).
 Biochemistry and Evolution of Anaerobic Energy Metabolism in Eukaryotes. *Microbiology and Molecular Biology Reviews*, 76(2). https://doi.org/10.1128/mmbr.05024-11
- Myers, A. E., & Hays, G. C. (2007). A novel technique for measuring heart rate in a free swimming marine vertebrate. *Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology*, *349*(1). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jembe.2007.04.017
- Nagai, K., Honjo, T., Go, J., Yamashita, H., & Seok Jin Oh. (2006). Detecting the shellfish killer *Heterocapsa circularisquama* (Dinophyceae) by measuring

bivalve valve activity with a Hall element sensor. *Aquaculture*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaculture.2005.12.018

- Nascimento-Schulze, J. C., Bean, T. P., Peñaloza, C., Paris, J. R., Whiting, J. R., Simon, A., Fraser, B. A., Houston, R. D., Bierne, N., & Ellis, R. P. (2023). SNP discovery and genetic structure in blue mussel species using low coverage sequencing and a medium density 60 K SNP-array. *Evolutionary Applications*, *16*(5). https://doi.org/10.1111/eva.13552
- Navarro, J. M. (1988). The effects of salinity on the physiological ecology of Choromytilus chorus (Molina, 1782) (Bivalvia: Mytilidae). Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology, 122(1). https://doi.org/10.1016/0022-0981(88)90209-2
- Newell, C. R., Wildish, D. J., & MacDonald, B. A. (2001). The effects of velocity and seston concentration on the exhalant siphon area, valve gape and filtration rate of the mussel *Mytilus edulis*. *Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology*, 262(1). https://doi.org/10.1016/S0022-0981(01)00285-4
- Nicholson, S. (2002). Ecophysiological aspects of cardiac activity in the subtropical mussel *Perna viridis* (L.) (Bivalvia: Mytilidae). *Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology*, 267(2). https://doi.org/10.1016/S0022-0981(01)00362-8
- Nielsen, E. E., Nielsen, P. H., Meldrup, D., & Hansen, M. M. (2004). Genetic population structure of turbot (*Scophthalmus maximus L.*) supports the presence of multiple hybrid zones for marine fishes in the transition zone between the Baltic Sea and the North Sea. *Molecular Ecology*, *13*(3). https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-294X.2004.02097.x
- Nielsen, M. B., Vogensen, T. K., Thyrring, J., Sørensen, J. G., & Sejr, M. K. (2021). Freshening increases the susceptibility to heat stress in intertidal mussels (*Mytilus edulis*) from the Arctic. *Journal of Animal Ecology*, *90*(6). https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2656.13472
- Osores, S. J. A., Lagos, N. A., San Martín, V., Manríquez, P. H., Vargas, C. A., Torres, R., Navarro, J. M., Poupin, M. J., Saldías, G. S., & Lardies, M. A. (2017). Plasticity and inter-population variability in physiological and life-

history traits of the mussel *Mytilus chilensis*: A reciprocal transplant experiment. *Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology*, 490. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jembe.2017.02.005

- Parker, L. M., Ross, P. M., O'Connor, W. A., Borysko, L., Raftos, D. A., & Pörtner,
 H. O. (2012). Adult exposure influences offspring response to ocean acidification in oysters. *Global Change Biology*, *18*(1). https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2486.2011.02520.x
- Pearson, M. (2007). *Reeds Skipper's Handbook* (6th ed.). Adlard Coles Nautical, London.
- Perry, A. L., Low, P. J., Ellis, J. R., & Reynolds, J. D. (2005). Ecology: Climate change and distribution shifts in marine fishes. *Science*, 308(5730). https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1111322
- Pinsky, M. L., Selden, R. L., & Kitchel, Z. J. (2020). Climate-Driven Shifts in Marine Species Ranges: Scaling from Organisms to Communities. In *Annual Review of Marine Science* (Vol. 12). https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-marine-010419-010916
- Podbielski, I., Hiebenthal, C., Hajati, M. C., Bock, C., Bleich, M., & Melzner, F. (2022). Capacity for Cellular Osmoregulation Defines Critical Salinity of Marine Invertebrates at Low Salinity. *Frontiers in Marine Science*, 9. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmars.2022.898364
- Polsenaere, P., Soletchnik, P., Le Moine, O., Gohin, F., Robert, S., Pépin, J. F., Stanisière, J. Y., Dumas, F., Béchemin, C., & Goulletquer, P. (2017). Potential environmental drivers of a regional blue mussel mass mortality event (winter of 2014, Breton Sound, France). *Journal of Sea Research*, 123. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.seares.2017.03.005
- Popovic, I., Matias, A. M. A., Bierne, N., & Riginos, C. (2019). Twin introductions by independent invader mussel lineages are both associated with recent admixture with a native congener in Australia. *Evolutionary Applications*. https://doi.org/10.1111/eva.12857
- Pörtner, H. O., Bock, C., Knust, R., Lannig, G., Lucassen, M., Mark, F. C., & Sartoris, F. J. (2008). Cod and climate in a latitudinal cline: Physiological

analyses of climate effects in marine fishes. *Climate Research*, 37(2–3). https://doi.org/10.3354/cr00766

- Purcell, S., Neale, B., Todd-Brown, K., Thomas, L., Ferreira, M. A. R., Bender, D., Maller, J., Sklar, P., De Bakker, P. I. W., Daly, M. J., & Sham, P. C. (2007).
 PLINK: A tool set for whole-genome association and population-based linkage analyses. *American Journal of Human Genetics*, *81*(3). https://doi.org/10.1086/519795
- Qiu, J. W., Tremblay, R., & Bourget, E. (2002). Ontogenetic changes in hyposaline tolerance in the mussels *Mytilus edulis* and *M. trossulus*: Implications for distribution. *Marine Ecology Progress Series*, 228. https://doi.org/10.3354/meps228143
- Ramajo, L., Osores, S. J., Lagos, N. A., Broitman, B. R., Navarro, J. M., Vargas, C. A., Manríquez, P. H., & Lardies, M. A. (2021). Estuarine conditions more than pH modulate the physiological flexibility of mussel *Perumytilus purpuratus* populations. *Estuarine, Coastal and Shelf Science*, 249. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecss.2020.107098
- Rawson, P. D., Agrawal, V., & Hilbish, T. J. (1999). Hybridization between the blue mussels *Mytilus galloprovincialis* and *M. trossulus* along the Pacific coast of North America: Evidence for limited introgression. *Marine Biology*, *134*(1). https://doi.org/10.1007/s002270050538
- Rawson, P. D., Joyner, K. L., Meetze, K., & Hilbish, T. J. (1996). Evidence for intragenic recombination within a novel genetic marker that distinguishes mussels in the *Mytilus edulis* species complex. *Heredity*, 77(6). https://doi.org/10.1038/hdy.1996.187
- Redmond, K. J., Berry, M., Pampanin, D. M., & Andersen, O. K. (2017). Valve gape behaviour of mussels (*Mytilus edulis*) exposed to dispersed crude oil as an environmental monitoring endpoint. *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, *117*(1–2). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2017.02.005
- Regan, T., Bean, T. P., Ellis, T., Davie, A., Carboni, S., Migaud, H., & Houston, R.
 D. (2021). Genetic improvement technologies to support the sustainable growth of UK aquaculture. In *Reviews in Aquaculture* (Vol. 13, Issue 4). https://doi.org/10.1111/raq.12553

- Riginos, C., & Cunningham, C. W. (2005). Local adaptation and species segregation in two mussel (*Mytilus edulis* x *Mytilus trossulus*) hybrid zones.
 In *Molecular Ecology* (Vol. 14, Issue 2). https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-294X.2004.02379.x
- Riisgård, H. U., Lüskow, F., Pleissner, D., Lundgreen, K., & López, M. Á. P. (2013). Effect of salinity on filtration rates of mussels *Mytilus edulis* with special emphasis on dwarfed mussels from the low-saline Central Baltic Sea. *Helgoland Marine Research*, 67(3). https://doi.org/10.1007/s10152-013-0347-2
- Robinson, C., Gibbes, B., Carey, H., & Li, L. (2007). Salt-freshwater dynamics in a subterranean estuary over a spring-neap tidal cycle. *Journal of Geophysical Research: Oceans*, *112*(9). https://doi.org/10.1029/2006JC003888
- Robson, A. A., Garcia De Leaniz, C., Wilson, R. P., & Halsey, L. G. (2010).
 Behavioural adaptations of mussels to varying levels of food availability and predation risk. *Journal of Molluscan Studies*, 76(4). https://doi.org/10.1093/mollus/eyq025
- Robson, A. A., Thomas, G. R., de leaniz, C. G., & Wilson, R. P. (2009). Valve gape and exhalant pumping in bivalves: Optimization of measurement. *Aquatic Biology*, 6(1–3). https://doi.org/10.3354/ab00128
- Robson, A., Wilson, R., & De Leaniz, C. G. (2007). Mussels flexing their muscles: A new method for quantifying bivalve behaviour. *Marine Biology*, 151(3). https://doi.org/10.1007/s00227-006-0566-z
- Rola, R. C., Souza, M. M., & Sandrini, J. Z. (2017). Hypoosmotic stress in the mussel *Perna Perna* (Linnaeus, 1758): Is ecological history a determinant for organismal responses? *Estuarine, Coastal and Shelf Science*, 189. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecss.2017.03.020
- Rolán-Alvarez, E., Johannesson, K., & Erlandsson, J. (1997). The maintenance of a cline in the marine snail *Littorina saxatilis*: The role of home site advantage and hybrid fitness. *Evolution*, *51*(6). https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1558-5646.1997.tb05107.x

- RStudio Team. (2020). RStudio: Integrated development environment for R. In *The Journal of Wildlife Management* (Vol. 75, Issue 8).
- Saarman, N. P., & Pogson, G. H. (2015). Introgression between invasive and native blue mussels (genus *Mytilus*) in the central California hybrid zone. *Molecular Ecology*, 24(18). https://doi.org/10.1111/mec.13340
- Sanders, T., Schmittmann, L., Nascimento-Schulze, J. C., & Melzner, F. (2018). High calcification costs limit mussel growth at low salinity. *Frontiers in Marine Science*, 5(OCT). https://doi.org/10.3389/fmars.2018.00352
- Sarver, S. K., & Foltz, D. W. (1993). Genetic population structure of a species' complex of blue mussels (*Mytilus* spp.). *Marine Biology*, *117*(1). https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00346431
- Scanes, E., Scanes, P. R., & Ross, P. M. (2020). Climate change rapidly warms and acidifies Australian estuaries. *Nature Communications*, *11*(1). https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-020-15550-z
- Schalkhausser, B., Bock, C., Pörtner, H. O., & Lannig, G. (2014). Escape performance of temperate king scallop, *Pecten maximus* under ocean warming and acidification. *Marine Biology*, 161(12). https://doi.org/10.1007/s00227-014-2548-x
- Schneider, K. R., & Helmuth, B. (2007). Spatial variability in habitat temperature may drive patterns of selection between an invasive and native mussel species. *Marine Ecology Progress Series*, 339. https://doi.org/10.3354/meps339157
- Schneider, K. R., Wethey, D. S., Helmuth, B. S. T., & Hilbish, T. J. (2005). Implications of movement behavior on mussel dislodgement: Exogenous selection in a *Mytilus* spp. hybrid zone. *Marine Biology*, 146(2). https://doi.org/10.1007/s00227-004-1446-z
- Schubel, J. R., & Pritchard, D. W. (1972). The Estuarine Environment, Part 1. Journal of Geological Education, 20(2). https://doi.org/10.5408/0022-1368-20.2.60
- The Aquaculture and Fisheries (Scotland) Act 2013 (Specification of Commercially Damaging Species) Order 2014, Pub. L. No. 176, Order 2014 (2014).

- Seggel, A., De Young, C., and Soto, D. (2016). Climate change implications for fisheries and aquaculture. Summary of the findings of the intergovernmental panel on climate change fifth assessment report. In FAO Fisheries and Aquaculture Circular: Vol. FIAP/C1122.
- Seuront, L., Nicastro, K. R., Zardi, G. I., & Goberville, E. (2019). Decreased thermal tolerance under recurrent heat stress conditions explains summer mass mortality of the blue mussel *Mytilus edulis*. *Scientific Reports*, 9(1). https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-019-53580-w
- Shen, H., & Nugegoda, D. (2022). Real-time automated behavioural monitoring of mussels during contaminant exposures using an improved microcontroller-based device. *Science of the Total Environment*, 806. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2021.150567
- Shields, J. L., Heath, J. W., & Heath, D. D. (2010). Marine landscape shapes hybrid zone in a broadcast spawning bivalve: Introgression and genetic structure in Canadian west coast *Mytilus*. *Marine Ecology Progress Series*, 399. https://doi.org/10.3354/meps08338
- Shumway, S. E. (1977). Effect of salinity fluctuation on the osmotic pressure and Na⁺, Ca²⁺ and Mg²⁺ ion concentrations in the hemolymph of bivalve molluscs. *Marine Biology*, 41(2). https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00394023
- Shumway, S. E., & Marsden, I. d. (1982). The combined effects of temperature, salinity, and declining oxygen tension on oxygen consumption in the marine pulmonate *Amphibola crenata* (Gmelin, 1791). *Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology*, 61(2). https://doi.org/10.1016/0022-0981(82)90003-X
- SJ, A., & NG, E. (2015). Aquaculture Sentinels: Smart-farming with Biosensor Equipped Stock. *Journal of Aquaculture Research & Development*, 07(01). https://doi.org/10.4172/2155-9546.1000393
- SKIBINSKI, D. O. F., BEARDMORE, J. A., & CROSS, T. F. (1983). Aspects of the population genetics of *Mytilus* (Mytilidae; Mollusca) in the British Isles. *Biological Journal of the Linnean Society*, 19(2). https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1095-8312.1983.tb00782.x

- SKIBINSKI, D. O. F., & RODERICK, E. E. (1991). Evidence of selective mortality in favour of the *Mytilus galloprovincialis* Lmk phenotype in British mussel populations. *Biological Journal of the Linnean Society*, 42(3). https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1095-8312.1991.tb00568.x
- Sorte, C. J. B., Williams, S. L., & Carlton, J. T. (2010). Marine range shifts and species introductions: Comparative spread rates and community impacts. In *Global Ecology and Biogeography* (Vol. 19, Issue 3). https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1466-8238.2009.00519.x
- Stickle, W. B., & Sabourin, T. D. (1979). Effects of salinity on the respiration and heart rate of the common mussel, *Mytilus edulis* L., and the black chiton, *Katherina tunicata* (Wood). *Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology*, 41(3). https://doi.org/10.1016/0022-0981(79)90135-7
- Strelkov, P., Katolikova, M., & Väinolä, R. (2017). Temporal change of the Baltic Sea–North Sea blue mussel hybrid zone over two decades. *Marine Biology*, 164(11). https://doi.org/10.1007/s00227-017-3249-z
- Stuckas, H., Knöbel, L., Schade, H., Breusing, C., Hinrichsen, H. H., Bartel, M., Langguth, K., & Melzner, F. (2017). Combining hydrodynamic modelling with genetics: can passive larval drift shape the genetic structure of Baltic *Mytilus* populations? *Molecular Ecology*, *26*(10). https://doi.org/10.1111/mec.14075
- Stuckas, H., Stoof, K., Quesada, H., & Tiedemann, R. (2009). Evolutionary implications of discordant clines across the Baltic *Mytilus* hybrid zone (*Mytilus edulis* and *Mytilus trossulus*). *Heredity*, 103(2). https://doi.org/10.1038/hdy.2009.37
- Sumner, D. M., & Belaineh, G. (2005). Evaporation, precipitation, and associated salinity changes at a humid, subtropical estuary. *Estuaries*, 28(6). https://doi.org/10.1007/BF02696014
- Taylor, A. M., Maher, W. A., & Ubrihien, R. P. (2017). Mortality, condition index and cellular responses of *Anadara trapezia* to combined salinity and temperature stress. *Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology*, 497. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jembe.2017.09.023
- Taylor, H. D., Kruger, A., & Niemeier, J. J. (2013). Embedded electronics for a mussel-based biological sensor. 2013 IEEE Sensors Applications

Symposium, SAS 2013 - *Proceedings.* https://doi.org/10.1109/SAS.2013.6493575

- Toro, J. E. (1998). PCR-based nuclear and mtDNA markers and shell morphology as an approach to study the taxonomic status of the Chilean blue mussel, *Mytilus chilensis* (Bivalvia). *Aquatic Living Resources*, *11*(5). https://doi.org/10.1016/S0990-7440(98)80006-5
- Toro, J., Innes, D. J., & Thompson, R. J. (2004). Genetic variation among lifehistory stages of mussels in a *Mytilus edulis-M. trossulus* hybrid zone. *Marine Biology*, 145(4). https://doi.org/10.1007/s00227-004-1363-1
- Tran, D., Haberkorn, H., Soudant, P., Ciret, P., & Massabuau, J. C. (2010). Behavioral responses of *Crassostrea gigas* exposed to the harmful algae *Alexandrium minutum*. *Aquaculture*, 298(3–4). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaculture.2009.10.030
- Uncles, R. J., Bale, A. J., Rowland, R. J. M., Morris, A. W., Elliott, R. C. A., Environment, N., Place, P., & Hoe, T. (1983). Salinity of surface water in a partially-mixed estuary, and its dispersion at low run-off. *Oceanologica Acta*, 6(3).
- Uncles, R. J., & Stephens, J. A. (2011). The Effects of Wind, Runoff and Tides on Salinity in a Strongly Tidal Sub-estuary. *Estuaries and Coasts*, 34(4). https://doi.org/10.1007/s12237-010-9365-3
- Vargas, C. A., Aguilera, V. M., Martín, V. S., Manríquez, P. H., Navarro, J. M., Duarte, C., Torres, R., Lardies, M. A., & Lagos, N. A. (2015). CO₂-Driven Ocean Acidification Disrupts the Filter Feeding Behavior in Chilean Gastropod and Bivalve Species from Different Geographic Localities. *Estuaries and Coasts*, 38(4). https://doi.org/10.1007/s12237-014-9873-7
- Velez, C., Figueira, E., Soares, A. M. V. M., & Freitas, R. (2016). Combined effects of seawater acidification and salinity changes in *Ruditapes philippinarum*. *Aquatic Toxicology*, 176. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquatox.2016.04.016
- Vereycken, J. E., & Aldridge, D. C. (2023). Bivalve molluscs as biosensors of water quality: state of the art and future directions. In *Hydrobiologia* (Vol. 850, Issue 2). https://doi.org/10.1007/s10750-022-05057-7

- Vuorinen, I., Hänninen, J., Rajasilta, M., Laine, P., Eklund, J., Montesino-Pouzols, F., Corona, F., Junker, K., Meier, H. E. M., & Dippner, J. W. (2015). Scenario simulations of future salinity and ecological consequences in the Baltic Sea and adjacent North Sea areas-implications for environmental monitoring. *Ecological Indicators*, *50*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolind.2014.10.019
- Wang, Y., Hu, M., Wong, W. H., Shin, P. K. S., & Cheung, S. G. (2011). The combined effects of oxygen availability and salinity on physiological responses and scope for growth in the green-lipped mussel *Perna viridis*. *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 63(5–12). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2011.02.004
- Ward, J. E., & Shumway, S. E. (2004). Separating the grain from the chaff: Particle selection in suspension- and deposit-feeding bivalves. *Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology*, 300(1–2). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jembe.2004.03.002
- Westerbom, M., Mustonen, O., Jaatinen, K., Kilpi, M., & Norkko, A. (2019). Population dynamics at the range margin: Implications of climate change on sublittoral blue mussels (*Mytilus trossulus*). *Frontiers in Marine Science*, 6(JUN). https://doi.org/10.3389/fmars.2019.00292
- Widdows, J., & Shick, J. M. (1985). Physiological responses of *Mytilus edulis* and Cardium edule to aerial exposure. *Marine Biology*. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00393242
- Wilkinson, L. (2011). ggplot2: Elegant Graphics for Data Analysis by WICKHAM, H. *Biometrics*, 67(2). https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1541-0420.2011.01616.x
- Williams, B., Chan, P. T. W., Westfield, I. T., Rasher, D. B., & Ries, J. (2021). Ocean Acidification Reduces Skeletal Density of Hardground-Forming High-Latitude Crustose Coralline Algae. *Geophysical Research Letters*, 48(5). https://doi.org/10.1029/2020GL091499
- Wilson, R. P., & Liebsch, N. (2003). Up-beat motion in swinging limbs: New insights into assessing movement in free-living aquatic vertebrates. *Marine Biology*, 142(3). https://doi.org/10.1007/s00227-002-0964-9

- Wilson, R., Reuter, P., & Wahl, M. (2005). Muscling in on mussels: New insights into bivalve behaviour using vertebrate remote-sensing technology. *Marine Biology*, 147(5). https://doi.org/10.1007/s00227-005-0021-6
- Wonham, M. J. (2004). Mini-review: Distribution of the Mediterranean mussel *Mytilus galloprovincialis* (Bivalvia: *Mytilidae*) and hybrids in the northeast Pacific. In *Journal of Shellfish Research* (Vol. 23, Issue 2).
- Ye, Y. Y., Li, J. J., Wu, C. W., Xu, M. Y., & Guo, B. Y. (2012). Genetic analysis of mussel (*Mytilus coruscus*) populations on the coast of East China Sea revealed by ISSR-PCR markers. *Biochemical Systematics and Ecology*, 45. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bse.2012.07.022
- Yuan, X., Yuan, T., Huang, H., Jiang, L., Zhou, W., & Liu, S. (2018). Elevated CO₂ delays the early development of scleractinian coral *Acropora gemmifera*. *Scientific Reports*, 8(1). https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-018-21267-3
- Zbawicka, M., Trucco, M. I., & Wenne, R. (2018). Single nucleotide polymorphisms in native South American Atlantic coast populations of smooth shelled mussels: Hybridization with invasive European *Mytilus galloprovincialis*. *Genetics Selection Evolution*, 50(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s12711-018-0376-z
- Zeileis, A., & Grothendieck, G. (2005). Zoo: S3 infrastructure for regular and irregular time series. *Journal of Statistical Software*, *14*. https://doi.org/10.18637/jss.v014.i06